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Directors’ Profile

EFEEN

SHIQl

Chairlady, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Ms. Shi Qi, aged 39, appointed as Chairlady, Chief Executive Officer and an
executive Director in April 2016, has obtained a Master degree of Business
Administration from Centenary College, New Jersey, majoring in Finance in
May 2009. Ms. Shi has more than 10 years of experiences in corporate
reorganization, corporate and project financing, investments in real estate,
securities and non-securities assets and risk management. In 2009, she
founded Seven Ocean Investments Limited (“Seven Ocean”), and under the
leadership of Ms. Shi, Seven Ocean has developed from a small scale
financing company to a company that principally engages in providing
financing and corporate solutions and consultancy services, and large scale
medical and healthcare development projects. In 2015, Ms. Shi invested in
the development of Central Maine Healthcare Institute, which delivers
quality healthcare services in Auburn, Maine (USA). Ms. Shi will also be
responsible for the on-going management and daily operation of the
Central Maine Healthcare Institute. Ms. Shi has also invested in the
construction of the Central Leisure Park* (FF KA A E) in Tongzhou
Xincheng* (B #74), Beijing, a public infrastructure covering an area of
approximately 42.62 hectares and providing sports, entertainment, medical
and healthcare related services. Ms. Shi was responsible for financing,
devising the conceptual design and the implementation plan and
monitoring and managing the progress of the construction. Ms. Shi will
also be responsible for the project’s subsequent operation and
maintenance for 30 years. Ms. Shi, the sole director and the ultimate
beneficial owner of the controlling shareholder of the Company, is deemed
to be interested in 436,540,400 Shares (representing approximately 50.11%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual
report) held by the controlling shareholder.

g for translation purpose only
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QIU YONGHAO

Executive Director

Mr. Qiu Yonghao, aged 38, appointed as an executive Director in April
2016, completed an Executive Development Program for Master in
Business Administration for Chinese entrepreneurs (FF B (b 248 &5 1A B
— TR EIEE LR ZIHME ) from Guanghua School of Management of
Peking University Qb RARE L EEIBERT) in September 2013. He has
more than 10 years of experience in corporate management and has been
a general manager, director or chairman of companies that engage in real
estate investments and securities investments. Mr. Qiu is a director of
Beijing Qihai Investment Limited* Gt /B E B R A F]) (“Beijing
Qihai"), a company in which Ms. Shi Qi is also one of the senior
management. Beijing Qihai engages in equity investment, financing,
financial advisory and other professional services. It operates in a range of
industries including real estate, healthcare, energy and resources. Mr. Qiu is
mainly responsible for evaluating investment opportunities for Beijing
Qihai.

ZHAO ANG

Executive Director

Mr. Zhao Ang, aged 31, appointed as an executive Director in July 2018,
graduated from University of Windsor in Canada with a bachelor degree of
international relations and development studies in 2007. From May 2013 to
May 2018, Mr. Zhao served as an executive director of Beijing Ping An Fu
Bio-Engineering Technology Co., Ltd. and was principally responsible for
the company’s comprehensive operation and external cooperation. He also
participated in the implementation of several key domestic environmental
protection projects, and took the lead in building the strategic cooperation
between the company and Heilongjiang Farms & Land Reclamation
Administration, Heilongjiang Cold Zone Black Glebe Group (B82/T Eith 2
+ £ &), Sinochem Group, Long Ping High-tech Agrochemical Branch (F&
FeREE{ED A7), Taiji Pharmaceutical Group (AR ZE £ E) and
www.dangjian.cn under the Central Propaganda Department. From March
2012 to March 2013, Mr. Zhao served as an inspector of the supervision
department of Huaxia Film Distribution Co,, Ltd.* GEE B/ E1TARE T
A a]) and was responsible for inspection of all cinema lines nationwide
and implementation of administrative measures imposed on related
industries by the Film Bureau under the State Administration of Radio, Film
and Television. From December 2009 to December 2011, Mr. Zhao was the
propaganda officer of a department of the Chinese People’s Liberation
Army, and participated in a number of propaganda work projects in
respect of national defense science & technology construction and
development as well as published various articles in a newspaper of the
People’s Liberation Army. From June 2008 to June 2009, Mr. Zhao served as
the deputy director of the External Liaison Department of Beijing
Zhonggiaolian Cultural Exchange Center (At TR AR &5 SCL AR AR ). He
participated in the organisation of a number of domestic and overseas
cultural exchange activities.
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Directors’ Profile

EFEEN

GAO FENG

Non-executive Director

Mr. Gao Feng, aged 38, appointed as a non-executive Director in April 2016,
has around 9 years of experience in corporate management. He has been
the general manager of Beijing Zhongmei Zhengchen Construction
Limited Company* (b R B IE R 258 B FR 2 &), which mainly engages
in real estate and construction since 2012. He was the general manager of
Beijing Kaiyun Zhifeng Trades Limited Company* At REiB 2 6 T EH
R 22 &) from 2009 to 2012.

HAN LEI

Non-executive Director

Mr. Han Lei, aged 49, appointed as a non-executive Director in April 2016,
has more than 20 years of entertainment and performing experience in the
music industry and had received numerous awards in the industry. Mr. Han
has participated in CCTV Spring Festival Evening Galas, charity
performances, cultural and tourism promotion performances, etc. Other
than his entertainment career, he also actively participates in various
political associations and social campaigns. He was a member of the tenth
session of All-China Youth Federation (FZE2 B FFHE®). He was
appointed as the “Celebrity of Health”* (l#F 4 A) by the preceding Kang
Yi Wang* (2% #3) and the image ambassador in “Yao Yang” public
pension project* (B2f5EE Az HB) conducted by Red Cross Society of
China.

SZE WAILUN

Non-executive Director

Mr. Sze Wai Lun, aged 32, appointed as a non-executive Director in
December 2017, graduated from Lancaster University in the United
Kingdom with a Bachelor of Finance (Honours) degree in 2009. Mr. Sze
worked at the Hong Kong branch of Bank of Communications Co,, Ltd. (the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3328)) from
October 2009 to January 2012. Mr. Sze worked at private equity division
and principal investment management division of BOCOM International
Asset Management Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of BOCOM
International Holdings Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3329)) from February 2012 to February
2015. Mr. Sze later served as the vice president at the leverage & acquisition
finance department of Haitong International Securities Company Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Haitong International Securities Group Limited
(the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 665)),
from March 2015 to August 2017, mainly responsible for offshore
acquisition and structure finance projects. Mr. Sze is currently the senior
vice president at the leveraged and acquisition finance department of
Mason Securities Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mason Group
Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0273)), and mainly responsible for acquisition finance and
cross-border finance business. Mr. Sze has extensive experience in the area
of merger and acquisition, financing and listed company corporate actions.
Mr. Sze has participated in a number of deals relating to such areas.
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ZHANG LJUAN

Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. Zhang Lijuan, aged 65, appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in April 2016, is the executive vice president and the secretary
general of Chinese Association of Geriatric Research* (F1 [B 2 & (R {2 B8 22
9T ). She has over 10 years of experience in the healthcare and medical
industry. She was the vice president and the executive vice secretary
general of China National Health Association* (7 Bl R ik E) from
August 2005 to May 2010.

WU TAK KONG

Independence Non-executive Director

Mr. Wu Tak Kong, aged 53, appointed as an independence non-executive
Director in November 2017, holds a master degree of Business
Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an
ordinary member of Hong Kong Securities & Investment Institute, a
practising member and an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountant, and a fellow member of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He has extensive experience in audit
assurance and compliance for more than 20 years. Mr. Wu is currently a
chief executive officer of a corporate consultant firm since September
2011, a company director of a certified public accountants limited
company since June 2017 and a non-executive director of Kong Sun
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 295) since November 2017.
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Chairlady’s Statement
ERE|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited, |
herewith present all Shareholders the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 July 2018.

The trade war will increase the uncertainty in global economic growth
during the financial year, in particular the emerging economies’ export
trending to slow down at an accelerated rate and the economic sentiment
being under significant pressure. With the background of US dollar interest
rate hike, the increased instability in global financial markets affects global
economic performance.

As for China, its current economy is performing stably, progressing with
stability and trending positively with stability, yet uncertainty remains.
Generally speaking, despite its structure adjustment, transformation and
upgrade have made significant achievements, it is still in the tough period
of overcoming difficulties. From an external perspective, unilateralism and
trade protectionism prevail and global trade shows considerable
uncertainty, which hampers China’s economic growth severely. However,
the comprehensive strength of national economy accumulated from forty
years' implementation of reform and opening-up policy has told us that
even faced with severe external environmental interference, the giant
vessel of the Chinese economy still possesses tremendous internal strength
which pushes it forward, the traditional manufacturing industry which is
driven by new ideas and innovative technologies will enable intelligent
manufacturing to drive this giant vessel of economy to another peak.

In order to improve our competitiveness, faced with the complex situations
and increasingly competitive landscape in domestic and foreign markets,
the Group has persisted in promoting reform and innovation, optimized
product results greatly, controlled administrative costs reasonably, and sold
non-core business as part of streamlining efforts, thereby improving the
Group's financial performance. The Group has been seeking diversified
development to enhance its competitiveness and future development
potential while conducting product innovation and increasing research
and development efforts.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

By the end of the financial year, the Group's revenue decreased by 5.8% to
HK$377.2 million. The Group’s loss for the year was HK$4.3 million, while
loss per share for the year was HK$0.43 cents.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Silicone rubber business is still the Group’s core business. During the
financial year, Ta Yang Group has successfully transformed from a keypad
producer to a silicone rubber producer, the Group’s management team
and employees have spent much efforts in improving this business
segment’s financial performance. On one hand, they work hard to improve
its internal strength, which includes increasing its R&D efforts on products
constantly, improving products’ quality and developing raw material’s
applications; on the other hand, they leverage external force tactically,
which includes being dedicated to maintaining closer relationship with
customers. During the year, thanks to all staff's unremitting efforts and their
full support for the new management team, our silicone rubber product
mix continues to optimize, our products’ passed yield continues to
improve, and our customers give us their full trust and affirmation.
Therefore, despite the increasingly competitive external environment, we
improve our output efficiency per capita through reducing redundant staff
while maintaining the Group’s capacity to get ready for tomorrow's
bountiful harvest.

Meanwhile, the Group sold a part of its high-end healthcare holiday resort
project in Hainan to regain capital quickly during the financial year, this
measure has brought lucrative return for the Group.

OUTLOOK

Throughout China’s manufacturing industry’s development history, since
the implementation of reform and opening-up policy, the export-oriented
manufacturing industry system based on “processing and compensation
trades” has been established in the Pearl River Delta area and the labor-
intensive and resource-intensive manufacturing system has been
established in the Yangtze River Delta area. With the continuous decline of
demographic dividend and the constant increase of labor cost and land
cost in recent years, China's manufacturing companies have been caught
in a dilemma whether they should push forward or step back. On one
hand, the long-term heavy reliance of China’s manufacturing industry on
low-cost labor, low-cost resources and low-cost land has led to the low
added value on technology and industry, always at the bottom of the
“smiling curve”. One the other hand, it is just such reliance that leads to the
extremely low profits of China’s manufacturing companies, even an
oblivious sign of disturbance will put many companies in trouble. With the
advent of the industrial internet age, the prospective manufacturing
industry must be a personalized and customized industry, and the
manufacturing industry is evolving from traditional B2C to C2B.
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Chairlady’s Statement
ERE|E

The silicone rubber industry where Ta Yang Group operates is a capital-
intensive and high-tech industry, which has a more promising
development prospect compared to labor-intensive industry. Throughout
the market size development within these two years, silicone rubber
industry is in the process of rapid development, the domestic silicone
rubber product application technology has infiltrated into various
industries, including electronic devices and appliances, medical facilities,
baby products and household products, and many rubber products will be
replaced by silicone rubber products gradually. However, current silicone
rubber products are facing the issue of products innovation difficulty, so
the prospective market must be oriented by innovative products. Ta Yang
Group has rock-solid silicone rubber materials technology itself, in order to
seize high-end market as soon as possible, we need to increase our R&D
efforts on proprietary products, optimize internal products structure.
Oriented by the market and guided by innovation, we will be able to take
the first train of silicone rubber industry’s innovation.

Meanwhile, Ta Yang Group will expand from healthcare and hotel services
to residential real estate industry, and transform from previous heavy assets
operation model of self-owned property to service-focused and operation-
focused light assets operation model.

In addition, to seek diversified development, the Group will continue to be
committed to looking for new business opportunities such as participating
in infrastructure investment construction, developing intelligent
manufacturing, etc. and will integrate above mentioned businesses
organically within the Group's internal system to enrich resources of
income and create more lucrative returns for shareholders.

The Group believes that under the current economic situation, the strategic
expansion is imperative. The state-owned fund established by Shenzhen
City and Haidian District of Beijing has begun to provide financial support
for listed companies that have difficulties in production and operation due
to current turbulent stock market. This shows that under the current
situation, private listed companies have a certain probability of liquidity
risk, the Board of the Group has started considering the risks and looking
for solutions as early as two years. Actively seeking cooperation with state-
owned capital, on one hand, can guarantee the operability of the Group in
financing, on the other hand, it can make the Group’s business bigger,
wider and stronger with the help of state-owned capital. The Group will
continue to seek and grasp new business opportunities, broaden the
source of income, and bring more substantial benefits to all Shareholders.
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Chairlady’s Statement
ERE|E

APPRECIATION B

| would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to the ~ AAZHE I #eHEEBER AAEEMENE
management team for their contributions to the Group as well as our iR 282 E THIME NESAEETH HRER
workforce for their tireless efforts in ensuring the ongoing development. At R0V » &% - KA B REFFAEBE
last but not least, | must extend my appreciation to all of our business ¥ + &P &R E M ERFE ST RS H LB AR E

partners, customers and Shareholders for their unwavering trust and e e
tremendous support.

shiQl FRERITHARE
Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer M
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MARKET REVIEW

The trade war will increase the uncertainty in global economic growth
during the financial year, in particular the emerging economies’ export
trending to slow down at an accelerated rate and the economic sentiment
being under significant pressure. With the background of US dollar interest
rate hike, the increased instability in global financial markets affects global
economic performance.

As for China, its current economy is performing stably, progressing with
stability and trending positively with stability, yet uncertainty remains.
Generally speaking, despite its structure adjustment, transformation and
upgrade have made significant achievements, it is still in the tough period
of overcoming difficulties. From an external perspective, unilateralism and
trade protectionism prevail and global trade shows considerable
uncertainty, which hampers China’s economic growth severely. However,
the comprehensive strength of national economy accumulated from forty
years' implementation of reform and opening-up policy has told us that
even faced with severe external environmental interference, the giant
vessel of the Chinese economy still possesses tremendous internal strength
which pushes it forward, the traditional manufacturing industry which is
driven by new ideas and innovative technologies will enable intelligent
manufacturing to drive this giant vessel of economy to another peak.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Company’s Overall Performance

The revenue for the financial year ended 31 July 2018, decreased by 5.8%
as compared to last year. Silicone rubber business is still the Group's core
business, the primary source of income of the Group still derived from sales
of consumer electronic devices peripheral products and keypads for
computers and notebooks, and its percentage to total revenue were 54.5%
and 12.5% respectively.

Ta Yang Group is still focusing on the manufacturing and sale of silicone
rubber as its core business. During the financial year, the Group has
established silicone rubber production age, instead of hovering over
keypad production model; besides, with all the staff of the Group being
united and integrated, we have strengthened product R & D capabilities,
improved products quality and passed yield, increased raw materials’
applications, optimized products mix, consolidated our real-time
communication and mutual trust with customers and taken various
measures to increase income and reduce cost, which enable us to maintain
the Group's capability to expand business and perform well.

Meanwhile, during the financial year, the Group sold a part of high-end
healthcare holiday resort project and brings revenue for the Group.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue represents gross revenue generated from the sales of our
products and service provided, net of sales tax and other similar taxes.

The consolidated revenue for the year ended 31 July 2018 was decreased
by 5.8% to HK$377.2 million (2017: HK$400.5 million) while our loss
attributable to equity Shareholders was HK$4.3 million (2017: HK$74.1
million loss).

Basic loss per share of the Company was HK0.43 cents (2017: HK8.43 cents
loss) per share based on the weighted average number of 871,178,000
(2017:865,257,000) shares in issue during the year.

SALES BY PRODUCT

Silicone Rubber and Related Products

Consumer electronic devices peripheral products

Revenue for the consumer electronic devices peripheral products
decreased by approximately 6.6% to HK$205.7 million in 2018 from
HK$220.3 million in 2017.

During the year, consumer sentiment on the conventional electronic
products was still weak, especially for those with video and photography
devices, the sales orders from those products continued to shrink. To
maintain the products’ competitiveness, the sales price per unit had been
adjusted which resulted in decreased total revenue. The Group has put
more efforts to explore the market of portable products and allocate
resources to research and develop innovative products such as sporty
wristbands to obtain new orders. Although the competition in the
saturated market is fierce, the Group will continue to provide high quality
products with tempting prices to enlarge customer base.

Mobile phone peripheral products

Revenue for the sales of mobile phone peripheral products increased by
approximately 10.7% to HK$15.5 million in 2018 from HK$14.0 million in
2017. One major customer of the Group has innovated a new mobile
phone which brings the Group a lot of new orders. Besides, the non-
keypad products mobile phone market which had been successfully
established by the Group also increases this segment’s revenue stably.

Keypads for computers and notebooks

Revenue for the sales of keypads for computers and notebooks decreased
by approximately 4.9% to HK$47.1 million in 2018 from HK$49.5 million in
2017. With the mounting tension amid trade war between China and the
U.S, the consumer market's environment is instable and the PC market has
not recovered yet. Overseas PC shipments continued to decline. Therefore,
the sales in this segment had been negatively impacted by the persistent
shrinkage of the market.
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Automotive peripheral products

Revenue for the sales of automotive peripheral products decreased by
approximately 20.4% to HK$26 million in 2018 from HK$32.7 million in
2017. As the global economy was still sluggish which caused the consumer
sentiment on the automotive market to be weak. This led the sales orders
and sales price per unit of automotive peripheral products continue to
decline. The Group will focus on researching and developing high quality
products to enlarge customer base and increase gross profit margin on
sales.

Lifestyle products

Revenue for sales of lifestyle products decreased by 17.8% to HK$24.1
million in 2018 from HK$29.3 million in 2017. Competition is still fierce in
lifestyle products market. The Group decline some customers’ orders due
to their low gross profit margin in order to maintain its capacity to fill those
orders with high gross profit margin. The Group will continue to put more
efforts to explore the market and work with our customers to develop
more unique products to protect and elevate their positions in the market.

Chemical products
Revenue for sales of chemical products decreased by 44.8% to HKS$8.3
million in 2018 from HK$15.0 million in 2017 due to stagnant customers
population over the past 2 years and very high development cost. The
Group will focus on other products that have high gross profit margin and
potential customers.

Healthcare and Hotel Services

Revenue from provision of healthcare and hotel services increased by
117.6% to HK$14.7 million in 2018 from HK$6.7 million in 2017. During the
year, the Group disposed 82 rooms and planned to sell another 11 rooms,
after disposal, the property management continues to operate the
remaining 101 hotel rooms/service apartments for rental and healthcare-
related business. The business has succeeded in gaining more and more
customers’ support. To sustain its growth, the Group will continue to put
more efforts to explore the market to capture the immense awareness of
importance of healthcare in the PRC.

Cost of Sales

Cost structure

The overall cost of sales increased by approximately 1.3% from HK$290.4
million in 2017 to HK$294.3 million in 2018. The operating environment is
still very tough for all PRC based manufacturers. Due to the increase of raw
materials cost and government regulations such as environmental
protection rules, the manufacturing cost rises. For the healthcare and hotel
service segment, the increase of sales cost is predominantly from the
increased numbers of hotel employees and the depreciation of medical
facilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross Profit

The gross profit of the Group for the year decreased approximately 24.8%
from HKS$110.1 million in 2017 to HK$82.9 million in 2018. It was primarily
due to decreased gross profit margin. Due to difficult business
environment for organic silicone business, in order to attract customers,
sales price per unit had to be lowered. On the other hand, due to the
limited supply and the increased cost in raw materials, the Group’s gross
profit decreased.

Other Operating Income

Other operating income increased by approximately 374.0% to HK$111.4
million in 2018 from HK$23.5 million in 2017. The increase was primarily
due to gain on disposal of a part of high-end healthcare holiday resort
project in Hainan.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately 24.8% to
HK$26.7 million in 2018 from HK$35.5 million in 2017. When counted as a
percentage of revenue, the total amount was 7.1% (2017: 8.9%). The
decrease was due to the reduction of promotion and marketing cost
related to multi-purpose medical healthcare project in Hainan and silicone
segment’s marketing staff's cost.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 16.3% to HK$122.5
million in 2018 from HK$146.3 million in 2017. The Group continues to
implement cost control measures and improve operation efficiency,
administrative staff's salary cost decreases significantly, resulting in a
significant reduction in administrative expenses.

Loss attributable to Shareholders

Loss attributable to Shareholders for the year ended 31 July 2018 was
HKS$4.3 million (2017: HK$74.1 million). The net loss margin of the Group
decreased from 18.5% for the year ended 31 July 2017 to 1.1% for the year
ended 31 July 2018.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Directors expect that dividends will be paid as interim and/or final
dividends. We currently intend to pay annual cash dividends of not less
than 30% of our Group’s audited consolidated profits after taxation to our
Shareholders for the applicable year. However, the determination to pay
such dividends will be made at the discretion of our Board and will be
based upon our operating results, cash flows, financial positions, capital
requirements and other relevant circumstances that the Board deems
relevant. The payment of dividends may be limited by legal restrictions and
by agreements that we may enter into in the future. Our Directors are of
the views that our dividend policy will not affect the sufficiency of our
working capital in the coming years.
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash management and
investment on uncommitted funds.

During the year, the Group's receipts were mainly denominated in US
dollars, Hong Kong dollars and RMB. Payments were mainly made in US
dollars and RMB.

In respect of the US dollar, the management regards that the foreign
exchange risk for Hong Kong dollar to US dollar is not material because (i)
Hong Kong dollar remains pegged to the US dollar and (ii) most of the
Group's purchases are denominated in US dollars, which are to be settled
by sales receipts in US dollars.

In respect of the RMB, as the Group’s production plants are located in the
PRC, most of our labour costs, manufacturing overheads, selling and
administrative expenses were denominated in RMB. Therefore, the
appreciation of RMB will adversely affect the Group's profitability.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group's source of fund was from cash generated from
operating activities.

Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY

Net cash (outflow) inflow Re (R) mAFEE
Current ratio BN %

Quick ratio RBPLL X

Gearing ratio BELX

With our strong financial background upon Listing on the Stock Exchange,
we expect we will have sufficient cash to cover future capital expenditure
requirements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

On 11 October 2017, Elegant Giant Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Seller”) and Ta Yang UDE Limited,
an independent third party to the Company and its connected person
(the"Purchaser”) entered into the sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale
and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the Seller conditionally
agreed to sell and the Purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase the
entire issued share capital of Dongguan Tai Yang Rubber Plastic Industrial
Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Target Company”), for the total consideration of HK$55,783,623. As
one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
transaction as calculated under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules exceed(s)
25% but is/are less than 75%, the transaction constitutes a major
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and is
subject to the reporting, announcement and Shareholders’ approval
requirements.

As one or more of the conditions could not be fulfilled, the Seller and the
Purchaser, after arm’s length negotiations, have agreed not to proceed
with the transaction. On 5 March 2018, the Seller and the Purchaser
entered into a termination agreement (the “Termination Agreement”) to
terminate the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the Termination
Agreement, the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall terminate and no party
to the Sale and Purchase Agreement shall have any claim against the other,
including without limitation any claim for liquidated damages pursuant to
the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Subject to and without prejudice to the
aforesaid, the Seller has undertaken to refund to the Purchaser all amounts
received by the Seller or the Target Company from the Purchaser pursuant
to the Sale and Purchase Agreement within 3 business days from the date
of the Termination Agreement.

Please refer to the announcements dated 11 October 2017 and 5 March
2018.

Saved as disclosed above, the Group had no material acquisition or
disposal of any subsidiaries and associated companies for the year ended
31 July 2018.
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DISPOSAL OF PROPERTIES

On 27 March 2018, X¥ (/8 ® ) 2 RE X KRB R 2 7], an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, (the “Vendor") and J& &2 /S B
MEELLER RG], an independent third party to the Company and
its connected persons (the “Buyer”) entered into a property underwriting
agreement pursuant to which the Buyer has conditionally agreed to
underwrite the purchase of an aggregate of 86 rooms with total gross floor
area of approximately 7,494.74 sg. m. from building one and building three
on Longxi Road, Yalong Bay, Sanya City, Hainan Province, PRC, for the
consideration of approximately RMB239.8 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$292.6 million) from the Vendor. As one of the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the transaction as calculated under Rule
14.07 of the Listing Rules exceeds 25% and all applicable ratios are less than
75%, the transaction constitutes a major transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and is subject to the reporting,
announcement and Shareholders’ approval requirements. The Company
obtained a written approval from Lyton Maison Limited, the controlling
Shareholder holding 436,540,400 Shares with voting rights (representing
approximately 50.11% of the 871,178,000 Shares with voting rights in issue
as at the date of this report), in respect of the transaction. Pursuant to Rule
14.44 of the Listing Rules, such written approval from Lyton Maison Limited
can be accepted in lieu of holding a general meeting for the purpose of
approving the transaction.

Please refer to the announcement dated 27 March 2018.

SECURED BANK BORROWING FROM CHINA
CONSTRUCTION BANK

On 26 August 2016, the Company obtained a secured bank borrowing
from China Construction Bank (Xiuying District Branch, Haikou) (“CCB") in
the principal amount of RMB238 million (the “Loan”) to finance the
acquisition of four buildings. As security for the Loan, the Company
pledged altogether 194 rooms with a total gross floor area of
approximately 16,627.23 sq. m. located at Sanya Yalong Bay National Resort
District, Sanya City, Hainan Province, the PRC (the “Pledged Properties”) to
€y,

On 27 March 2018, the Company entered into a property underwriting
agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with 78 52 /& B A1 5B EE AL 4T
BFRAF] (the "Purchaser”), pursuant to which, the Purchaser conditional
agreed to underwrite the purchase of 86 rooms of the 194 rooms from the
Group and the Purchaser shall have the exclusive rights to sell and
distribute the 86 rooms. This transaction constituted major transaction
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and was announced on 27 March
2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As disclosed in the circular dated 4 May 2018 (“Circular”), as part of the
arrangement, the Group also entered into a letter of authorisation (“LOA")
with the Purchaser pursuant to which the Group has authorised the
Purchaser as its agent to enter into property sales contracts with the
Purchaser’s end customers. The property sales contracts will clearly define
the relevant entity of the Group as holder of the Properties’ legal titles and
state that the transfer of the legal titles will be done by the Group directly
with the end customers by a certain date. After the end customers of the
Properties make full payment to the Purchaser, the Group, who has
undertaken to assist with the transfer of the legal titles of the sold units of
the Properties to the end customers, will enter into agreements with the
end customers to effect the transfer of the legal titles of the Properties. As
part of the arrangement (“Arrangement”), the Group will arrange for partial
repayment of the Loan and liaise with CCB in respect of the release of the
legal charge over the corresponding apartment.

Since 27 March 2018, the Company has been in discussions with CCB
relating to the repayment and the formality to partially release the legal
charge. Based on the result of the discussions, on 23 August 2018 the
Group submitted the application to CCB (Xiuying Branch) for the partial
repayment of RMB40 million and the partial release of the legal charge. On
10 September 2018, the Group repaid RMB40 million of the Loan, which
constitutes part of the repayment as stated in the Circular. The application
for release of the legal charge is still in progress.

The Company has arranged an interview on 29 October 2018 with CCB
(Xiuying Branch) and CCB confirmed verbally to the Company that CCB
would not demand for early repayment of the Loan from the Company
provided that the Company has met its repayment schedule of the
principal amount and interests under the Loan and simultaneously process
the application for release of the legal charge over the relevant properties.

Based on the above, given that CCB acknowledge the Arrangement and
will not request for early repayment of the Loan, and the assessment of the
Group's future liquidity and cash flow (having taken into consideration the
repayment amount of RMB40 million on 10 September 2018), the
Company do not consider that this incident would have an adverse impact
on the working capital of the Company in the next twelve months.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEFARES N

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND
CHARGES ON ASSETS

Capital commitments contracted by the Group but not yet provided for in
the financial statements as at 31 July 2018 were approximately HK$5.6
million (2017: HK$11.0 million), which was mainly related to the acquisition
of land use right in Indonesia and expansion of production capacity in the
PRC. Such capital commitments will be financed by the net proceeds from
the international offering.

As at 31 July 2018, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

As at 31 July 2018, certain properties of the Group of HK$211.9 million
(2017: HK$398.9 million) were pledged to secure banking facilities or bank
borrowings granted to the Group.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As the Group is committed to expand our production capacity and develop
high value-added products, such as mobile phone keypads, experienced
workers, engineers and professionals are the most important assets to the
Group. We offer on-the-job training and encourage staff to attend
continuous professional training in order to update their skills and
knowledge.

We offer competitive remuneration package, including quality staff
quarters, trainings, medical, insurance coverage and retirement benefits, to
all employees in Hong Kong and in the PRC. As at 31 July 2018, the Group
has 1,263 permanent and temporary employees (2017: 1,448). The total
salaries and related costs for the year ended 31 July 2018 amounted to
approximately HK$137.5 million (2017: HK$170.0 million).

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Proposed Adoption of Share Option Scheme

On 13 September 2018, the Board proposed the adoption of a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the approval by the Shareholders.

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions to those who had made, may have made
or will make contributions to the Group. The Share Option Scheme will
provide those who are eligible opportunities to have a personal stake in
the Company with the view to achieving the following objectives: (i)
motivate them to optimize their performance efficiency for the benefit of
the Group; and (i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an ongoing
business relationship with those whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

Please refer to the announcement dated 13 September 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Entering into of Cooperation Agreement

On 8 October 2018 (after trading hours), Tayang Tongchuang (Chengdu)
New Energy Co,, Ltd.* (X¥ [E & (A &P ) #T 8RB BR 2 7)), a company
established under the PRC law and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (“Tayang Tongchuang”), Yunnan Investment Construction
Co, Lid* (EERERBR A A)) ("Yunnan Investment Construction”),
a company established under the PRC law, and China Technology
Emerging City Construction Development Co., Ltd* (HP k37 SB35k T 52 5%
B A PR A 7)) ("China Technology Emerging”), a company established
under the PRC law entered into a cooperation agreement in relation to
funds contribution to establish a joint venture, a limited liability company.
Tayang Tongchuang shall contribute RMB52.5 million, representing 35% of
the registered capital of the joint venture. The operation period of the Joint
venture shall be ten years, which may be extended or shortened by
resolution of the general meeting of the Joint venture. In the event that the
accumulative return on net assets of the Joint venture fails to reach 24% for
three consecutive years, Yunnan Investment Construction shall be entitled
to choose to exit the investment while China Technology Emerging and
Tayang Tongchuang shall be obliged to take up the equity interests
transferred by Yunnan Investment Construction at a price no less than the
valuation of the equity interests held by Yunnan Investment Construction
(the valuation reference date shall be determined based on the point of
exit) and the paid-in capital contribution by Yunnan Investment
Construction x (1+8%) (the number of days that Yunnan Investment
Construction fully paid the capital contribution/365). As stated in the
above, while failing to meet the condition thereunder, the Company shall
be obliged to take up the equity interests transferred by Yunnan
Investment Construction. It constitutes an option to acquire assets as
defined in Rules 14.04(1)(b) and 14.72 of the Listing Rules while the
Company has no discretion in the asset acquisition option. Therefore, the
total consideration must comprise capital contribution amount of Tayang
Tongchuang and the consideration of the asset acquisition option. As a
result, as one of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the entering
into of the Cooperation Agreement as calculated under Rule 14.07 of the
Listing Rules exceeds 25% and all applicable ratios are less than 100%, the
entering into of the Cooperation Agreement constitutes a major
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and is
subject to the reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge and information,
and having made all reasonable enquiries, no Shareholder has any material
interest in the entering into of the Cooperation Agreement. As such, no
Shareholder is required to abstain from voting if a general meeting of the
Company were convened to approve the entering into of the Cooperation
Agreement. The Company intends to obtain a written approval from Lyton
Maison Limited, the controlling Shareholder holding 436,540,400 Shares
with voting rights (representing approximately 50.11% of the 871,178,000
Shares with voting rights in issue as at the date of this report), in respect of
the entering into of the Cooperation Agreement. Pursuant to Rule 14.44 of
the Listing Rules, such written approval from Lyton Maison Limited can be
accepted in lieu of holding a general meeting for the purpose of approving
the entering into of the Cooperation Agreement.

Please refer to the announcements dated 8 October 2018 and 19 October
2018.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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OUTLOOK

The Group has rock-solid silicone rubber materials technology, with the
rapid development trend of silicone rubber products industry in recent
years, silicone rubber products application technology has infiltrated into
various industries, we plan to increase our R&D efforts on proprietary
products and optimize internal products structure. Oriented by the market
and guided by innovation, we will be able to take the first train of silicone
rubber industry’s innovation, seizing a considerable share in the silicone
rubber products’ high-end market. In addition, the Group will continuously
expand from healthcare and hotel service industries to residential real
estate industry, and transform from previous heavy assets operation model
of self-owned property to service-focused and operation-focused light
assets operation model. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to be
committed to looking for new business opportunities such as participating
in infrastructure investment construction, developing intelligent
manufacturing, etc. and will integrate above mentioned businesses
organically within the Group’s internal system to enrich resources of
income and create more lucrative returns for shareholders.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Shareholders
and other
stakeholders
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Board
of Directors
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Audit Executive
Committee Committee
BEREEE HITEES

External
1 Auditor
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate
governance best suited to the needs and interests of the Group as it
believes that effective corporate governance practices is a fundamental to
enhancing Shareholder value and safeguarding interests of Shareholders
and other stakeholders. The Board sets appropriate policies and
implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct
and growth of the Group’s business.
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BRELHRE

Compliance With Corporate Governance Code

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 July 2018 except:

U]

(i)

(iff)

26

the code provision A.1.1, which requires that regular board meetings
will normally involve the active participation, either in person or
through electronic means of communication, of a majority of
directors entitled to be present, and the code provision A.6.7 which
requires that independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors, as equal board members, should give the board
and any committees on which they serve the benefit of their skills,
expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications through regular
attendance and active participation. Some Directors cannot attend
regular board meetings because they are busy on their own tight
schedules. We will communicate better with the Directors and try
our best to arrange so that they can attend regular board meetings.

the code provision A.2.1, which requires the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. However, Ms. Shi Qi is acting as
both the chairlady of the Board (the “Chairlady”) and the Chief
Executive Officer (the “CEQ").

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairlady and
the CEO in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board further believes
that the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement
will not be impaired since the responsibilities of the Chairlady and
the CEO have been clearly established and set out in writing. It is also
adequately ensured by the current Board which comprises
experienced and high caliber individuals with sufficient number
thereof being independent non-executive Directors.

the code provision A.2.7, which requires the chairman should at least
annually hold meetings with the non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) without the executive
directors present. During the year ended 31 July 2017, a formal
meeting could not be arranged between the Chairlady and the non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
without the executive Directors present due to their tight schedules.
Although such meeting was not held during the year, the Chairlady
could be contacted by email or phone to discuss any potential
concerns and/or questions that the non-executive Director and the
independent non- executive Directors might have and would
arrange to set up follow-up meetings, whenever necessary.
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(iv)

(vi)

Corporate Governance Report

the code provision C.1.2, which requires the management of the
Company to provide all members of the Board with monthly
updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company's performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties.

During the year, the management of the Company did not provide
monthly updates to all members of the Board as required by the
code provision C.1.2, as all the executive Directors were involved in
the daily operation of the Group and were fully aware of the
performance, position and prospects of the Company, and the
management has provided to all Directors (including non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors) quarterly
updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company'’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail
prior to the regular board meetings of the Company.

In addition, the management of the Company has provided all
members of the Board, in a timely manner, updates on any material
changes to the performance, position and prospects of the Company
and sufficient background or explanatory information for matters
brought before the Board.

the code provision E.1.2, which requires that the chairman of the
board should attend the annual general meeting. He should also
invite the chairmen of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any
other committees (as appropriate) to attend. The Chairlady and
some Committee Chairmen could not attend the annual general
meeting held during the year because they are busy on their own
tight schedules. We will communicate better with the Chairlady and
Committee Chairmen and try our best to arrange so that they can
attend the annual general meeting.

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three
independent non-executive Directors. Among the three
independent non-executive Directors, one of them have appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting or related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules. Independent non-executive Directors represent at least one-
third of the board as required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

(iv)
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However, following the resignation of Mr. Yeung Chi Tat as
independent non-executive Director on 10 September 2017, the
number of independent non-executive Directors fell below the
requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Following the
resignation of Ms. Lian Yi as independent non-executive Director on
10 November 2017, the number of independent non-executive
Directors fell below the requirement of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, and the number of member of Audit Committee has
fallen below the requirement of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

Following the appointments of Mr. Wu Tak Kong as an independent
non-executive Director and the member of the Audit Committee on
15 November 2017, the number of independent non-executive
Directors and the number of members of the Audit Committee meet
with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing
Rules respectively. However, the number of independent non-
executive Directors still fell below the requirement of Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules.

Subsequent to the resignation of Mr. Huang Te-Wei as an executive
Director on 30 November 2017, the composition of the Board
comprises three executive Directors, three non-executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. In this regard, the
number of independent non-executive Directors represents one-
third of the members of the Board and the Company meets the
requirement set out in Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin has tendered his resignation as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company, the chairman
of the audit committee and a member of each of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company with
effect from 29 October 2018. Upon the resignation of Mr. Pak, the
Company only has two independent non-executive Directors and
two members of the Audit Committee which falls below the
minimum number required under Rule 3.10(1), 3.10A and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is actively identifying suitable candidate
for appointment as independent non-executive Director so as to
fulfill the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules within three months from 29 October 2018.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

R BEEERENR=_ZT—FNILA+H
BFEBEIFRITESE  BUFNTESA
K FHRBIEI0AEZIRTE - @i+
RZE—+tF+— A+ ABEEILIENT
B BHUIFPNITEFASER LTHEE
F310() R3IAMEZHRTE - MBEZEZEE
B ABIMER ETRBIE 321 R IRTE ©

HEAEERZT—+F+—A+HAE
EARBBNIENITEERERZEENE
B BUFPTEFSABNRBEZLZES

BAHD RIS EARAIE 3100 &321 1§
ZHRTE o R BWIMIFMITES ABNE
R EmREIE 310AEZIEE °

BEEREANR T —tF+—-A=1THE
THTEFR EFENEBH-RANTE
FCERFUTESR-RBUFRNTE
B - E - BUFRITEZTAR
REFEREAEN=02— BEXRF
e ETARRIE 310A G2 IRE °

BEREERTRNRARIZEBYIENITES -
ARARBEZEZERERF REZEEkH
MEEEeSEKE B2 —\F+A
ZThHBHRBER - RAKERTE AR
AIEEMBB YN TEERMEBEERE
BgKE  BEREMMBARBEII0)GK - F
3I0A MR EIVERENELAZ - BZ
- N\F+A=-tTHLBAEB=Z@ARN AR
AIBEBRYEEEANEAREABILIEL
TEZ - UFE EmRAE00)1E B
310A IR B 321 {RAVARIE o



Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its “Code of Ethics and Securities Transaction”
to regulate the Directors and relevant employees of the Group in dealing
securities of the Company on terms no less exacting than those set out in
the Model Code. The Model Code also provides guidelines and procedures
on handling conflict of interest of Directors.

In response to the specific enquiry by the Company, all the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as set out
in the Model Code and its Code of Ethics and Securities Transaction
throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company currently comprises
three executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The function of the Board is to guide
the management to ensure the interests of the Shareholders of the
Company are safeguarded.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
board to enhance the quality of its performance. In compliance with the
requirement set out in code provision A.5.6 of the CG Code, the Company
adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on 30 August
2013 which aims to set out the approach to achieving diversity for the
Board.

The policy statement of the Board Diversity Policy is that the Company
recognises the benefits of the Board that possesses a balance of skills,
experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the businesses of the Company.

The Company maintains that Board appointment should be based on
merit that complements and expands the skills, experience and expertise
of the Board as a whole, taking into account gender, age, professional
experience and qualifications, cultural and educational background, and
any other factors that the Board might consider relevant and applicable
from time to time towards achieving a diverse Board.

The Nomination Committee of the Company is responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new directors of
the Company from time to time to ensure that it has a balanced
composition of skills, experience and expertise appropriate to the
requirements of the businesses of the Company, with due regard to the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board as a whole is also responsible
for reviewing the succession plan for the directors of the Company, in
particular, the Chairman/the Chairlady and the CEO.
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The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into account
factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time.

The size and composition of the Board are reviewed from time to time,
taking into account the scope and nature of operations of the Company, to
ensure that the size of the Board is adequate to provide a diversity of views
and facilitate effective decision making. The Directors come from diverse
background with varied expertise in finance, legal industry and business
fields. The biographical details of the Directors and the relationships among
them are set out in the “Directors’ Profile” on pages 6 to 9 of this annual
report and the Company’s website. The Company has maintained on the
Company's website and on the website of the Stock Exchange an updated
list of its Directors identifying their roles and functions and whether they
are independent non-executive Directors. Independent non-executive
Directors are identified as such in all corporate communications that
disclose the names of Directors.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Directors’ Profile”, none of the Directors
has any financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships
among members of the Board.

Directors’ Appointment, Re-election, Resignation and Removal

The position, appointment date and re-election date of the current Board
members are as follows:

ARABEBERZERE  BRETRRY) M
A FE ERHBEES Bk FELR
e MBLRBES BREZEEEZ T
£ o RRBHBTERE S & EHRAREFHIF
2 EEAMAR-

AEEG RN EETSORBELAK  EhE
ERARNBNEBHBELIEE  UEREFIH
RREARETRNEE MIELBRAK - EF
BATAESS BEFER ZREMAEAENE
XA - MBEFNERFBREE ZRENEEE
R AFRECEFIAN [EEHN | RARF]
Mk o ARRERA R R AL KB A2 P g v T &
RMNEFTLE  ETRIHARENEBE RBER
BERDRBUIFNTES - IARBREZUS
gfﬁ@ﬂ¢'ﬂéﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%$m
7 e

BIZEEMN] —HAREEIN HEEEHE
EZEREMAEAYE  BF  RELIEMEKR
ARRARAA

EENERE - BE - BHIRER

WAEEFEKEMNBL - TEBHREEB N
T~

Date of first Date of last
appointment re-election as
Name of Director Position to the Board Director
EAWERD BE—R
E=gmEe BEEESR
EERE B =P EESHEE
Shi Qi Chairlady/Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director 06/04/2016 14/12/2017
bR ERITREE, ITES
Qiu Yonghao Executive Director 06/04/2016 14/12/2017
BB KR WITESE
Zhao Ang Executive Director 30/07/2018 =
Fifay MITES
Gao Feng Non-Executive Director 06/04/2016 15/12/2016
= HENITEE
Han Lei Non-Executive Director 06/04/2016 15/12/2016
B EMITES
Sze Wai Lun Non-Executive Director 19/12/2017 =
MafEtm EHITES
Zhang Lijuan Independent Non-Executive Director 27/04/2016 15/12/2016
KB B IEHITES
Wu Tak Kong Independent Non-Executive Director 15/11/2017 14/12/2017
AR BUIFMITES
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In accordance with the Company'’s articles of association, all Directors
(including executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. Accordingly, at the annual general meeting to be held
13 December 2018, Mr. Han Lei, Mr. Gao Feng and Ms. Zhang Lijuan
shall retire from offices by rotation and offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Sze Wai Lun, and Mr. Zhao Ang, being the newly appointed Directors,
will hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting and be
subject to re-election at such meeting in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

Furthermore, all Directors (including non-executive Directors) were
appointed for a specific term. Formal letters of appointment or service
contracts sets out the key terms and conditions of their appointment were
in place.

Ms. Shi Qi and Mr. Qiu Yonghao were appointed as executive Directors in
2016. They have entered into service contracts with the Company on 6
April 2016 for a period of three years commencing from 6 April 2016 and
subject to a termination by giving not less than three months’ prior written
notice.

Mr. Zhao Ang was appointed as an executive Director in 2018. He has
entered into service contracts with the Company on 30 July 2018 for a
period of three years commencing from 30 July 2018 and subject to a
termination by giving not less than three months’ prior written notice.

Mr. Gao Feng and Mr. Han Lei were appointed as non-executive Directors
in 2016. They have entered into formal appointment letters on 6 April 2016
for a period of three years commencing from 6 April 2016 and subject to a
termination by giving not less than one month'’s prior written notice.

Mr. Sze Wai Lun was appointed as non-executive Director in 2017. He has
entered into a formal appointment letter on 19 December 2017 for a
period of one year commencing on 19 December 2017 and subject to a
termination by giving not less than one month'’s prior written notice.

Ms. Zhang Lijuan has entered into formal appointment letter for appointing
her as independent non-executive Director on 27 April 2016 for a term of
three years commencing from 27 April 2016 which was subject to a
termination by giving not less than one month'’s prior written notice.

Mr. Wu Tak Kong has entered into formal appointment letter for appointing
him as an independent non-executive Director on 15 November 2017 for a
term of one year commencing from 15 November 2017 which is subject to
a termination by giving not less than one month's prior written notice.
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The Board

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director having
sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic planning
experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group. All
executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors bring a variety of experience and expertise to the
Company.

All independent non-executive Directors have fulfilled all the criteria for
independence as stated in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Board holds at least four regular meetings a year which are normally
scheduled in the fourth quarter of the preceding year. The Board will also
meet on other occasions when a board-level decision on a particular
matter is required. During the financial year ended 31 July 2018, the Board
held fourteen meetings. The attendance records of the Directors to these
regular board meetings are set out below:

Exg

BERNNERBME MBREFHEBER
SEFAREEBHBNRETENS  EE8ND
ERRBRBEHRELEPINH - FERTE
T FMTERERBIUFNITESTHERAAR
RS EER R FEMIE -

PREBMIFNTEECN A EMRAEI3EM
5l 2 P B B SLE 5AT

EEEERNRESTEER

EXeEFRIBTORNEHNEZ  —RENXH
—FENFREERARME EFGNENEER
FERELEEGREREHEZ - BE_T N
FLA=ZT-BLVRFE EFSRTTOR
g TRETEEXNZSEHESgRANY
FERiER

Number of

meetings attended/
Number of regular
board meetings held
during the year

HEERAY
FRE|ETEH

EZEERAH
Executive Directors HITEE
Shi Qi e 5/14
Xu Chendi (resigned on 19 December 2017) HEM(R-—E—+E+= B+ HEEF) 8/8
Qiu Yonghao KR 1714
Huang Te-Wei (resigned on 30 November 2017) BEH(R_F—tF+—A=THEMT) 1/13
Zhao Ang (appointed on 30 July 2018) HRERZZE—N\FLA=THEZM) 0/0
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Gao Feng fS]S 0/14
Han Lei R 0/14
Wang Yayuan (resigned on 19 December 2017) FTHRER=ZF—tF+=A+ABET) 4/8
Sze Wai Lun (appointed on 19 December 2017) HEHRR-_E—+F+-ATNBEZE 3/6
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHTEE
Zhang Lijuan RIDB 1714
Pak Wai Keung, Martin (resigned on 29 October 2018) BER(R=Z2—NE+A=-TLABT) 11/14
Lian Yi (resigned on 10 November 2017) BR(N_Z—+F+— A+ HEH) 0/6
Yeung Chi Tat (resigned on 10 September 2017) BeE(M—_Z—+FNA+HET) 2/2
Wu Tak Kong (appointed on 15 November 2017) HEX(RZZE—tF+—ATHBREZRT) 6/8
Number of board meetings held during the year FABTEEFLLRHNH 14
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All minutes of the meetings, record in sufficient detail the matters
considered and decisions reached, are kept by the Company and are
opened for inspection by Directors at any time.

The meetings are structured to allow open discussion. All Directors
participate in discussing the strategy, operational and financial
performance and internal controls of the Group.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman/the Chairlady to prepare the
agenda of the meeting and each Director may request to include any
matters in the agenda. At least 14 days' notice is given to the Directors for
the regular meetings by the Company. All substantive agenda items have
comprehensive briefing papers which are distributed by the Company
Secretary to Directors at least 3 days before the Board meetings so as to
ensure that the Directors may receive accurate, timely and clear
information to make informed decisions regarding the matters discussed
in the meetings.

All Directors may access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who regularly updates the Board on governance and regulatory
matters. The Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring the
procedures of the Board meetings are observed and providing the Board
opinions on matters in relation to the compliance with the procedures of
the Board meetings.

If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board, the Company will not dealt with the
matter by way of written resolution or by a Board committee (except if that
Board committee was specifically established for such purpose) but by a
physical board meeting. The independent non-executive Directors with no
material interest in the matter will attend the meeting to deal with the
matter as appropriate subject to the Listing Rules and/or the Company's
articles of association, as appropriate. Any Director who or whose
associates have any material interest in any proposed Board resolutions
shall not vote (nor be counted in the quorum) on the relevant Board
resolutions.

Functions of the Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the management of the
Company’s business and affairs with the goal of maximizing long term
shareholder’s value, while balancing broader stakeholder interests. The
Board has the following main duties:

determine all the corporate matters;

be responsible for the management, direction and supervision of the
businesses of the Group; and

be responsible to ensure the effectiveness on Group's financial
reporting and compliance.
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The Board has matters reserved for its decisions and these include:
the Group's long-term strategy and business plan;
major capital projects, acquisitions or divestments;
funding decision of the Group;
internal controls, risk management and compliance; and

annual and interim financial results and shareholder
communications.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing day-
to-day operations, business strategies and management of the Group's
businesses to the executive Directors, senior management and certain
specific responsibilities to the Board committees.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and administration
functions to the management, it has given clear directions as to the powers
of management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances. While
allowing management substantial autonomy to run and develop the
business, the Board plays a key role in structuring and monitoring the
reporting systems and internal controls. The composition, functions of
each Board committee and their major role and function are described
below. The final decision still rests with the Board unless otherwise provide
for in the terms of reference of relevant committees.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of skills and
business experience to the Group. They also bring independent judgment
on the issues of strategy, performance and risk through their contribution
to the Board meetings and to the Board's committee meetings.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors the written confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on such confirmations,
considers, Ms. Zhang Lijuan and Mr. Wu Tak Kong to be independent.

The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the
Nomination Committee based on the definition of independence defined
in the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee is satisfied as to the
independence of Ms. Zhang Lijuan and Mr. Wu Tak Kong, all of whom have
fulfilled all the criteria for independence as stated in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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Supply of and Access to Information

The management supplied the Board with appropriate and sufficient
explanation and information through financial reports, business and
operational reports and budget statements, in a timely manner, to enable
them to make informed decisions.

The management also provided the Board with quarterly updates giving a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient details to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13
of the Listing Rules.

The Directors are also provided with names and contact details of the
Company'’s senior management and the Company Secretary to facilitate
Director access to senior management and the Company Secretary.

Continuing Professional Development

The Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the Company
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the Company.
The Company Secretary from time to time updates and provides written
training materials to the Directors on the latest development of the Listing
Rules, applicable laws, rules and regulations relating to Directors' duties
and responsibilities. The Directors may request the Company, pursuant to
the policy for Directors to seek independent professional advice, to provide
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company to
discharge their duties to the Company.

During the year ended 31 July 2018, the Company has organised one
training session on the following topics for the Directors and the
management of the Company to attend:

1. Directors’ duty of listed company

2. Notifiable transactions and connected transactions

3. Dealing of inside information

4. Dealing of securities of listed company and disclosure of interests of
directors
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The Company maintains records of training attended by the Directors. The
training attended by the Directors during the year ended 31 July 2018 are
as follows:

Directors

BE

Executive Directors HITEE
Shi Qi o)

Qiu Yonghao IR KR
Zhao Ang fiizf=s)
Non-Executive Directors HHITESE
Gao Feng S

Han Lei 2%

Sze Wai Lun H &
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTEE
Zhang Lijuan & I18

Wu Tak Kong HATE

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has renewed directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance for
all the Directors and the senior management of the Company for the year
2018/2019. The insurance covers them against costs, charges, expenses
and liabilities incurred arising out of the corporate activities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman of the board and the chief executive officer should be segregated
in order to reinforce their independence and accountability. Up to the date
of this report, the roles of the Chairlady and the CEO were not separate and
Ms. Shi Qi currently performs these two roles.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairlady and the CEO
in the same individual has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board further believes that the balance of
power and authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and
is adequately ensured by the current Board which comprises experienced
and high calibre individuals with sufficient number thereof being
independent non-executive Directors.

Moreover, there are clear demarcations of responsibility and authority
between the Chairman/Chairlady and the CEO which also ensure an
appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater
capacity of the Board for independent decision-making.
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The responsibilities of the Chairman/Chairlady include:

ensuring all Directors are properly briefed on matters to be discussed
at Board meetings;

ensuring all Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear, complete
and reliable information in a timely manner;

providing leadership for the Board;

ensuring that the Board works effectively, performs its responsibilities
and discusses all key issues in a timely manner;

ensuring that, with the assistance of the Company Secretary, settles
and approves the agenda for Board meetings taking into account
any matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in the
agenda;

taking primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are in place. Assisted by the
Company Secretary, the Chairman/Chairlady oversees the
implementation of the practices and procedures on corporate
governance;

giving each Director an opportunity to express his/her different
views at Board meetings and to voice their concerns; encouraging all
Directors to fully contribute to the Board's affairs and ensuring that
the Board acts in the best interests of the Company; allowing
sufficient time for discussion of issues and ensuring that Board
decisions fairly reflect Board consensus;

at least annually holding meetings with the non-executive Directors
without the executive Directors present;

ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with Shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and

promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of non-executive Directors in particular and
ensuring constructive relations between executive and non-
executive Directors.
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N 1Y

LREIRE

The responsibilities of the CEO include: TIRBHENBEBIE
1. providing leadership for the management; 1. BEEREE

2. implementing and reporting to the Board on the Company's 2.  #{TY[AESSERA D 7R
strategy;

3. overseeing the realization by the Company of the objectives set by 3. EERAQFEREZBRSFIVMNEIEZ
the Board;

4. providing all such information to the Board as is necessary to enable 4. AE=EFSRHERETEERBIFEN—1)
the Board to monitor the performance of management; ‘ar

5. leading the management of the Company’s relationships with its 5. {BEAQFEIEEF(HENBIE
stakeholders;

6. putting in place programs for management development and 6. EEEEEBEELRETTE
succession;

7. with the financial controller of the Company, establishing and 7.  EZAR A IEAE K E$I5T R FES D

maintaining proper internal controls and risk management systems NEHEERRBREEHE  ARKEEE
as well as disclosure controls and procedures; and NEF &

8. discharging such duties and authority as may be delegated in 8. KBEEENEEREEITHRE RITHER
writing to her by the Board. Jie
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board has currently
delegated specific functions to five Board committees. They are the Audit
Committee (“AC"), Remuneration Committee (“RC"), Nomination
Committee ("NC") and Executive Committee (“EC").The Board is responsible
for the functions of risk management and corporate governance functions.
As at the date of this annual report, the composition of each committee
are as follows:

ERELIRE

EEZRE

EEgHAIMAAEEZE SR REERE - A
BEEFERITRG - EFLEESBREERES
g((EnEE8g)) FHEZEE(HFHEER
g1 ?m%i,\a(Fh%?ﬁﬁj)&iﬂﬁi,\a
(FTEEg])  -EFaERREIRRL
FERBE - NAFRAY  REEE® ,ﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬁu
T~

Shi Qi ik
Qiu Yonghao 9=
Zhao Ang HE
Zhang Lijuan by
Wu Tak Kong HEk
Notes:
C chairman/chairlady of the relevant Board committees (“Committee Chairman/
Chairlady”)
M member of the relevant Board committees

The written terms of reference of AC, NC and RC are available on the
Company's website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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Audit Committee

AC was established on 16 May 2007 and currently comprises two members.
All are independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu Tak Kong
(Committee Chairman) and Ms. Zhang Lijuan. The external auditor and the
financial controller of the Company also attended meetings of AC by
invitation.

The committee’s responsibilities include the following:

reports to the Board and holds regular meetings to assist the Board
in discharging its responsibilities for effective financial reporting
controls, internal controls and risk management.

monitors the integrity of the Company’s financial statements, annual
report and accounts and half-year report and reviews significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them.

reviews, makes recommendations and reports to the Board on
findings relating to the financial statements, reports and accounts,
systems of internal controls and compliance issues.

oversees the Company’s relationship with the external auditor,
reviews auditor’s letter of engagement and makes recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of external
auditor.

reviews and monitors the external auditor's independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards.

reviews external auditor’s management letter and any material
queries raised by the auditor to the management and the
management’s response.

Further details on the work of the committee for the year 2017/2018 could
be found under “Audit Committee Report” of this annual report.

40

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

BREES
EREZEEN_ZETLFRAA+TRBEKZ BA
M_BRKEEK - 2K B RBIIFNTE
= RERBRARE(ZERIR) NERIBK
T o SMNERBEN MA R R SRS R EE
ES b

ZEENBEBENATEEA:

MEFSERIERRITER UHhHE
FERTRETARMBMEEE - AR
EEREREREFENESE -

ERARRMBHRE  FEREREKEE N
NEFERENTEN  TERMEPAEH
EP NP R =gl

EHMBHK  BERKE - WEEER
B URAEREE UMBMERNER
AEFSFLEZENER -

ERAAREINEZBENREEK - FHZ

BN REE - WHRE RERINEZH
FiEEEIELEE -

AR P 2 R 2R B M BE BRSNS AR B A ) 38
IHRRECREFEEEERAR

25 B 5B 2 T 0 92 8 S P e BT
MERBRENTAEARE  URER
B H OB -

ZEERZE—+ /- N\FEFEEIIEN#E—
THIBAIRAFRZ[ELRBERE | —HEH -



Corporate Governance Report

ERELIRE

Remuneration Committee FWEES

Currently, the members of RC are Ms. Zhang Lijuan (Committee Chairlady), B Al HFEEZEeREARNEXRE(ZESE
and Mr. Wu Tak Kong. All of whom are independent non-executive &) REREY L - ABIIENTES -
Directors.

BEFANRTREGH  KEHELERTILN

The committee met twice during the year. The attendance records are set
out below:

- W

Zhang Lijuan (Committee Chairlady) KNB(ZEEFE) 2/2

Pak Wai Keung, Martin (resigned on 29 October 2018)  H&® (RN —ZE—N&F+ A -+ BEHE) 2/2

Yeung Chi Tat (resigned on 10 September 2017) BEEMMRIZE—EFNATHET) 0/0

Lian Yi (resigned on 10 November 2017) BEH (N _E—+F+—ATHEMD 0/

Wu Tak Kong (appointed on 15 November 2017) HEX(RZE—+F+—A+RBEZMD) /1
Numperof meeting helddurng theyear  FRBGEEAR 2
The responsibilities of the committee include the following: ZESGNBEREATRIE

recommend to the Board the Group's remuneration policy for the - RAEEEARNTEZRARAISRERE
executive Directors and the senior management of the Company; BRI BNECR ME =S E R

consider and advise on the terms of any contract to be offered to - ZRMAESRENEAES OER R ILE
Directors; and #HER R

monitor the remuneration package of the executive Directors and  + ERHTESRaREEENTHES X

senior management and make recommendations thereto. BULERE o
Further information of the committee’s activities is contained in  ZEEMEBAE - T ERF RN RF R [ B
“Remuneration Committee Report” of this annual report. ZEEWE] -
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ERELHRSE

Nomination Committee RELES

Currently, the members of NC are Mr. Wu Tak Kong (Committee Chairman) B Al TR ZE @R B ARBEXEE(ZESE
and Ms. Zhang Lijuan. All of whom are independent non-executive &) REBL L YABIIERITES -
Directors.

The key objective of the committee is to ensure the Board comprises ZB &2 EBHE AMREZGMMAMERE -
individuals with a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives & ERFAARABIEBEE 2 Z b AE HEE
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business so as to {3 » LUEFAEESMEE

enhance Board effectiveness.

The committee met four times during the year, the attendance of the ZE&FRNBTINAEE  TRENLZEEKE
committee members are shown in the following table: B FE AR 8

Wu Tak Kong (Committee Chairman) HER(ZESEE) 2/2
(appointed on 15 November 2017) (RZE—+F+—A+RBEEZE)
Yeung Chi Tat (ex-Committee Chairman) BEEGIZESERE) 0/0
(resigned on 10 September 2017) (RZZ—tEFNATHET)
Zhang Lijuan RNE 2/4
Pak Wai Keung, Martin BER(WZZE-NFTAZ+HLARTI) 4/4
(resigned on 29 October 2018)
Lian Yi (resigned on 10 November 2017) ER(RZZ—tF+—A+AHD 0/1
Xu Chendi (resigned on 19 December 2017) FRE(RZZE—tF+= AT BET) 2/2
Numberofmeetingsheldduing theyear  FhEERAR 4
The criteria for appointment of a new director are set out below: ZEFESHEAFHINAT -
possess core competencies that meet the needs of the Company; . BB NEIFTTZORREE

be ableto commlt tlmeand carry out dutles and responsibilities;and - eI A H B TR R E &

-A{"’J.he 'nde})endﬁcgbﬁo‘can 'n%n@[&gecunve Director. - BUM(HABUIFMTES) -
e e;-"..w ¢ , ' R

e | i .1-"- 5 L —

ey s, ;

r

¥
o
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The committee leads the process and makes recommendation of the
appointment of new Director to the Board as follows:

evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspective on the Board and determine the role and desirable
competencies for a particular appointment in consultation with the
management;

review the portfolio of the potential candidate to assess suitability;
and

made recommendation to the Board.
Significant matters discussed by the committee are summarised as follows:

To consider the re-election of the retiring Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting having regard to his/her
contribution and performance;

To access the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

To review the structure, size and composition of the Board;
Consider the appointment of Mr. Zhao Ang as an executive Director;

Consider the appointment of Mr. Wu Tak Kong as an independent
non-executive Director; and

Consider the appointment of Mr. Sze Wai Lun as a non-executive
Director.

Executive Committee

EC was established on 3 September 2007 with specific written terms of
reference. The committee currently comprises three members, all of them
are executive Directors, namely Ms. Shi Qi (Committee Chairlady), Mr. Qiu
Yonghao and Mr. Zhao Ang.

The committee is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Group's businesses, the overall financial performance of the Group in
fulfillment of strategy, plans and budgets and the Group capital
expenditures as defined in the terms of reference.

The committee reports these topics to the Board their conclusions and
recommendations.

ERELHRSE

ZEgS|EREREEQRAEENRERF T
EQNT -

AHZEES NN AR BREkZ Tl
AEEHTEERHE  LERAEERER
BEZRERETNBEMAHEED

EHAEREANEABEAFGEES

BE: R

MERSREES -
ZESWWHEAZEDMRIT

REFERAEFNEH LRI - TRNERE

BRBFASERRIES

AHZE FMITE MBI

WA ERENERE  RRRAK
ERZIBSEERNTES:

EERTHRRIEEERBIIFNTES
K

ERZIMEREERIFNTES -

HITEES

WITEEERN _ZETHFNA=ZAKIL - ¥TFHA
BEERELE ZESRAMH=-2KEEK
EHER/ATES  RE/KBLL(ZRESX
) BORFEERBESRRL -

ZECGRAAKERENEBKER - URERA
SEMEBBIMBRAA R T ERE B RRE
ARARBEAFRXT  FERBEGEANR

i o

ZEeREFEMNESSERAL SR NEE -

e L BTV
—z nFrm | A3



Corporate Governance Report
BRELHRE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’s acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2018. The
Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the accounts and
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment for the
Company'’s performance, position and prospects. The Directors are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited ("SHINEWING") acknowledged their reporting
responsibilities in the auditor’s report on the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 July 2018 as set out in pages 77 to 86 of
this annual report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year ended 31 July 2018, SHINEWING was appointed as the
Group's auditor until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general
meeting. The remuneration paid/payable to SHINEWING and its affiliates in

FRERER

ESNAEAAER

ERZEGREFELENAQREBE_T—N
FLA=ZT - BLFENRAMBERER - EFHE
REFAREREKE RRARRNRE - KR
KA 2 B REEMNFE c EFUT
HMEBEMAIRES AR RREL RN BREED
SRS HIERATS RN EBRTHAREE -

EKPH(ER) SETMEBABRAE ([{EKHR
MDERERAFERE77EEMEBEEZE—-F
—NFEA=Z+T—BUEFEGREVERENOZE
R &5 R Tl A R R E AT o

R BL R 3 A

BE-_ZT-N\FLA=1T—HLFE EXKPM
BRERAEBENZEE - EHERERFBES
REERRBIE - BT RIEBFARBE N BN

respect of their audit and non-audit services were as follows: XA R EBE AR MEMAT
2018
—EB-N\F
HK$’000
THET
Audit services B RTS 1,290

Non-audit services T AR

Other advisory services H b BRI AR TS 486
Total #aEt 1,776

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2018 were
audited by SHINEWING. The Audit Committee has recommended to the
Board that SHINEWING be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of
the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Lo Chu Wing, reports directly to the Board. All
the Directors have easy access to the Company Secretary and responsibility
of the Company Secretary is to ensure the board meetings are properly
held and are in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations. The
Company Secretary is also responsible for giving advices with respect to
the Directors’ obligations on securities interest disclosure, disclosure
requirements of discloseable transactions, connected transactions and
inside information. The Company Secretary shall provide advices to the
Board with respect to strict compliance with the laws, requirements and
the Company's articles of association at appropriate times. As the
Company's principal channel of communication with the Stock Exchange,
the Company Secretary assists the Board in implementing and
strengthening the Company’s corporate governance code so as to bring
the best long term value to shareholders. In addition, the Company
Secretary also provides relevant information updates and continuous
professional development to the Directors with respect to legal,
supervisory and other continuous obligations for being a director of a listed
company at appropriate times.

Mr. Lo Chu Wing is an employee of CS Legend Corporate Services Limited,
an external service provider. The primary contact person of Mr. Lo at the
Company is Mr. Liu Tao, the board secretary of the Company.

The Board is fully involved in selection, appointment and dismissal of the
Company Secretary.

During the year ended 31 July 2018, the Company Secretary has
undertaken over 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD SECRETARY

Board secretary of the Company, Mr. Liu Tao, plays an important role in
supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board
and that board policy and procedures.

The board secretary of the Company has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company'’s affairs. He reports to the Board through the Chairman/the
Chairlady and the CEO. All Directors may access to the advice and services
of the board secretary of the Company. He regularly updates the Board on
governance and regulatory matters. He also facilitates induction and
professional development of Directors.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convene of General Meetings

The Board strives to maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders
of the Company. The Company uses annual general meeting as one of the
principal channels for communicating with the Shareholders. The
Company ensures that Shareholders’ views are communicated to the
Board. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or
to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if
they are unable to attend the meetings. The process of the Company’s
general meeting are monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and, if
necessary, changes will be made to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are
best served.

At the general meeting, each substantially separate issue has been
considered by a separate resolution, including the election of individual
Directors. The Chairman/Chairlady, chairmen of the respective board
committees and the external auditor usually attend annual general
meetings to inter-face with and answer questions from the Shareholders.

The last annual general meeting of the Company was held on 14
December 2017 (2017 AGM") at Rooms 1 and 2, United Conference Centre,
10/F., United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong. The Directors,
including the Chairlady, the Chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees, and representative of the external auditor of the
Company, SHINEWING, attended, in person or via telephone, the 2017
AGM. The attendance records of the Directors to the 2017 AGM are set out
below:

R R HEF
ARKRRAE

EESHNERRRBRRARTER - ARAIAR
RBFASERERREBANET —BIER
B ARBERBRRNERENETSRB - &
ZERRABRR2EBRRAE A BEEHFEKR
g AEBRERAERKRRELFERAGERE L
TR ARARIGERYEHRIBRERREERF
WHRBERIELNE - URREARRBE -

RERARE L BEAMEBBINEREN IR
BIUHPRBREZR  ETEREENESMNEE-
I REEFZEGZIFEMIMNEREE —RE
EREHFERFAFKE - AMEEREEZBEIL O
BEHEM -

ARB LEBRRBFRAER _FT—tF+=A
TOA(ZE—tFRRAFRG)REEES
BLEBSHER —FLI0ER—SETLEE
EIRR2FERT-ER(BEIR) BX
MEREZE SR UARARARIMNEZEENE
KEMZRRHEHEREBERLF —FT—+
FRRBFAE EFHFE_FT—LtFRRBF
REWREINENT

Number of meeting
attended/
Number of meeting
held during
Directors appointment period
HESERE ZEHR
= BITERAH
Executive Directors HITEE
ShiQi HEE 0/1
Xu Chendi (resigned on 19 December 2017) HFEMNR-_E—+F+-A+NLBEM 11
Qiu Yonghao EBK R 0/1
Huang Te-Wei (resigned on 30 November 2017) B2EH(R=Z2—tF+—A=+HEMD) 0/0
Zhao Ang (appointed on 30 July 2018) HE(RZE-—NFLtA=1THEZM) 0/0
Non-Executive Directors FHITEE
Gao Feng = 01
Han Lei BREE 0/1
Wang Yayuan (resigned on 19 December 2017) THE(R-F—tF+-AT+LBEMT) 0/1
Sze Wai Lun (appointed on 19 December 2017) WEHEM-E—tF+-ATNLBEZM) 0/0
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHITEE
Zhang Lijuan RIB 0/1
Pak Wai Keung, Martin (resigned on 29 October 2018) Hf&s& (R=Z—N\F+ A=+ N B EHT) 11
Yeung Chi Tat (resigned on 10 September 2017) BEEMZZE—tFNATHED 0/0
Lian Yi (resigned on 10 November 2017) FHR (N —_Z—tE+— A+ B&MF) 0/0
Wu Tak Kong (appointed on 15 November 2017) HEX(RZZE—tF+—ATHRBEZM) 11
Number of meeting held during the year FRBETEZRE 1
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Notice to Shareholders for the 2017 AGM was sent to Shareholders more
than 20 clear business days prior to the 2017 AGM. The chairman of the
meeting exercised her power under the Company’s articles of association
to put each proposed resolution to vote by way of a poll. The Company
adopted poll voting for all resolutions put to vote at the meeting. The
procedures for voting by poll at the 2017 AGM were contained in the
circular of the Company to the Shareholders, which was dispatched
together with the 2017 annual report, and were further explained at the
2017 AGM prior to the polls being taken. Separate resolutions were
proposed at the 2017 AGM on each substantive issue and the percentage
of votes cast in favor of such resolutions as disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 14 December 2017 are set out below:

ERELHRSE

T +FREBFRGZRERECR =T
—tFRFBFRASRITHBB-HETEEE
HETERR - K2EETERAAFABERA
AIFTRE T HOME ) - SR EREMRERUNEEH
NFR - ARBIHREASRANABRBERH
RARESRETRR - BT —tFREAF
ARG FUBREFARRNER - BEFEHREAQA]
WA BIA - ERABEKEHE T FFR
—HEFTRE MABRFIE_ZT—tFRE
BERSETREAMARE - R-Z—+FK
RAFAZF SEAEEYUEBERERR
2 MEXNBEHARZENZRIMENED (R
ARARBHPA-Z—+tF+-_A+EBENRE

BER)FIE T

Percentage
of Votes cast
Resolutions proposed at the 2017 AGM in favor
BRHNEH
REB—tFRREAFAGRENABR FrAG BB 2 ke
1. To receive and consider the audited consolidated financial statements and the reports of the directors 100%
and the auditors of the Company for the year ended 31 July 2017.
FERZRARABE_T—t+F+ A=+ —RILFENKERGREYBRRNEFEREEZ
HENRE -
2. (i)  Tore-elect Ms. Wang Yayuan as a director of the Company. 100%
BEIMBELLTRARRES -
(i) Tore-elect Mr. Wu Tak Kong as a director of the Company. 100%
BEPEACERRRRES -
(i) To re-elect Ms. Shi Qi as a director of the Company. 100%
BEMBLLTRARAES -
(iv)  Tore-elect Ms. Xu Chendi as a director of the Company. 100%
BENFRELXLIREIRFES
(v)  Tore-elect Mr. Qiu Yonghao as a director of the Company. 100%
BEIOREER/RRARESE -
3. To authorize the board of directors of the Company to fix the remuneration of the directors of the 100%
Company.
BREARAEFSETARAEFNME
4. To re-appoint auditor and authorize the board of directors of the Company to fix their remuneration. 100%
BHEEZEMURERLNREESETAME -
5. To approve granting the general mandate to the directors of the Company to allot, issue and deal 99.9995%
with the Company’s shares.
HERTARTES —MREEARSE - FTREBARQATRG
6. To approve granting the general mandate to the directors of the Company to repurchase the 99.9995%
Company's shares.
HERTARABEET —REELABLAQBRG -
7. To authorize the directors of the Company to extend the general mandate to issue new shares by adding 99.9995%

the number of shares repurchased.

REARRREFREINAMBE AR 2B EAITH D 0 — AR -
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All resolutions put to Shareholders at the 2017 AGM were passed. The
Company’s Branch Share Registrars were appointed as scrutineers to
monitor and count the poll votes cast at that meeting. The results of the
voting by poll were published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Procedures by which enquiries may put to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through investor
relations department who will direct the enquiries to the Board for
handling. The contact details of the investor relations department are as
follows:

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited
Unit AOT, 35th Floor

United Centre

95 Queensway, Admiralty

Hong Kong

Email: tayang@wsfg.hk

Tel No.: (852) 852-2851 1038

How Shareholders can convene an extraordinary general
meeting/procedures for putting forward proposals at a
Shareholders’ meeting

The Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings.
Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary sent to the aforesaid address, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Furthermore, Shareholders may propose a person for election as a Director
of the Company. The procedures of which are available at the Company’s
website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Significant changes in articles of association

During the year, there is no significant change to the Company’s articles of
association.
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Shareholdings information

As at 31 July 2018

Authorised Capital : HK$2,000,000,000 divided into
20,000,000,000 Shares of HKS0.1 each

Issued and fully-paid : HK$87,117,800 divided into 871,178,000
Shares of HK$0.1 each

The following table summarised the existing shareholding structure of the
Company as at 31 July 2018:

ERELIRE

ERER

R-ZB-NEtA=+—-8

JEIE R AR : 2,000,000,000 77T * 9 A
20,000,000,000 A% &A%

B0.1 BTG

BEITRHME 87,117,800787C * N &
871,178,000 f& & I (&
0.1 B TR IR (D

TEREIARTIR B NFLA=+—HANR
BRBRE

Controlling Shareholders & Directors ERRRRES 436,540,400 50.11%
Public B 434,637,600 49.89%
Total “EEt 871,178,000 100.00%

Note:  The number of issued Shares of the Company as at 31 July 2018 is
871,178,000 Shares.

Other corporate information is set out in the “Corporate Information”
section set out on pages 2 to 5 of this annual report.

Kit . RARRZE—N\FtA=+—HBHEZTKR
288 £ 871,178,000 BXAZ D ©
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ERELHRSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, the Group has complied with code provision C.2 of the CG
Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems. Management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features
of the risk management and internal control systems are described in the
sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the
following phases:

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate
the risk portfolio accordingly.

Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2018, no significant risk was
identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSQ") 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group
to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follow:

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis for carrying out internal controls across the
Group.

Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analyzing risks to achieve the Group's objectives, forming a basis
for determining how risks should be managed.

Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out.
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Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information needed
to carry out day-to-day controls.

Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal controls is present and
functioning.

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside information, and
to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its
public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside
information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have
been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to
prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include:

The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

The Executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf
of the Company when communicating with external parties such as
the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2018, no significant
control deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit ("IA") function, which is consisted of
professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group's daily operation
and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control
systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating
effectiveness.

An A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via Audit
Committee afterwards.
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Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of these
systems has been conducted annually. Several areas have been considered
during the Board's review, which include but not limited to (i) the changes
in the nature and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and
the Group's ability to respond to changes in its business and the external
environment; and (i) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.

The Board, through its review and the review made by IA function and
Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal
control systems were effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that
the resources, staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were
adequate and the training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

Communication with Investors and Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and
effective communication with Shareholders and investors. The Board also
recognises that effective communication with investors is the key to
establish investor confidence and to attract new investors. Therefore, the
Group is committed to maintaining high degree of transparency to ensure
the investors and the Shareholders are receiving accurate, clear,
comprehensive and timely information of the Group via the publication of
annual reports, interim reports, press announcements (“Corporate
Communications”), and also the Company's website at www.tayang.com.

Corporate Communications issued by the Company are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange have been provided to
the Shareholders in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate their
understanding. A section entitled “Investor Relations” is available on the
Company’s website which provides contact details to allow Shareholders
to contact the Company easily.
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Enquiries from institutional investors and analysts on the Group's strategy,
operations, management and plans are welcome.

Our investor relations activities include:
attend telephone enquiries from analysts and fund managers;
update of the Company’s website regularly;
hold annual general meeting;

disclose information on a timely basis via the Company’s and Stock
Exchange’s websites.

MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

In general, the daily management and administration functions of the
Group have been delegated to the management except for certain matters
specifically reserved to the Board for decision. Those matters include the
setting of the overall strategic direction and long term objectives of the
Company, approval of annual business plan, material acquisitions and
disposals of assets, investments, connected transactions and capital
projects, key human resources issue, preliminary interim and final results
announcements, determination of interim and final dividends,
appointment of Directors and annual assessment of internal control
system.

Hong Kong, 30 October 2018
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This report provides the details of work undertaken by the Remuneration
Committee during the year.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the year, the Directors who served on RC were Ms. Zhang Lijuan
(Committee Chairlady), Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (resigned on 10 September
2017), Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin (resigned on 29 October 2018), Ms. Lian Yi
(resigned on 10 November 2017) and Mr. Wu Tak Kong (appointed on 15
November 2017). All of them are independent non-executive Directors.

ACTIVITIES OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the year, RC met twice and the major business of the meeting
included the following activities:

conduct the annual review of 2017/2018 salary for all Directors and
Senior Management and making appropriate recommendations to
the Board; and

consider the service agreement of Mr. Zhao Ang being appointed as
an executive Director.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration for the executive Directors comprises basic salary, bonus,
share options and pensions. Salary adjustments are made where RC takes
into account performance of the individual, contribution, responsibilities,
and reference to comparable listed companies in Hong Kong.

The remuneration of non-executive Directors are reviewed annually with
reference to the salary research survey, comparable companies and market
condition.

Apart from basic salary, executive Directors and employees are eligible to
receive a discretionary bonus taking into account factors such as market
conditions as well as corporate and individual’'s performance during the
year.
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The following table illustrates the elements of remuneration of Executive

Directors and senior management.

Remuneration

]

Basic Salary
BEX%e

Discretionary Bonus
[CR{FaN

Pension

BRE

Purpose

B

To reflect the market value of each -

individual

R EHRALHTSEE

To motivate employees to deliver
the high levels of performance of
the Company and individual
performance goals

R B AAARIEUSRKTH
RERERBARR AR

To provide appropriate and
competitive post retirement
benefits
REEE R EHRF NHRKE
B

Remuneration Committee Report

Reward

Eg ]

Cash payment
A NEN
Monthly

A

Cash Payment
REMR
Annual

BF

Cash contribution
RE K
Monthly

A

FHEREERE

TRAPATEERSREREFHESNTE -

Policy details
BURFHE

Reviewed annually
FER

Compare against selected
comparable companies
LR TFH A B LA A
L

Market trend

mi5i8m

Individual performance
BARR

Market condition
Rk

The Group performance
relative to corporate
targets
REEEERBEB RN
RI

MPF scheme
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Details of the amount of Directors’ and senior managements’' remuneration
during the year ended 31 July 2018 are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Members of the Remuneration Committee
Zhang Lijuan (Committee Chairlady)
Wu Tak Kong

Hong Kong, 30 October 2018
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This report provides details of the role of the Audit Committee and the
work it has undertaken by them during the year.

MEMBERSHIP OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the year, the Directors who served on AC were Mr. Wu Tak Kong
(appointed on 15 November 2017 and appointed as Committee Chairman
on 30 October 2018), Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin (resigned on 29 October
2018), Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (resigned on 10 September 2017), Ms. Zhang
Lijuan and Ms. Lian Yi (resigned on 10 November 2017). All of them are
independent non-executive Directors.

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

During the year, AC met two times in October 2017 and March 2018. The
financial controller of the Company and the external auditor attended the
meetings by invitation. The attendance records are set out below:

Audit Committee Report
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR WORKS DONE DURING THE
YEAR

During the year, the major works done by AC were summarised as follows:

reviewed with the management and the external auditors on the
interim results and annual results and related announcement
including the related disclosures, integrity of financial reporting and
the accounting policies adopted by the Group prior to the
submission to the Board's approval;

discussed with management on significant judgments affecting
Group's consolidated financial statements;

considered and pre-approved the re-appointment of auditors and
their audit fee accordingly;

FAREHEEIFEE

FA - BRZESERNEEZTAHANT

ERXE=SHER - BERERINEZ
BEVEMTHIRE  2FXEUNRBRAR
& BREBEESEE ARERANE
BRE R G BURM TR M

HEREN Y E
EDNC -

ZN e TR B

EELALBEMEEZEMLEEZER

AARBERARLE | g
T )\FER



Audit Committee Report
ERZERERE

reviewed and discussed the risk management and internal control
report including the status of implementing recommendations on
previous report;

reviewed, assessed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
risk management and internal controls;

reviewed and monitored the external auditor’'s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness during the audit process; and

reviewed and discussed the audit plan for 2017/2018.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

AC has reviewed with the management the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and the financial reporting matters
including a review of the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 July 2018.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, AC engaged Shinewing Risk Services Limited (“SHINEWING
Risk”) to conduct the risk management and internal control review of the
Group's operation and made recommendation to Board accordingly. Based
on the report issued by SHINEWING Risk, AC considered that the key areas
of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems are
reasonably implemented and the Company has compiled with the
requirements of the CG code as set out in the Listing Rules in respect of risk
management and internal controls. The matters concerns to be brought to
the attention to the Board are listed on the Corporate Governance Report
of this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

AC reviewed the independence of SHINEWING and recommended their re-
appointment as auditor of the Group for the financial year 2017/2018 in
the forthcoming AGM.

Members of Audit Committee
Wu Tak Kong (Committee Chairman)
Zhang Lijuan

Hong Kong, 30 October 2018
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are design and
manufacture of silicone rubber input devices which are mainly used in
lifestyle products and 4Cs (i) Consumer (consumer electronic devices), (ii)
Computers (keypads for computers and notebooks), (i) Communications
(mobile phone peripheral products), and (iv) Cars (automotive peripheral
products). In addition, the Group has penetrated into healthcare and hotel
services. Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 48 to the consolidated financial statements. The nature of the
principal activities of the Group has not changed during the year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 77 of this annual
report and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Board has not recommended the distribution of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 July 2018 (31 July 2017: nil). Details are set out in Note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business during the year, a discussion on the
Group’s future business development, an analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year and the material factors underlying its results
and financial position are included in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section on pages 14 to 24 of this annual report. Description of
possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be found
throughout this annual report, such as “Risk Management and Internal
Control” section on pages 50 to 52 of the Corporate Governance Report.

Particulars of important events affecting the Company that have occurred
since the end of the financial year 2018 can also be found in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section on pages 22 to 23 of this
annual report and Note 49 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year is provided in the
“Financial Review" section on pages 15 to 17 and “Five Years Financial
Summary” on page 182 of this annual report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental and social policies
and an account of the Group's key relationships with its stakeholders are
contained in “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” to be
published.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
WHICH HAVE A SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON THE
COMPANY

The Company strictly complies with domestic and overseas laws and
regulations and industry standards such as the Listing Rules, SFO and PRC
Company Law. Please refer to the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” to be published.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company
share.

ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

Lyton Maison Limited is the controlling Shareholder of the Company as at
the year ended 31 July 2018 and also the ultimate holding company of the
Company. The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Ms. Shi Qi, the
Chairlady of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer and an executive
Director of the Company. She is the sole director and the ultimate
beneficial owner of Lyton Maison Limited.

As at 31 July 2018, Lyton Maison Limited directly held 50.11% of the then
issued share capital of the Company.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$28,899,000 on
additions to property, plant and equipment mainly for the expansion and
enhancement of its production capability.

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment during
the year are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 182 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES AND RESERVES

As at 31 July 2018, the Company's reserve available for distribution
amounted to HK$77,979,000 (2017: HK$103,545,000).

Movements in reserves of the Company during the year and the
distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 July 2018 are set out in Note
47 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 37% of the total revenue of the Group and the largest
customer accounted for approximately 12% of the total revenue.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier and
five largest suppliers taken together accounted for approximately 7.1% and
27.8% of the Group's total purchase for the year.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) has any interest in any of the Group's five largest suppliers
and customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Xu Chendi (resigned on 19 December 2017)
Mr. Qiu Yonghao

Mr. Huang Te-Wei (resigned on 30 November 2017)
Mr. Zhao Ang (appointed on 30 July 2018)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Gao Feng

Mr. Han Lei

Ms. Wang Yayuan (resigned on 19 December 2017)
Mr. Sze Wai Lun (appointed on 19 December 2017)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Zhang Lijuan

Mr. Pak Wai Keung, Martin (resigned on 29 October 2018)
Ms. Lian Yi (resigned on 10 November 2017)

Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (resigned on 10 September 2017)

Mr. Wu Tak Kong (appointed on 15 November 2017)
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Pursuant to Article 86(3) of the Company's articles of association, Mr. Zhao
Ang and Mr. Sze Wai Lun, being the newly appointed Directors, will hold
their office until the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 87(1) of the Company's articles of association, Mr. Han
Lei, Mr. Gao Feng and Ms. Zhang Lijuan, will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
CONFIRMATION

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and as at the date of this report still considers that all of
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 July 2018, none of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended by
the Remuneration Committee, and decided by the Board, as authorised by
Shareholders in the annual general meeting, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance, experience,
responsibility, workload and comparable market securities. No Director is
involved in deciding their own remuneration.

Details of the remuneration policy for the Directors and senior
management of the Group are set out in Remuneration Report under the
heading “Remuneration Policy” on pages 54 to 56 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors of the Company and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group during the year under review are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

Directors’ Interests

As at 31 July 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the
Chief Executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares in the Company

Report of the Directors

EFERE

EFRERTRASHER
BEEER

RZZE-NFLA=1+—0 FFFKAQAE
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RIEIZESFRIZEA S A RD 7] B 32 TRy 25 Bk
BT

RAEXFARDRABRONE R

ShiQi Interest of a controlled corporation 436,540,400
1% REH AR R
Notes:
1. Based on 871,178,000 Shares in issue as at 31 July 2018.
2. Lyton Maison Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin

Islands, issued share of which is one share solely owned by Ms. Shi Qj, is
interested in 436,540,400 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 July 2018, none of the Directors and the
Chief Executive of the Company had any interest or short position in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

= 436,540,400 50.11% 2
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INTERESTS OF THE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 July 2018, so far as is known to the Directors, the following person
(other than Directors and Chief Executive of the Company) has interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and are recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares

Name of
shareholder Capacity in which interests are held
RREH BREEZENS G

Beneficial Owner

BaEEA

Lyton Maison Limited

Person having a security interest in Shares

R EEEMER AL

Mason Resources Finance Limited

ERERMEERAE]

Interest of controlled corporation
R EERR

Mason Group Holdings Limited
RKREBZERARAR

Notes:

(1) Based on 871,178,000 Shares in issue as at 31 July 2018.

2) Lyton Maison Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, solely owned by Ms. Shi Qj, is interested in 436,540,400 Shares.

(3) Mason Resources Finance Limited, having a security interest in 436,540,400
Shares held by Lyton Maison Limited and 8,802,000 Shares held by other
party(ies), is indirectly wholly-owned by Mason Group Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 July 2018, the Company was not notified
by any person (other than Directors and Chief Executive of the Company)
who has an interest or short position in the Shares, or underlying Shares
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which
the Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries is a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director had material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of or at any time during the year, nor had there been any contract
of significance entered into between the Group and a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 July 2018.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may incur or
sustain in or about the execution of the duties in his/her office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not enter into any
management and administration contracts relating to all or any substantial
part of the business of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that have, will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements
that have, will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered
into by the Company during the year or subsisted at 31 July 2018.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 July 2018, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed
securities.
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Report of the Directors
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COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 July 2018, in so far as the Directors were aware, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had any interest in a business that
competed or was likely to compete with the business of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this report, there is
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued Shares
as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process, to discuss the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group with management, to review the Company’s
annual reports and interim reports, and to provide advice and comments
thereon to the Board. Currently, the Audit Committee comprises of Mr. Wu
Tak Kong (Chairman) and Ms. Zhang Lijuan, all of whom are independent
non-executive Directors of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group'’s annual results for the year
ended 31 July 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the Stock
Exchange’s Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (the “CG Code”), Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules during the year
and up to the date of this annual report, except Code Provision A.2.1, A.2.7
and C.1.2. Details are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
25 to 53 of this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 July 2018, the Group entered into transactions
with related parties, details of which are set out in Note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements. None of these related party transactions
constitutes a connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction
of the Group as defined in and required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine members who are entitled to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 13 December 2018, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 11
December 2018 to Thursday, 13 December 2018, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares can be registered. All transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Union Registrars Limited at
Suites 3301-04, 33/F.,, Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's Road,
North Point, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 10 December
2018.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 July 2018 have been audited by
SHINEWING, who will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
appointment at the 2018 AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the 2018
AGM of the Company for the re-appointment of SHINEWING as auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Shi Qi
CHAIRLADY AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Hong Kong

30 October 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report
YR T

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

ko
Shine‘ZOing

TO THE MEMBERS OF TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ta Yang Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to 181, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 July
2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 July 2018,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements
which indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Valuation of investment properties

Valuation of inventories

Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables

Impairment assessment of deposits for acquisition of land use rights

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on page 109.

The key audit matter
RREREE

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group's
investment properties to be HK$102,442,000 as at 31
July 2018 with a revaluation gain of approximately
HK$252,000 for the year ended 31 July 2018 recorded in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Independent external valuations were obtained in
respect of the properties in order to support
management’s estimates.

EREMLFGT BEEEREVENR_Z-N\FLH
=+—B®OAFER 1024420005 T ARG B A&
BEEE_T - \FtA=+—HILFENEH K=
#)252,000787C - EEFYENBILIMBEENAERE
g it -

We have identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements
and the valuations are dependent on certain key
assumptions that require significant management
judgement including market unit rates of land, current
construction costs for building and depreciation rates.
BB REMELEZNSEREZEER  RERH
HG AU BHRERNEZHAGBERANETEEEE
EBELERABOERRER (BELHHATIHERS -
BFHNEMZERRRTEE) -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ERNARRZER

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties included assessing the valuation
methodology used and the appropriateness of the key assumptions
based on the public available facts and circumstances of the
property market in the People’s Republic of China. We have also
checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the input
data used.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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FEMAE
2B EMISRRM 27 RE 1B EFTBUR

Valuation of inventories

Refer to note 27 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on page 111.

The key audit matter
BRERSE

As at 31 July 2018, the Group maintained inventories of
approximately HK$46,404,000 net of allowance for
inventories of approximately HK$373,000.
RZZE-NF+tHA=+—0 EEENTFEHFE
#)46,404,00078 7T (HABR 17 B ##549373,000 87T ) °

We have identified the valuation of inventories as a key
audit matter because of their significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the involvement
of a significant management judgement or estimation.

BB FEHESNABREZEE  RESHELER
EUBMANEEN - WHRERNEREHE T -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BPNERNAERZEE

Our audit procedures were designed to challenge the assumptions
and critical judgements of the Group’s impairment assessment on
inventories and the management estimations or judgements on the
net realisable value of inventories based on the latest invoice prices
and current market conditions.

BN EZEFEERBR O EZTERRER TR -
# BSEEREFERENGEORELBRAGAREREERFE
AIEAIR S E R ST S AT -

\i

We have checked with the net realisable value and subsequent
utilisation for inventories subsequent to the end of the reporting
period and discussed with the management in respect of the
adequacy of the allowance made by the management based on
ageing analysis. We have challenged the assumptions and critical
judgements used by the management by assessing the reliability of
the management’s past estimates and taking into account the
ageing at year end and subsequent usage status after year end.
RBEHRRE  BAEBEFENAEZRFERLEER  Ant
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Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables

Refer to note 28 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages from 112 to 118.

The key audit matter
HREERSEE

As at 31 July 2018, trade and bills receivables and
consideration receivable from disposal of properties of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$97,580,000
and HK$103,571,000, respectively.
RZZE-N\FLtA=+—H EBESENEREZE
AEEREBEARBENERBRRES AN R
97,580,000 78 7T & 103,571,000 3 JT ©

We have identified impairment assessment of trade and
bills receivables and consideration receivable from
disposal of properties as a key audit matter because of
their significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the assessment of allowance for
impairment loss required significant management
estimations and judgement.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BPNERNAERZEE

Our audit procedures were designed to challenge the assumptions
and critical judgements of the Group’s impairment assessment on
trade and bills receivables and consideration receivable from
disposal of properties and the management estimations.
BMNBEZIETE LS BEXERERE SRR REIEEN
Ko E W3 R B B R E RT A4 Y R 5% 2 A 52 B DA SR B IR fE
5 e

We have discussed the indicators of possible impairment with the
management and, where such indicators were identified, assessed
the management’s impairment testing. We have discussed with the
management in respect of the adequacy of the provision of
impairment made by the management. We have challenged the
assumptions and critical judgements used by the management by
assessing the reliability of the management's past estimates and
taking into account the ageing at year end and cash received after
year end, as well as the recent creditworthiness of each debtor.
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Impairment assessment of deposits for acquisition of land use

rights

Refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on page 119.

The key audit matter
BRERSE

As at 31 July 2018, deposits for acquisition of land use
rights of the Group amounted approximately
HK$14,065,000. The management has concluded that
there is no impairment required in respect of the
deposits.

R-Z—N\FE+LtA=+—8 B£EKELHFEH
MRS A% 140650008 L EEEBEHNERA

BRI IEHIRE -

We have identified impairment assessment of deposits
for acquisition of land use rights as a key audit matter
because the assessment of allowance for impairment
loss required significant management estimations and
judgment. In addition, the seller took long time to
transfer the legal title of land use rights to the Group
and failed to meet the timeline as stated in the original
agreement.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BPNERNAERZEE

Our audit procedures were designed to challenge the assumptions
and critical judgments of the Group's impairment assessment on
deposits for acquisition of land use rights and the management
estimations.

BMNEZIETFE LR BESREMBBIMERENKRSRE
ATl B RER N BRI B A KR B IR B (5T -

We have discussed the indicators of possible impairment with the
management and, where such indicators were identified, assessed
the management’s impairment policy. We have challenged the
assumptions and critical judgments used by the management of
the Company taking into account the legal opinion issued by
independent lawyers and the fair value calculation of the land use
rights made by an independent valuer.
FMEREEREN WA LRAMEDNR - MMHE &5 %S
B5 - BIFHEE R ERREBER - 1S B KB ER 4 B8
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RIE IR E P RAR M AR HI B IR R A -



Independent Auditor’s Report

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
YR T

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
alsor

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
YR T

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Hon Kei, Anthony.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Hon Kei, Anthony

Practising Certificate Number: P05591

Hong Kong
30 October 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

FalRaR

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 HZE—ZT— \FtA=1+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-NE —E—+tF
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
MtaE TExT FET
Revenue Wz 9 377,160 400,500
Cost of sales SHE XA (294,303) (290,362)
Gross profit EF 82,857 110,138
Other operating income H &g A 9 111,372 23,538
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HEMAY (26,726) (35,531)
Administrative expenses THHX (122,455) (146,319)
Other expenses HEmEx 11 (5,738) (3,047)
Share of results of associates JE(EBE A R R FELE (77) (1,625)
Finance costs BB A 12 (23,746) (21,254)
Profit (loss) before tax BrE A A (E51E) 15,487 (74,100)
Income tax (expense) credit Frig®i () &R 13 (19,797) 40
Loss for the year FAEE 14 (4,310) (74,060)
Loss for the year attributable to: AT ALTRIEFAEE :

Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIEZ =N (3,756) (72,943)
Non-controlling interests IRV = (554) (1,117)
(4,310) (74,060)

Loss per share FREE 16
Basic (HK cents) R B (0.43) (843)
Diluted (HK cents) B (B40) (0.43) (843)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FElRarREfZEERR

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BZE—ZT— N\FtA=+—HItFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —+tF
HK$'000 HK$1000
FTER FAT
Loss for the year FAEE (4,310) (74,060)
Other comprehensive income EmEmEA
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to TgRERENDBEEER
profit or loss: EI’JI,E B :
Gain on revaluation of properties, net of tax Y5 E (i YEs (FOBRFIIER) 2,078 1414
Gain on revaluation of prepaid lease payments, A& I E s
net of tax (FOBRFRIER) 2,110 729
4,188 2,143
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to AREEEFHEEERD
profit or loss: HE
Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration of 8 Rl VAL B!
subsidiaries b i (4,787) -
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal of S B 2 N B B B [
associates i 5 f5a 5 118 =
Exchange differences arising on MEBINRIFE L)
translating foreign operations b H =58 (539) (3,942)
(5,208) (3,942)
Available-for-sale financial assets AfthEsmaE
Net gain arising on revaluation of available-for-sale FREGHAHLEREE
financial assets for the year BN F 3,807 837
Release of revaluation of available-for-sale financial HERBEDAHHES R
assets upon disposal BESMH (1,159) (4,473)
Reclassification adjustments for impairment loss A E BRERABERRE
included in the consolidated statement of HEF D HAE
profit or loss - 160
2,648 (3,476)
Share of other comprehensive income (expenses) of  [E{EHE & Nl E M ZE

associates WA (F i)

Share of exchange difference of associates FE(LEEE N A mE N =5 19 (42)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) for the year A E At 2 EURA (Fs2) 1,647 (5317)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year, FRNEEAT LT

net of income tax (FNBR 1S TL12) (2,663) (79,377)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year, J%T)\iﬁhfﬁi NEE RS

net of income tax, attributable to A (PR FT1S 18 )

Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZ V=N (2,109) (78,246)

Non-controlling interests FEPERR (554) (1,131)

(2,663) (79,377)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
REMBKALE

ASAT31JULY2018 R=ZBE—N\F+A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F e
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M et F&ET T
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMEE 19 171,954 249,971
Intangible assets EEE 20 383 383
Prepaid lease payments FEHAERIE 21 120,406 229,061
Investment properties WEYHE 22 102,442 92,575
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESREE 23 9,219 8,981
Interests in associates REEE N RIS 25 = 2,816
Deposits for acquisition of land use rights Ug B + st fF AR IZ & 26 14,065 13,037
418,469 596,824
Current assets RENEE
Inventories VEA=Y 27 46,404 35,540
Trade and other receivables FEUE Z R R E A
FEWFRIE 28 229,859 164,816
Prepaid lease payments FEHAERIE 21 4,824 4,820
Amount due from an associate i3 elin]i NI E L 30 = 65
Income tax recoverable Bl qEzECs) = 12
Held-to-maturity investments REZIEE 24 - 34,739
Held-for-trading investments BHIEEERE 31 582 680
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 32 192,888 105,985
474,557 346,657
Non-current assets classified as held forsale D AIFELENIERHEE 29 21,214 11,022
495,771 357,679
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables BN SRR KR HA
FE 3R 33 89,897 136,063
Amount due to a director FEf—RESIIAE 30 - 2,143
Amount due to an associate JES — B 2N B F0E 30 = 1,324
Loans from a related party —RBEFER 34 - 5,000
Loans from third parties EFE=FER 35 - 26,197
Income tax payable FERT PR HE 40,458 20,601
Secured bank borrowings BEMPRITER 36 322,605 32,542
452,960 223,870
Net current assets mBEEFE 42,811 133,809
Total assets less current liabilities BELBERIBEE 461,280 730,633
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MERAR

ASAT31JULY2018 R=ZBE—N\F+A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-NE —E—+tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KtaF FHET FHIT
Capital and reserves BARREE
Share capital A% A 37 87,118 87,118
Reserves it 355,055 357,164
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KA 1A A JE(LER 442,173 444,282
Non-controlling interests FEIE R RS 4,211 (396)
Total equity E=BE 446,384 443,886
Non-current liabilities EmEBaE
Secured bank borrowings BEMRITER 36 = 273,700
Deferred income EIEWA 38 3,453 3614
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 39 11,443 9,433
14,896 286,747
461,280 730,633

The consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 181 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 October 2018 and
are signed on its behalf by:

F77EEF 18 ENESVBHRRDEEEEN
“E-N\FTAZTRERKRENE - AT
JIEEREREE

Shi Qi
i

Director

EF
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Zhao Ang
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Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GeHEaERR

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BEZE-—ZT—NFLtA=+—HIEFE

AtT August 2016 R=F-7F)\A-A 18473 641454 (3380) (501.874) 126709 6383 26864 240 340 4 410509 653 411162
Lossfortheyear EhER - - = ) - = = - - - (298) () 74060)
Other comprehensive (expenses) FREREERR)MA
income forthe year:
Exchange diferences arsing on ranlating BEBMEHELD
forign operaions EfzE = = = - (92 - - - - - B L (94
(Gainfom revaluaton f propertes and NFREMEEE
prepidlease payments Efha - = = = - = 14 - - - 28 - 218
Net ganarising on revaluaton of FRERTRTESHAR
avalableorsal ienci assets ELNREEE
forthe year - - - - - 87 - = = = &7 - &
Releas ofrevauaton of avaleblefosale HERBBAHLE
finandal asets upon dsposal SHEEER - - - - - (4473 - - - - (4 - (#47)

Reciassfcation adjustments forimpaiment HAGABRRNAERR
Jossincluded nthe consoldaed statement HEN RER

of proftorloss - - - - - 160 - - - - 160 - 160
Shareof exchange diference ofasocites EEBERANES 28 - - - - ) - - - - - ) - )
Tota comprehenshe expenses) ERRE(RR)MAEE
income for the year = = = n983) (370 (3476) 283 - = = (78246 (131) (1931)
Disosal of nteestnasubsicay without ETHERENERTLE
change of control Note4]) —EHRARNER(HH ) - - 118 - - - - - - - 118 ] m
Isueofshates upon placing (ote 7] EERHTRA Ky 8645 104604 - - - - - - - - 113249 - 11329
Direct expenses o plcing RENEERS - (1.348) - - - - - - - - (149) - (1348)
A3y 2017 RoE-t£tA=1+-H 87118 4710 (326) (574817) 07 2907 2007 2140 B34 9 ) (3%) 4388
K : ‘_ - -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GeHaERR

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BZE=—ZT—N\FtA=+—HIFE

AT August 2017 R-2-rEN3-A g Ba) T 2907 2007 240 BAN » wm (95 43886
Lossfortheyear EhER = - - (3,756) - - - - - (3756) (554) 4310)
Othercomprehensive ncome expenses) FhEBIERA R :
forthe year
Exchange diferences rsng on ransiating BEBIRHELNES 28
foreign operatons - - - = (539) = = o = (539) o (539)
Release of exchange resene upon TEAMHBLAARER
deregitation ofsubsidiaries 3 - - - - (w781) - - - - (4787) - (4787)
Reease of exchange resene upon LEBENIRREENRRE
disposal of associates - - - - 118 - - - - 118 - 118
(Gainfom revaluaton f propertes and NEREMEEE
prepaidease payments Eftha - - - - - 4188 - - 4188 - 4188
Net ganarising o revaluaton of FRERTRTESHAR
avalabl-orsal ienci assets ELNREEE
forthe year - - - - 3,807 - - - 3,807 - 3,807
Release o evcluaton f avleble-forsale HERBETHEESR
finandalasets upon dsposal EEEf - - - - - (1159) - - - (1159) - (1159)
Shareof exchange difeenceof asociates EEBERANES 28 - - - - 19 - - - - 19 - 19
Total comprehensive (expenses)income FRAE (R MR
forthe year o = ol (3,756) (5,189) 2,648 4188 - - (2,109) (554) (2,663)
Relezseoftatutory resene upon TERAEATRREATRE
deregistration of subsidiaries - - - 2,586 = = o (2,586) - - -
Cepital contrbution fom non-controling KRR RS E
Inetestsubsidaies - - - - = = = = o 5161 5161
A3 July 208 R-E-\£tA=1-H 87,118 744710 (3,262) (575,987) 17,550 5,555 33,195 2420 30,825 L) LLYRVE] 421 446,384
i

82 | TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018




Notes:

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FEERgB=R

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HILFE

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between the capital contribution
received from (paid to) a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary and the
increase (decrease) in its shares of net asset value of that subsidiary.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the shares
repurchased which has been paid out of the distributable reserves of the
Company.

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
Company's subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10% of their after-tax-profit (after offsetting prior year losses) as
determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to equity owners.

Legal reserve

In accordance with Macau Commercial Code, the Company's subsidiary
incorporated in Macau is required to appropriate 25% of its net profit to a
legal reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of the subsidiary’s
registered capital. Legal reserve is not distributable to shareholders.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
REHERER

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RESEE
Profit (Loss) before tax FRELRTR A (E51E) 15,487 (74,100)
Adjustments for: FLAT S IBIEL A% -
Allowance for inventories FERE 252 -
Amortisation of deferred income ST U A 5 (168) (23)
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TR &R IA R 85 4,892 2912
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERERETE 23,695 17,745
Dividend income & S A (306) (1,742)
Fair value gain on investment properties LEMED A FERES (252) (250)
Fair value loss on held-for-trading investments RHEEERENA T AEREE 98 184
Finance costs A& A A 23,746 21,254
Gain on deregjistration of subsidiaries BH B B A Rl Ay Uk e (4,787) -
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHIESHEEN
financial assets Uz (1,223) (8,186)
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading investments HEREEERENKZ - (418)
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE - BE REED
plant and equipment Uz (41,100) (81)
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payment HEEAHEREA RS (42,019) =
Gain on disposal of non-current asset HEDBAFIELERN
classified as held for sale JEM BB E MW (7,604) =
Loss on disposal of associates HHE & N R AR 630 =
Government grants AT B & (451) (33)
Impairment loss recognised in respect RN ESREEER
of available-for-sale financial assets BIRE 1R = 160
Impairment loss recognised in respect of property, FYE -« BB MR IEER
plant and equipment BIRE 1R 5,010 .
Impairment loss recognised in respect of TR E R IER M
trade receivables BIEEE 251 1,402
Interest income FESKA (708) (2,202)
Investment loss from derivative financial S TANKREEIE
instruments - 2,469
Reversal of allowance for inventories B EfF B - (4,376)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised J2 [0] 1 EL h P SR IE SR A
in respect of other receivables REEE = (2,049)
Share of results of associates FEIR B N B EE 77 1,625
Waiver of other payables o E M e TR (704) (538)
Write-off of inventories FE#H = 744
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FEReRER

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 HZE—ZT— \FtA=1+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Operating cash flows before movements LEESEBEIA
in working capital KERERE (25,184) (45,503)
Increase in inventories FEEN (11,582) (2,338)
Decrease (increase) in trade FEUE 5 8RR KR oA
and other receivables FE W R IE R A (30 34,545 (50,467)
(Decrease) increase in trade JEFTE SRR R HEAM
and other payables JEAT IR OR ) 380 (43,103) 49,385
Cash used in operations AREERSNRE (45,324) (48,923)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid Eﬁ‘é/aﬂ{ﬁﬁ = (10)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax refunded IR B B S FRE T - 7
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES ARKEETHNESFE (45,324) (48,926)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME - BER&HER
equipment and prepaid lease payment TEAT S RIE K FT1S FOE 145,396 10,637
Redemption from held-to-maturity investments BRFERZIHIRE 34,739 31,073
Proceeds from disposal of non-current HESEARIELED
asset classified as held-for-sale ERBEEMFTS KA 16,528 -
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale HERHEESHEEN
financial assets FT{S I8 3,710 20,567
Proceeds from disposal of associates LB AR ATS IR 2,246 -
Interest received BHFHE 813 1,938
Dividends received from available-for-sale B At i & & Bl & A U
financial assets s 2 214 1,233
Repayment from an associate — A A AR 65 -
Dividends received from held-for-trading B EEEREWEHAR S
investments 15 50
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEMZE  BEREZE (28,899) (169,308)
Deposits paid for acquisition of land use rights Yo iE + thfE IR E (MRS (1,028) (971)
Purchase of prepaid lease payments BEEMNEERE - (233,588)
Purchase of held-to-maturity investments BERERIHRE - (65,882)
Investment paid for derivative financial instruments ENITAE ST ARNKE - (14,222)
Investment in an associate EA*F'EJH%%’?”D\ AIHIRE - (1,567)
Withdrawal upon maturity of structure AT IRITF B B B RS
bank deposits FREX - 16,934
Withdrawal upon maturity of short-term RS BRER 1T 17 SR B HRRF R BN
bank deposits - 4,552
Proceeds from disposal of held-for-trading HEREE BIRENE
investments FIE - 3,222
Purchase of intangible assets BEELEE - (379)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES RE (AR)REZEN
RERHE 173,799 (395,711)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FEReRER

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHIT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AEEE
Repayment of loans from third parties FE=FEFER (26,197) (3243)
Interest paid BETHE (25,313) (17,230)
(Repayment of) raised loans from a related party (—RBEFEFER)KRE
—BAERTNESEER (5,000) 5,000
(Repayment to) advance from a director (M—BEFER) KB
—BESHBK (2,143) 2,143
(Repayment to) advance from an associate (M—MEEARER) KRG
— B N RV (1,324) 782
New bank borrowings raised ESRITER 16,000 277,844
Capital injection from non-controlling — I E A A AR 2 Y
interest of a subsidiary EE 5,161 -
Cash received from government grants BB #EER 451 33
Proceeds from placing shares of the Company [ YNEI L Sl O T B O - 113,249
Direct expenses of placing BLEMEERS = (1,348)
Raised loans from third parties REE=ZATHNEEER - 29,167
Proceeds from disposal of interest in a ETRREFIEHENIBRT
subsidiary without change of control HE— B A RERA
FriS kIR = 200
Repayment of secured bank borrowings BHEFPRITETERK - (7,740)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (AR)REBMEZTHNRLFE (38,365) 398,857
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH REeERESEEWIEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Rid) F58 90,110 (45,780)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FUNRERBESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 105,985 154,094
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES EREFHTE (3,207) (2329
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FERNEEREESEEY -
END OF THE YEAR, represented by LASRITHEB RIS 27
bank balances and cash 192,888 105,985
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HILFE

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the Annual Report. The Company
and its subsidiaries (hereafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in manufacturing and sale of silicone rubber
and related products and provision of healthcare and hotel services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKS"). Other than those subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), Macau and Indonesia whose
functional currencies are Renminbi (“‘RMB”), Macau Pataca (“MOP”)
and Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR") respectively, the functional currency
of the Company and its other subsidiaries is HKS.

At 31 July 2018, the directors of the Company consider the ultimate
holding company of the Company to be Lyton Maison Limited
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI").

Going concern basis

During the year ended 31 July 2018, the Group incurred a net loss of
approximately HK$4,310,000 and net cash operating outflow of
approximately HK$45,324,000.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
of the Group in light of the fact that the Group has breached the
covenant requirement of a secured bank borrowing of
approximately HK$273,700,000 as at 31 July 2018, which may cause
such amount to become immediately repayable. Details of which are
set out in note 36. As at 31 July 2018, the full amount of secured
bank borrowing was classified as current liability.
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1.

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company have performed an assessment of the
Group's future liquidity and cash flows, taking into account that the
Group is negotiating with the relevant bank (i) on restructuring the
respective borrowing based on the secured sold and unsold
properties; and (i) no action will be taken by the relevant bank to
demand immediate repayment of the portion of bank borrowing
relating to the secured unsold properties. However, written
agreement of waiver for the breach of loan covenant has not been
obtained as at the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements.

The directors of the Company consider that it is highly probable to
obtain waiver from the relevant bank such that the bank will not
demand immediate repayment of the borrowing in relation to those
secured unsold properties. Accordingly, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to satisfy its present requirements for at
least the next twelve months from the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements. The directors of the Company are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS(s)"), amendments and interpretations (“Int(s)"),
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA").

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle:
Amendments to HKFRS 12

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except as described below, the application of other new and revised
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial performance and positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)") (Continued)

Amendment to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require entities to provide disclosures that enable
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes. The amendments do not prescribe a
specific method to fulfill the new disclosure requirements. However,
the amendments indicate that one way is to provide a reconciliation
between the opening and closing balances for liabilities arising from
financing activities.

The application of amendments to HKAS 7 has resulted in additional
disclosures on the Group’s financing activities, especially a
reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in the
consolidated statement of financial position for liabilities arising from
financing activities is provided in note 42. On initial application of
the amendments, the Group is not required to provide comparative
information for preceding periods. Apart from the additional
disclosure in note 42, the directors of the Company considered that
these amendments have had no impact on the Group's consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRS 9 (2014)
HKFRS 15
HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40

HK (IFRIC)-Int 22

HK (IFRIC)-Int 23

Financial Instruments!

Revenue from Contracts with Customers'

Leases?

Insurance Contracts’

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle?

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Employee Benefits

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures?
Transfers of Investment Property '

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration’
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

} Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
% Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
4 Effective date not yet been determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as described
below, the application of other new and revised HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the results and the financial position of the

Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 was
amended in 2010 and includes the requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition. In
2013, HKFRS 9 was further amended to bring into effect a substantial
overhaul of hedge accounting that will allow entities to better reflect
their risk management activities in the financial statements. A
finalised version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 to incorporate all the
requirements of HKFRS 9 that were issued in previous years with
limited amendments to the classification and measurement by
introducing a “fair value through other comprehensive income”
("FVTOCI") measurement category for certain financial assets. The
finalised version of HKFRS 9 also introduces an “expected credit loss”
model for impairment assessments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 (2014) are described as follows:

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKFRS 9 (2014) to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held
within a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms of
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, are measured at FVTOCI. All
other debt investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting periods.
In addition, under HKFRS 9 (2014), entities may make an
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair
value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in
other comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

—NFLA=+—HILFE

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9
(2014) requires that the amount of change in the fair value of
the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability's credit risk in other comprehensive income would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities attributable to
changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the
entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through profit or loss was
presented in profit or loss.

In the aspect of impairment assessments, the impairment
requirements relating to the accounting for an entity’s
expected credit losses on its financial assets and commitments
to extend credit were added. Those requirements eliminate
the threshold that was in HKAS 39 for the recognition of credit
losses. Under the impairment approach in HKFRS 9 (2014), it is
no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before
credit losses are recognised. Instead, expected credit losses
and changes in those expected credit losses should always be
accounted for. The amount of expected credit losses is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition and, consequently, more timely
information is provided about expected credit losses.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

2‘

AT RESTHEEMBRE
ER([ERMBWEER ] )

EHEMERRERNIHTIREETE
B E R (B)

ERMBRERAFEIR(ZE—NE)[£

BMIA|#)
METERETEAFEYEREIEBEA
EENCREBENS  BEUHRES
LRFF(ZT—WF)RE  %Ze
REEREEERBREHmMIIBHA
FEESHHEAELME2EREFE
B BRIEREb 2P ERZIE
BENEERRESFESEENIE
A SFHEALAER R - £RLA
BEREEER A“’“@Jﬁﬁ%lﬁ(ﬂ’] NTE
BHHETSEHHERER - B
%Ei%@%iéﬁﬂ‘lfﬁs%ﬁ ETEABRA
ARG EREANRENSREE
HAFESEEHEREINBEF 2
5l

SURERHEME - AREFTIMABRE
—HEBHESRHEERREHREER
EHNEREEERMNETEIET AN
BWERTE - ZFREHEREBEE
E'J%S%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁwf‘é%?ﬁEI’JF'EM.m e
RIEFEVHREENE (=
—OF) MRETA ﬁ/,\ﬁﬁf*%
%#%’*E?éﬁTﬁE%F%ES?@ o B
K2 A—EHEHREEBERNURZ

ERHEEBENEPAR - RHE

ERBRSENSRERHEH - AR
BR B ¥ S HERIA R E B R R &
fttmEEE iRt A REREEER
HE R



2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) introduces a new model which is more closely
aligns hedge accounting with risk management activities
undertaken by companies when hedging their financial and
non-financial risk exposures. As a principle-based approach,
HKFRS 9 (2014) looks at whether a risk component can be
identified and measured and does not distinguish between
financial items and non-financial items. The new model also
enables an entity to use information produced internally for
risk management purposes as a basis for hedge accounting.
Under HKAS 39, it is necessary to exhibit eligibility and
compliance with the requirements in HKAS 39 using metrics
that are designed solely for accounting purposes. The new
model also includes eligibility criteria but these are based on
an economic assessment of the strength of the hedging
relationship. This can be determined using risk management
data. This should reduce the costs of implementation
compared with those for HKAS 39 hedge accounting because
it reduces the amount of analysis that is required to be
undertaken only for accounting purposes.

HKFRS 9 (2014) will become effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted.

The directors of the Company have performed a preliminary analysis
of the Group's financial instruments as at 31 July 2018 based on the
fact and circumstances existing at that date. The directors of the
Company have assessed the impact of adoption of HKFRS 9 (2014)
on the Group’s results and financial position, including the
classification categories and the measurement of financial assets,
and disclosures, as follows:

2.

BRI RESTHEEMBERSE
A (EFEMEREEN] @

EHEMERRERNIHTIREEBTE
B IIRE R (8)

BRMBRELENFIR(ZE—OF) (&

BMTHI|(#&)
BEVBHREENEIHR(ZF—O
FIBIAFRN - ZRAFEE P S
BRIEFREI AR EEHRENS
BN SE S B R B AT 1T B0 [ B B 32
A - MER—RRAMINE - BEM
BHREENFE K (T —F)ZFR
R EB DR AR TS R E - B
ERERABMIESTRIBR LR
7 ° SRR AP E N A AR E
REEMRAENERMERE F &R
BEHER - REFE S ERIF39
% ALRERERFESHEMNE
HEBTRENAETE S ENFED
SREVEERBTE - IRATEHEER
RA - B FERTIERN LA R R
SREETTRRIE R © LAl A AR
ERBIRETE - BEBGFERF 39
SREEIh e ERIEARLLE - IR A
EARD TEFRE B NMAETTH
DITHE - METHARER R

BERMBHREENE R (T —F)
REE-NF-A—BRZBFARNFE
HAR AR - BrMRRifER -

ARABEZECRER-_F-—NFELA
=t—BFEENSERERL  HAKER
ZEMERTEETONHEOT - ARAE
FEHERATEMBREENF MR (=
T—MF) HAKRERE KPR EER
TE BRIREENDBEREURRK
R

e L BT VN
-z nFr | 93



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MERRMNE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

2.

94

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Classification and measurement

The Group's available-for-sale investments, including those
currently stated at cost less impairment, will either be
measured as fair value through profit or loss or be designated
with irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive
income the changes in fair value. For the available-for-sale
equity investments that are not held for trading and are
currently stated at cost less impairment, the Group has made
an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive
income the changes in fair value.

Impairment

The directors of the Company expect to apply the simplified
approach and record lifetime expected credit losses that are
estimated based on the present value of all cash shortfalls over
the remaining life of all of its trade receivables. The application
of the expected credit loss model may result in earlier
recognition of credit loss for trade and other receivables and
increase the amount of impairment allowance recognised for
these items.

The directors of the Company will perform a more detailed
analysis which considers all reasonable and supportable
information for the estimation of the effect of adoption of
HKFRS 9 (2014). Based on the preliminary assessment, the
directors of the Company expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9
(2014) will not have other material impact on amounts
reported in the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Thus, HKFRS 15 introduces a model that applies to contracts with
customers, featuring a contract-based five-step analysis of
transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. The five steps are as follows:

(i) Identify the contract with the customer;
(i) Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
(i) Determine the transaction price;

(iv)  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations;
and

(v}  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

HKFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with
customers.

HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and
the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 15 will become effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted.

The major sources of revenue of the Group are sales of goods and
provision of services. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised for each
of the performance obligations when control over a good or service
is transferred to a customer. The directors of the Company have
preliminarily assessed each type of the performance obligations and
consider that performance obligations are similar to the current
identification of separate revenue components under HKAS 18
Revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MERRMNE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

Furthermore, HKFRS 15 requires the transaction price be allocated to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis, which may affect the timing and amounts of revenue
recognition, and results in more disclosures in the consolidated

financial statements.

However, the directors of the Company expect that the adoption of
HKFRS 15 will not have a material impact on the timing and amounts
of revenue recognised based on the existing business model of the

Group as at 31 July 2018.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification of
lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements

of both lessors and lessees.

In respect of the lessee accounting, the standard introduces a single
lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for all leases with the lease term of more than 12 months,

unless the underlying asset has a low value.

At the commencement date of the lease, the lessee is required to
recognise a right-of-use asset at cost, which consists of the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liability, plus any lease
payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received, the initial estimate of restoration
costs and any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee. A lease
liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease

payments that are not paid at that date.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Lease
liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount
to reflect interest on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payment made, and remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to
reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments. Depreciation and
impairment expenses, if any, on the right-of-use asset will be
charged to profit or loss following the requirements of HKAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment, while interest accrual on lease

liability will be charged to profit or loss.

96 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

2‘

AT RESTHEEMBRE
ER([ERMBWEER ] )

EHEMERRERNIHTIREETE
B E R (B)

ERMBHREENEISHIREAT/EHN
Mz (&)

BEAN - BAEM IR E ERF 155 BRKHR
SHERBRALSBUEEEENRERHE
MEL HAEFEUSEHRIANER LS
B UEHSEAMBHRRIREZREE -

R ARBEFEHAR T N\FLA
=+ BARABTEVBEREERIE 155K
TEHRBEAKERRAEZHRAERLN
WHRE N ERELEETATE -

BERNBREEE 1635 [HE
BRPBREERNFE 16 AEE L2 &
BIARE R A RFEBAMBREZE
B A RE—EREEE -

MABASEEEMS » ZEASIAE—
EBAGTREEERN REATEAREE
e+ —EANMEHERREENRE
& - AR EEEEREAIBRI) -

RS B - A& AR A TERE
REEE BREEEABZNTESRE
MERFA B EISk 2 AT R A AER Z E
ARAENK - HRETAERRZHEES
MR EEHEE R AR KA A FTE 4 2 [
e EZEKA - HERBENFEREEN
REAXZNE B2 REMRER -

Hig - ERBEEERKANRERNRFTE
RAEMRFHRERBRE - WHRERMEHR
RECHEABFLRAE HEARZH
B ETAREBENEEEARREE
BEZAE - BBEIRAREE N RRAE
HZBEMNR AREREHFEREE
AR BRAE R EF AR EEE R SRR
B cEEBREMENK - EFRREEZ
FERBEZER (WA BRBEEGTE
A 1657 (5% - BFE K&l ZREFA
B MEERBEZEANERRERA
OBR ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17 Leases.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating
leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases
differently.

HKFRS 16 will supersede the current lease standards including HKAS
17 Leases and the related Interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019 with early application permitted provided that the
entity has applied HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
at or before the date of initial application of HKFRS 16.

As at 31 July 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of approximately HK$8,786,000 as disclosed in note
46. A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will
meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and hence the Group
will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in
respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-
term leases upon the application of HKFRS 16. In addition, the
application of new requirements may result changes in the
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above. The
directors of the Company are in the process to determine the
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to be recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position, after taking into
account all practical expedients and recognition exemption under
HKFRS 16. The directors of the Company expect that the adoption of
HKFRS 16 will not have material impact on the Group's result but
certain portion of these lease commitments will be required to be
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain investment properties and

financial instruments that are measured at fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out

below.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group
categorised the fair value measurements into three levels, based on

the characteristics of inputs, as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market price in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is

directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is

unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by

reviewing their respective fair value measurement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its financial statements
using accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to that
subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the consolidated
financial statements to ensure conformity with the group's
accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over the
investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (jii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group's returns.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
of the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

3.

EEEHBER R
FEGHEEHIIMT -

mERE

FEMBRRBEARERARRZEGIH
ER(EMBAR) MMBREK o HHE
NEIAFEFRA RGE P BHRERRARBUS
AT ZBUR S REHAERAZ G EE
REEMBHRE  ENREGEMBER
KRB ARNMBRRETEEHE
NHERENEAKENEETEEK

EATERT » NEBEESZEGE: ()
HEEHRITERED ()1 ERREBAHM
SEREHRNFHE RO AR IERN
K (i) BEEREHREHSNENTE
AEEAREZEREER °

EEENBERREA XA %S
TEAEFR AR ETERHRES - K
RAEEHERTEHREHR -

Bt 2 B S 55 [ ENAS 7% M B X B A 4R o6
RERBREA AR IRAKBEREZN
B AR EIER T HAE AR e

MBRRMNKRARFMY - B AEBERSE
HiEz AR EAREE S HESZNE AR
Z B IS AGREIERR o

MEARNBREREMEERARNSHEK
BOFEBERARRER A RIEERES
PN N =) NN E
BARSERB R - BB & 8B
BB o

REREZEARLT

-z nzrm | 99



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MERRMNE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

3.

100

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control of those policies.

The Group's investments in associates, are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method. Under
the equity method, investments in associates are initially recognised
at cost. The Group's share of the profit or loss and changes in the
other comprehensive income of the associates are recognised in
profit or loss and other comprehensive income respectively after the
date of acquisition. If the Group's share of losses of an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, which determined
using the equity method together with any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate, the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are provided for, and a liability is recognised,
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

If an associate uses accounting policies other than those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
adjustments are made to make the associate’s accounting policies
conform to those of the Group when the associate’s financial
statements are used by the Group in applying the equity method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate is recognised as
goodwill and is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after
reassessment, is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

After application of the equity method, including recognising the
associate’s losses (if any), the Group determines whether it is
necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect
to its investment in the associate. Goodwill that forms part of the
carrying amount of an investment in an associate is not separately
recognised. The entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment in
the associate. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised to
the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the investment ceases to be an associate upon the Group
losing significant influence over the associate, the Group
discontinues to apply equity method and any retained interest is
measured at fair value on that date which is regarded as its fair value
on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS 39.
Any difference between the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate and
the carrying amount of the investment at the date the equity
method was discontinued is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that investment is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings on
the same basis as it would have been required if the investee had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group’s ownership interest in an associate is reduced, but
the Group continues to apply the equity method, the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest is reclassified to profit or loss if that gain or loss would be
required to be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associate are recognised in consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The
Group's share in the associate’s gains or losses resulting from these
transactions is eliminated.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for goods sold and services rendered in the normal
course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following

conditions are satisfied:

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods;

the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably).

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each
element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that
both elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as prepaid lease payments in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair
value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (ie. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution plans/state-managed retirement
benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect
of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through
sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for such investment properties are measured in
accordance with the general principles set out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based
on the expected manner as to how the property will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment
property when there is a change in use, as evidenced by end of
owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and
the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in properties
revaluation reserve. The properties revaluation reserve in respect of
that item will be transferred directly to retained earnings when it is
derecognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. Such classification requires the
asset must be available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such
asset and its sale is highly probable. Management must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of

classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs of

disposal.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a

prospective basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses (see the accounting policy in respect of

impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Land use rights

Payment for obtaining land use rights is considered as operating
lease payment. Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, amortisation is
charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss over the period
of the rights using the straight-line method.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are calculated using weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as
defined above.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the four
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL"), loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments
and available-for-sale financial assets (“AFS”). The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis.

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets classified as at FVTPL, of
which interest income is included in net gains or losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL has two subcategories, including financial
assets held for trading and those designated as at FVTPL on initial
recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in
fair value arising from remeasurement recognised directly in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets and is included in the other operating income. Fair
value is determined in the manner described in Note 8.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, amount due from an associate and bank
balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment loss (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that the
Group's management has the positive intention and ability to hold
to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity
investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment loss (see accounting
policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as
AFS or are not classified as financial assets at FVTPL, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as AFS financial
assets and are traded in an active market are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Other changes in the carrying
amount of AFS financial assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of
investments revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of
or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

AFS financial assets (Continued)

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group's right to receive the dividends is established.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an
active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators
of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets
are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that,
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the financial assets have been affected.

For an AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to be

objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
and principal payments; or

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

3.

e MEBRRME

—NFLA=+—HILFE

FESBE D)
SHIAE)

TEEE(F)

AR E S A E ()

AfHERSE TANKRSNAEB B
BB BRI B IO 1R e P RERR

FEAEAR] )R BB T 45 30 8 117 35 3R (B S A 7] 52
W EAFENATHHOEESREN SR
S HIRIE R ANRE R C BRI R EE AT &
(RTXERERMEENREBRN G
K)o

T B ER B EEE

TRIEE (RATHESIBRIL AR R AEIEH
TREERIMNNEREARTEESRE
TR - METBEEBRET REENMG
FIARKRERER —HILIHR VT ER
TREERBENZEHMRIZE Bl
mﬂé?ﬁ?ﬁﬂjfﬁﬁzﬁ

BBAHEERSREMNS  ZREWN
FERERBEAEQATEANRHIFTETK
ERREA -

MAAEHEMEREENS
BB

F BEARERE

BOTASIXRZEFHREAWERAE

231

B PIINARERN SEEER
MERAE : X

ERAR A R E LT TEEAR

=
FMBREMERZEMEEREE
B o

REREZEARLT 115

T \EER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MERRMNE

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

3.

116

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and other
receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit
period, observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When trade
receivables are considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative
gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period in which the
impairment takes place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 HE=Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that
the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on AFS equity investments will not be reversed
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an
impairment loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in investments revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debts and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts due
to an associate and a director, loans from third parties and a related
party and secured bank borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form as integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual rights to
the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve is recognised in
profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the Group’s
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or the cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures
made in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

Going concern and liquidity

The assessment of the going concern assumptions involves making
judgement by the directors of the Company, at a particular point of
time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company consider that the
Group has ability to continue as going concern and the major events
or conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that individually
or collectively may cast significant doubt about the going concern
assumptions are set out in note 1.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment
properties, the directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely through
sale is rebutted.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account their
estimated residual values. The determination of the useful lives and
residual values involves management’s estimation based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of the relevant assets
of similar nature and function. The Group assesses annually the
residual value and the useful life of the property, plant and
equipment and if the expectation differs from the original estimate,
such a difference may impact the depreciation in the year and the
estimate will be changed in the future period.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments

The impairment loss for property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments was recognised for the amounts by which the
carrying amounts exceed their recoverable amounts, in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy when impairment indicator is
identified on those assets. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations and fair value less
cost to sell. The value-in-use calculations require the use of estimates
such as the cash flows projections and pre-tax discount rates. In
determining the fair values, an independent professional valuer
assesses the significant unobservable input by reference to market
data and takes into consider certain estimates of market conditions.

As at 31 July 2018, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments are approximately
HK$171,954,000 and HK$125,230,000 respectively net of
accumulated impairment losses recognised of approximately
HK$103,262,000 and HK$2,010,000 respectively.

As at 31 July 2017, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments are approximately
HK$249,971,000 and HK$233,881,000 respectively net of
accumulated impairment losses recognised of approximately
HK$ 112,884,000 and HKS$2,010,000 respectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 July 2018 at their fair values of
approximately HK$102,442,000 (2017: HK$92,575,000). In
determining the fair values, an independent professional valuer
assesses the significant unobservable input by reference to market
data and takes into consideration certain estimates of market
conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the Group's
investment properties and corresponding adjustments to the
amount of loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes the allowance for inventories based on
assessments of the net realisable value of inventories. An allowance
is applied to inventories where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the net realisable value is lower than the costs of
inventories. The identification of obsolete inventories requires the
use of judgement and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of
the inventories. Where the actual outcome in future is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value
of inventories and allowance write-back in the period in which such
estimate has been changed. As at 31 July 2018, the carrying value of
inventories is approximately HK$46,404,000 (net of accumulated
allowance of approximately HK$373,000) (2017: HKS$35,540,000 (net
of accumulated allowance of approximately HK$116,000)).

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade and other
receivables

The Group makes impairment based on assessment of the
recoverability of trade and other receivables. The Group makes its
estimates based on the aging of its trade and other receivables
balances, debtors’ creditworthiness and historical write-off
experience. If the financial condition of its debtors was deteriorated
and resulted in an impairment of their ability to make payments,
impairment loss may be required. As at 31 July 2018, the carrying
amount of trade receivables is approximately HK$97,580,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of approximately HK$976,000) (2017:
HK$113,338,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
approximately HKS$1,430,000)). During the year ended 31 July 2018,
impairment loss on trade receivables amounting to approximately
HK$251,000 (2017: HKS1,402,000) has been recognised.

As at 31 July 2018, the carrying amount of consideration receivables
from disposal of properties is approximately HK$103,571,000 (2017:
nil). During the year ended 31 July 2018, no impairment loss on
consideration receivables from disposal of properties has been
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of deposits for acquisition of land use rights

The Group’s management assesses whether deposits for acquisition
of land use rights have any indication of impairment, in accordance
with relevant accounting policy stated in Note 3. As at 31 July 2018,
the Group's management considered that there is no impairment
indication after taking into account the legal opinion issued by
independent lawyers and the fair value calculation of the land use
rights valued by an independent professional valuer, the carrying
amount of deposits for acquisition of land use rights is approximately
HK$ 14,065,000 (2017: HK$13,037,000).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank balances and
cash, secured bank borrowings, loans from a related party and third
parties and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves. The directors of the
Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As a part of
this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issue and the issue of new debts.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. £FMIR
Categories of financial instruments LRI T ANER
2018 2017
—B-N\fF —F—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial Assets TRMEE
Fair value through profit or loss AT EYIEBRI RS s AR IR
Held-for-trading investments BIEEBIRE 582 630
Held-to-maturity investments BEELEEE = 34,739
Loans and receivables E R W IE
(including bank balances and cash) (BHERITESEIRS) 406,958 236,237
AFS financial assets A ESREE 9,219 8,981
Financial Liabilities cHAasE
At amortised cost TR S R AN 392,606 441,823
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 7. MEERMEZRHBERBEK
POLICIES
The Group’s major financial instruments include held-to-maturity REEMTIZSRTAREFEEE R
investments, amount due from associate, AFS financial assets, trade & EREEARIFIE  AIHEESME
and other receivables, held-for-trading investments, bank balances B RIE SR A M KGRI - B E
and cash, secured bank borrowings, loans from third parties and a BEERE  RBITEBEIRE GIREET
related party and trade and other payables (including trade and bills B BE=AR—BEEFTERAREN
payables, accrued expenses and other payables). Details of these BHBERREMENFIE(BIEEMNE SR
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks R ENFER - BRI X R HME R
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how 1H) - ZE e T ENFBENSBBEM TR
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages B ITXHEYHEZEem T AB@ANER
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are MR EZERBORE BEEEE
implemented on a timely and effective manner. REEEZERRE - LARRE] REFA R
FEUEE 1
Currency risk B mE ks
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures AEEEHRSGEERR - AERRIRE
arise from sales or purchases by several subsidiaries of the Company ARalZEHBARINAE B M T A
in currencies other than those subsidiaries’ functional currencies. In SN EHEHEITHI S B SRS o hoh - AT
addition, certain portion of the AFS financial assets, held-to-maturity TESMEE  FHEZIHKRE BEE
investments, held-for-trading investments, trade and other BERE - BWE SRR E MR RIE
receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables and RITHEBRRIRE  ENEBEZRFRHAE
secured bank borrowings are denominated in currencies other than NRIBBAREERBITERPES TEHD
the functional currencies of the entities to which they relate. TILAMERA B RE N RE BB AN B HERTHE ©
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated REBUIINEFENEERBERRSH
assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as follows: HRAREEA T ¢
Assets Liabilities
BE =F
2018 2017 2018 2017
—EBE-N\E —ZT—+F ZB-NFE —ZT—+F
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
Frx T Frx T
United States Dollars ("US$”) E{E )] 12,721 15,205 3,635 4,035
Euro (‘EUR") BT (BT ) 5 502 - .
Japanese Yen (“JPY") BE(BHED 228 529 - 320
New Taiwan Dollars ("NTD") #at(Hal) 38,438 74,342 133 150
RMB AR 13,241 13,272 - 50
RESEZRBRBRAT 125
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7.

126

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the directors of the Company continuously monitor
the related foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in USS$, EUR,
JPY, NTD and RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2017: 5%)
increase and decrease in functional currency of the relevant group
entity (i.e. mainly HKS and RMB) against the relevant foreign
currencies. 5% (2017: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated items and adjusts
their translation at the year end for a 5% (2017: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in loss
where respective functional currency strengthens 5% (2017: 5%)
against the relevant currency. For a 5% (2017: 5%) weakening of
respective functional currency against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss for the year and
other equity, and the balances below would be negative.
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E==_grt:::} ab 1=

TRFAVNAEELHEEREEBNINGES
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FE R el k5% (= Z — 4 1 5%) B 8%
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R - SURE D ITEBIEUINE EER
REEEE  WHREERH%(ZZE—+F :
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R EHSBETEEREBEER 3
EEBFE%(ZF—EF : 5%) FAENE
o WAL B R AR E MR E % (=
T—+F :5%)  BIEFEEERAMER
BRRHERERRBZE - MmN XAEAERA
BEH -

uUss$ EUR JPY NTD RMB
Ev BT H e ARM
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
TFHEIT T T T T

Loss after tax Briiiz g8
— 2018 s SR I\ 15 2 1 504 761
— 2017 =P — P e 188 226 1 976 760

In view of the pegged rate between HKS and USS, the directors of
the Company do not expect there is a material effect by any changes
in movement in value of US$ against HKS.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its
variable-rate deposits with banks and certain secured bank
borrowings and is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to its fixed-rate short-term bank deposits, loans from a
related party and third parties and certain bank borrowings. To
mitigate the impact of interest rate fluctuations, the Group
continually assesses and monitors the exposure to interest rate risk.

The Group's exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities is
detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point (2017: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates have been 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
loss for the year would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$87,000 (2017: HKS112,000).
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7.

128

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in
listed AFS financial assets and held-for-trading investments. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks. In addition, the Group has appointed
a special team to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging
the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting period.

If the prices of the respective equity securities have been 5% (2017:
5%) higher/lower:

— loss for the year ended 31 July 2018 would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$29,000 (2017: HK$34,000) as a result of
the changes in fair values of held-for-trading investments; and

— investments revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$461,000 (2017: HK$449,000) as a result of
the changes in fair value of listed AFS financial assets.

Credit risk

As at 31 July 2017, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group
does not provide any guarantees that would expose the Group to
credit risk.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

7‘

MIEREEEE R R )

HtE %

AEERKRERELMARLESREE
RIFEEBREMAXREBRER - &
BESBFERAREETRNKEEASE
IR R o SN - AEREE X 5 5B
ERERAR YR ETEREZEL
FrAS e R -

BREDN
AT B8R E D AT T ARIR 3R & B R P AR
B ER RN EE

i E B AEHFNER LK% (=
T—+14F : 5%) :

— HEZ-)\FtA=+—HLEFE
HEBHEAREEEREN QA FESZ
Bk, AN49290008 T (==
—£F 1 3400087C) &

— RESMHFHEESECSLETAIHRKES

BEENATFEZES ML N, SR H
461,00078 70 ( ZZT —+ 4 : 44900076
JLT) °

EERME

RZZ—+tF+tA=+—8 AEEHAY
FIRTEEMSAKRERIMBEERDY
RRfEERR  REHEFBRRKRMT
HHECHERAMBEENREE - ~A&E L
BERFETIERAEEAZEERROE
1% o



7.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is
mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 33% (2017: 28%) of the total
trade and bills receivables as at 31 July 2018.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 12% (2017: 23%) and
27% (2017: 48%) of the total trade and bills receivables are due from
the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

The credit risk on short-term bank deposits, bank balances and held-
to-maturity investments is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants. During the year ended 31 July 2018, the loan covenants
were breached. Details are set out in note 36. The following table
details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the
reporting period.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 7. HMZERISETEEERBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) RENESRERE (&)

At31 July 2018 RZE-\FtA=1+—H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEFTA S RIEE
Trade and other payables EREFRARIER
R 70,001 - - - 70,001 70,001
Secured bank borrowings BEAFTER 322,744 - - - 322,744 322,605

392,745 - - - 392,745 392,606

At31July 2017 RZZ-+&£+A=1+-H

""'i: Rl ‘-'Non denvanvefnanqal-habdlnes 3Fﬂ$§1ﬂﬁi e

= E - 100917 100917
F - Rl o [ 134
, T 218 2143
1 RAR. - SO 5000
g P T T 26197

= " W Yo Ny L
53445 0040 111698 389,155 306,242

»,-' _ ¢ ) '

Z . K“'s.}'.‘-"-_.—_ 1189761 53445 170040 111698 524944 183

- o "-.___: ;1"-‘,,__',-___
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Secured bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “within one year or on demand” time band in the
above maturity analysis. At 31 July 2018, the carrying amounts of
these bank borrowings amounted to approximately HK$322,605,000
(2017: HK$32,542,000). The directors of the Company believe that
such bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in note 36. The aggregate
principal and interest cash outflows with amount to approximately
HK$384,227,000 (2017: HK$32,622,000).

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of held-for-trading investments and listed securities
classified as AFS financial assets is calculated using quoted prices.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values
due to their immediate or short-term maturities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial assets that are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period for
recurring measurement, grouped into level 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance to the
Group's accounting policy.

Fair value as at Fair value as at

Financial assets 31July 2018 31 July 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
+tA=t+-H +tA=t+-AH
SREE WD FE WAYE AFEER
Listed equity securities classified as HK$9,219,000 HK$8,981,000 Level 1
AFS financial assets in the
consolidated statement of
ﬂnanda\ position
ARMBRRARDERAH 9,219,000/ 7T 8,981,000 E—E
ﬁ%%mﬂéﬁéﬂﬁtmﬂﬂiﬁﬁ
Listed equity securities classified as HK$582,000 HK$680,000  Level 1
held-for-trading investments in
the consolidated statement of
financial position
PR A BB R DB ARFHE 582,000 7T 680000/8TC HE—E

BEREAN EHBRAES

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy during
the years ended 31 July 2018 and 2017.
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Fair value hierarchy
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9. REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME 9. I RHEMEZTIA

Wastg o Wk BB ERER TR BRE
AR S EEE A R M BB RE OB
ERBOREOXTE  MERFTOREE
THRAFIA

Revenue represents fair value of the consideration received or
receivable and for goods sold and healthcare and hotel services
rendered in the normal course of business to customers, net of
discounts and sales related taxes.

AEEERER MU as M A W AT

Revenue and other operating income recognised for the year are as

132

follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue Wz
Sales of goods HEEM 362,494 393,761
Healthcare and hotel services EERERBE RS 14,666 6,739
377,160 400,500
Other operating income H A& & WA
Interest income FEHA
— Bank deposits — RITHER 603 1,665
— Held-to-maturity investments —REZRIERE 105 405
— Structured deposits with banks — IRITHEB TR = 132
Total interest income %'J,%'\LBU\;%@%E 708 2,202
Dividend income BlUgA 306 1,742
Net exchange gain Eﬁqﬁlﬁﬁﬁi 32 -
Fair value gain on investment properties REMERN RN EWS (Kt 22)

(Note 22) 252 250
Gain on deregjistration of subsidiaries BUH BB A 7] Ay das 4,787 -
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading HEREFEEREN KRG

investments = 418
Net gain on disposal of non-current assets HESEAFEEERNIERS

classified as held for sale (Note a) B EMWEFEE (Fita) 7,604 =
Net gain on disposal of property, HEME  BEREENRES

plant and equipment (Note a) FEE (fiita) 41,100 81
Net gain on disposal of prepaid lease S RN EEFIEN R F R

payments (Note a) (Bitita) 42,019 =
Gain on disposal of AFS financial assets HE RS

SRS E R 1,223 8,186
Government grants BB ®

— Amortisation of deferred income — FIREW AL (f7E38)
for the year (Note 38) 168 23
— Government grants (Note b) — BN B & (Mfatb) 451 33
Net rental income (Note ¢) He WA FEE (H ) 7,470 7,503
Waiver of other payables Fh o0 B qth FE T 5RIE 704 538
Sundry income HIBUA 4,548 2,562
111,372 23,538

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME 9.
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) The amount represented the disposal of certain properties held by the
Group located in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. The net gain on the
disposal of non-current assets classified as held for sale, properties and
prepaid lease payments included the expenses incurred in relation to
the disposal. The outgoings included commission and other taxes
incurred for the disposal of properties.

(b) For the years ended 31 July 2018 and 2017, the amounts represent
unconditional grants from government for subsidising the operations

of the subsidiaries in the PRC.

(@} An analysis of the Group's net rental income is as follows:

K@ R AEMEEWA 2

Witk -

@ ARFERAHEARERES  RFR
FRIFANE TYE - HEDBEARER
ERERDEE - WERBNEEFRD
WaFEERARLEELNMAX - X
BREOEMEEENAS REMBIE -

b)) HEZE-NER-_ZE—tFtA=1+—
HILFE - BREZEARFREEDFTE
MiE AR & BN EEEMEE -

© ASEASKRAFEOHDIFTNOT

2018 2017
—2-N\fF —F L5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Gross rental income e WA LRz 8,041 8,057
Less: Outgoings incurred for investment W REREEES WA
properties that generated rental WEWMEFTY RAFX
income during the year (571) (554)
Net rental income WA FEE 7,470 7,503
SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. HEBEE

The Group's reportable and operating segments, based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM"), being the chief executive officer of the Company, for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment focuses
on type of goods or services delivered or provided are as follows:

(@)  Silicone rubber and related products — manufacturing and
sale of silicone rubber and related products; and

(b)  Healthcare and hotel services — providing healthcare and
hotel services.

No operating segment identified by the CODM has been aggregated
in arriving at the reportable segment of the Group.

REZBTIELERRE(XTELER
KE ) (ARRZITHRER) WETER
DEREERBRFENEH (BEIRARNEY
SERHIRENERL)  AEEMN A HRE R
Lo EEIIAT

@ WRBIERER - RERHEEVE
MARER &

BREREEERY — REBRERF
2 KB 5 AR 7

—
e
=2

o)

B R B 0T R4 5 200 - AR
TEHBREEBRIOEES B -
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

10.

134

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 8EH )
Segment revenue and results DEBU R I E A
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AT AREBEZIHEREEDEE S
reportable and operating segment. Wi RSB DT ©
For the year ended 31 July 2018 BE-Z2-/\FtA=+—HLFE
Silicone rubber Healthcare
and related and hotel
products services Total
VB R BERER
HEER B & AR 7% #Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
REVENUE U 3=
External sales HOMHE 362,494 14,666 377,160
Segment results (including D EP A (B IEE(GHE E
share of results of associates) NCIEESES D) 34,551 18,828 53,379
Unallocated income AP BEHA 1,531
Unallocated expenses RO BCH (39,423)
Profit before tax R 74 BT Vi A 15,487
For the year ended 31 July 2017 BE-_Z—tHFtA=+—HLFE
Silicone rubber Healthcare
and related and hotel
products services Total
4958 BERER
HEHEER B IE R et
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHTT
REVENUE &=
External sales HINHE 393,761 6,739 400,500
Segment results (including DEBEELE (BIEE(L
share of results of associates) NGIEVES)) 14,495 (52,676) (38,181)
Unallocated income RO BN 8,604
Unallocated expenses RAOBEH (44,523)
Loss before tax KRB AT E B (74,100)
TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Share of results
of associates is included under silicone rubber and related products
segment as CODM considers that their performance assessment is
same as subsidiaries in this segment. Segment results represent
profit earned by (loss from) each segment without allocation of
certain other income, directors’ emoluments and central
administrative costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during
the years ended 31 July 2018 and 2017.

0. FEWEH )

Pl €Y ESAEC )

MEE3FT M2 D B SR B EASK
EEFHRERAR AR EBEERRER
A ERIFHAEZ D F 2 M B A RAER -
BEEH 2 AR FREAT AW B RARE
mo B e DR FRAEL | RS T HAM
WA~ BEEME RFRITBEAANERT
0 EREEE R (EEMEE) - W2
BRTIE2LERRENETERDERR
BRAHARETE -

EXE2HmMD MRS EINBEFEENK
@ RBE_FT-/\FR-_F—tFtA
=t HUEFEAED HPRHEE -

Segment assets and liabilities PHWEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by AT AR EL A HE R EE 5 EE 5 Y
reportable and operating segment: BERAGST
Segment assets DEEE
2018 2017
—E-N\E T tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Silicone rubber and related products W EERESD 415,358 472,896
Healthcare and hotel services BEERERBE RS 473,963 462,022
Total segment assets DEPEERE 889,321 934,918
Unallocated corporate assets AOBERBIEE 24,919 19,585
Consolidated total assets MAEBELE 914,240 954,503

e L BTV
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) SEHEH2)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PEEERAE(E)
Segment liabilities PBEE
2018 2017
= N
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Silicone rubber and related products W NIBEE @ 150,575 163,524
Healthcare and hotel services B IR OB TE RS 313,334 341,752
Total segment liabilities DEb B (EEEE 463,909 505,276
Unallocated corporate liabilities N W/NCIN= R 3,947 5,341
Consolidated total liabilities rEAERE 467,856 510617
As at 31 July 2018 and 2017, segment assets and liabilities of the R N\FEER=ZT—+F+tA=1+—H"
silicone rubber and related products include interests in associates, E&E%EMB ?’ﬁéuuﬁ’] HEERBERER

136

amount due from an associate and amount due to an associate.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating

resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
assets for corporate use including AFS financial assets, held-
for-trading investments, certain furniture, fixtures and
equipment, deposits and other receivables and bank balances

and cash; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
corporate liabilities including certain accrued expenses and

other payables.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. SEBEE 2

Hith s E#
BE_Z2-\FtA=t—-HLEE

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 July 2018

Silicone
rubber and Healthcare
related and hotel
Unallocated products services Total
VBER BERER
RAE HEAEm B IS R et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTERT BT FET TERT
Amountsincludedinthemeasureof 3 A 7 8842 7 555 &
segmentresults orsegment assets: i1 EHI L4 :
Allowance for inventories FERE - 185 67 252
Additions of non-current assets NEFRBEE 28 19,721 10,182 29,931
Amortisation of prepaid lease Ta A E SRR
payments - 237 4,655 4,892
Depreciation of property, VI - B MERETE
plant and equipment 49 14,108 9,538 23,695
Fair value gain on investment REMEN R FER S
properties - (252) - (252)
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE BEK
plant and equipment B Eles - (10,913) (30,187) (41,100)
Gain on disposal of prepaid HEEMEERIERN
lease payment & - - (42,019) (42,019)
Gain on disposal of non-current HEA AR ELERN
asset classified as held for sale ERBEEN NS = - (7,604) (7,604)
Impairment loss recognised in FA T B IBHERRRE
respect of: B
— trade receivables —RWE ZERH - 251 = 251
— property, plantand equipment  — % - R &R - = 5,010 5,010
Interest expenses FMER - 1,485 22,261 23,746
Interest income FEWA (2) (585) (121) (708)
Share of results of associates AN - 77 - 77
Amounts regularly provided to THREATFTELERTE
the CODM but not included in EFFA S S1E #5558
the measure of segment profit BEGTENEE
orloss or segment assets:
Fair value loss on held-for-trading B {EEER BRI A FEEE
investments 98 - - 98
Gain on disposal of AFS financial HETHEESREEN K
assets (1,223) - = (1,223)
KESEZBEARATE 137
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 July 2017

Amountsincludedinthemeasureof 3t A 7 38 4E 8 7 2f & E
segmentresults orsegment assets:  ;FE)E4E :

Additions of non-current assets ANBIETBEE

Amortisation of prepaid lease BN HE R R
payments

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

W - WERRETE

Fair value gain on investment BEWMERN AT ERE
properties

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEHE - HE &
plant and equipment HEH (WR) B8

Impairment loss recognised in FEWE 5 R RN
respect of trade receivables BEEE

Interest expenses FEFZ

Interest income FEWA

Investment loss from derivative FTESRTEMNKE
financial instruments g

Reversal of allowance for inventories 1 [0] 1% & # &5

Reversal of impairment loss in oA A EWEUA
respect of other receivables RREREE

Share of results of associates JE(RBE N BRI LS

Amounts regularly provided to EHRBTFTELERTE
the CODM but not included in 18751 A 7 5818 2 51 7 &
the measure of segment profit BETENEH
orloss or segment assets:

Fair value loss on held-for-trading ~ 35{EE BB M)A FEEE

investments

Gain on disposal of AFS financial HERHHTESRERE
assets e

Gain on disposal of held-for-trading & {EE BRE RS
investments

10. ¥EBEE 2
HiwaEpE R ()
BE-_ZT—tFtA=1+—HILEE

Unallocated

RAEE
HK$'000
THET

56

60

35

Silicone
rubber and
related
products
BB X
PR E m
HKS$'000
FHT

28,084

228

(250)
(249)
1,402
844
2,164)

2,469
(4,376)

(2,049)
1,625

Healthcare
and hotel
services
BERERER
B IE BRTS
HKS$'000

TAET

421,054
2,684

3,559

Total
BET

HK$'000
TET

449,194
2912
17,745
(250)
(81)
1402
21,254

(2,202)

2,469
(4,376)

(2,049)
1,625
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from sales of its
major products and provision of services to external customers:

10. SBEH (@)

FTEREMERF WS

AEERIIBEFHERTEERREHR
ARIS P REVUL R DT AT -

2018 2017
—2-N\F —T—+tF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FTExT FAT

Consumer electronic devices SHEETRERESER
peripheral products 205,707 220,314
Keypads for computers and notebooks - PSEFR . bigicd 47,056 49,504
Lifestyle products ASEEMm 24,093 29,300
Mobile phone peripheral products FHEEE S 15,502 14,002
Automotive peripheral products AEEEE M 26,004 32,650
Chemical products L2 Em 8,265 14,980
Other products HibE 35,867 33,011
Provision of healthcare and hotel services IR BRI MBS RS 14,666 6,739
377,160 400,500

Geographical information

The Group's operations are principally located in the PRC and Hong
Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers
based on the location of the customers and information about its
non-current assets by geographical location of the assets are
detailed below:

& &R
AEEMNEEBETEVNFREES -

AEBEREFPHAERE D 2 RBINEEEP
M E R IR B EMAENE D 2 IERE
BEEMFINWT

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets

REIEEF B FRBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-NFE —E—+H ZEB-NF T +F
HK$’000 HKS'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHIT FBT FET
The PRC (excluding Hong Kong) A B (FBERSN) 166,984 205,348 387,759 565,464
Hong Kong & 87,498 69,143 7,420 9,333
Other Asian countries H i 25 MBI =K 14,938 25,022 14,071 13,046
America EM 87,907 75,807 - —
Europe B 19,833 24,580 - -
377,160 400,500 409,250 587,843

Non-current assets exclude AFS financial assets.

FRBEEY TNEEAIREESHEE
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total sales of
the Group in both years are as follows:

10. FBEH @)
FEFFEHR

RAEFEE REGASEEERED
10% BB F RSN T

Customer A ZEH
Customer B BEL
Customer C Z2FER

2018 2017
—2-N\F —T—+tF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET THBIT

N/A R3E A 2 54,938!

46,645' N/A N E R 2

46,245' N/A N E R 2

! Sales are derived from the sale of consumer electronic devices
peripheral products and automotive peripheral products.

2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group.

! HEBRLREHERRETRERBER

N EBEM ©

2 HHR W E BRI BB AN B s AR

10% °

11. OTHER EXPENSES 11. HtifAX
2018 2017
—E-N\F e e
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHET
Exchange losses b 5 5 = 234
Fair value loss on held-for-trading investments #{E 8 =% & 1A A EE 98 184
Impairment losses recognised in respect of:  BELA T & IEHERH R (E BT 18
— AFS financial assets — At HESREE = 160
— property, plant and equipment (Note 19)  — 1% - = N &4 (K5 19) 5,010 -
Investment loss from derivative PTHEE R T AMIREER
financial instruments - 2,469
Loss on disposal of associates (Note 25) B A BBV SR (F 77 25) 630 =
5,738 3,047
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. ERE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$’000 HKS'000
THET FHIT
Interests on: A TEIERFE
Secured bank borrowings BEMIEITER 23,725 19,713
Loans from a related party —HBAERFER = 174
Loans from third parties =T, 21 1,367
23,746 21,254
1 40 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT)

13. FifRRBAZ(3ER)

2018 2017
—E-NEF —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
PRC Land Appreciation Tax PR+ I (B R 20,536 =
(Over) under provision in prior years BEFERE(BRE) TR
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNEB - 1
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR ERTIER (708) (7)
19,828 (6)
Deferred taxation (Note 39) IRIERIA (HfE 39)
Current year REE (31) 34)
19,797 (40)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements for the years ended 31 July 2018 and 2017 as
the Group did not derive any assessable profits in Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and BV,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands
and BVI.

No provision for Indonesia Income Tax for the years ended 31 July
2018 and 2017 has been made as the subsidiary operating in
Indonesia did not generate any assessable profits in Indonesia.

Ta Yang Group (Macao Commercial Offshore) Limited is incorporated
as a commercial offshore entity in Macau and is exempted from
Macau Complementary Income Tax.

No provision for Taiwan Profit-Seeking Enterprise Income Tax for the
years ended 31 July 2018 and 2017 has been made as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits in Taiwan.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards. Accordingly,
provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the PRC subsidiaries is
calculated at 25% of estimated assessable profits for both years.

Land appreciation tax of the PRC is levied at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being
the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible expenditures.

HRAEEEE T \FR-_ZE—tF
TtA=+—HLFEYERNETBELEM
FERTE A - # BN AR A M R AE
BN EHRE

RERSHEEREBRLESNRA LA
B ASEBABMNRERERRBRER
BENERMAEH -

HREEEEENMB QR EEEEE
EEMERBGEN At ERBEE_—F
—NER=F—tErA=+—HIEFE
TEHENEPRIS ML

RASECRMBEFAERS) BRARRE
RFEMARY AR A RERGEE - B
RARRPIFTIS TR ©

HRAREBE T/ \FR-_T—tF
TtA=T-ALFEIEREEEEEM
FERBLUEN - AUt W WEHR QB LR EX
PRASTHERME -

RIBRBCEMESTE(DEMERE]
NEOEMBRIAERIES - BN B AR
R-ZZNFE— A HENHEE2% -
At - 5B B A Rl AR B 1 2 TS A B
&% 5% W B 4 TS B0 7 5T 1 BR A a8 1 B 25%

S

B+ b IR (E R Tt + B E TR (B &
W) TS FORR A HUR A 2 ) I T 30% &=
60% FY 2 3 i R UK -
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (Continued)

The income tax expense (credit) for the year can be reconciled to the
profit (loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or

13. FiRRBAZ(3ER) (&)

FRAEHRAS (KE) RIS B RATE
RIBR TR @A (B8 ) BRI T -

142

loss as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Profit (loss) before tax BRA% A=A (BE) 15,487 (74,100)
Tax credit at rates applicable to profit (loss) in %@ B A B rl A S @ ik 7
the jurisdictions concerned (BRI EFENTR KRS 5,151 (11,987)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARRMBANREZE
tax purposes (1,978) (3,785)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AT ORISR 2
tax purposes 3,385 2,249
Tax effect of share of results of associates DEEE N R REENT L 13 268
Land appreciation tax + IR (EF 20,536 -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not )R A AR B RS s 1E
recognised (13,423) (773)
Over provision in prior years, net BEFEREBREFE (708) ©)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRBEBROHEZE 6,821 13,994
Income tax expense (credit) for the year FRAMERES (E5) 19,797 (40)

Details of deferred taxation are shown in Note 39.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at
after charging (crediting):

Auditor's remuneration
Allowance for inventories
(included in cost of sales)
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Costs of inventories sold (Note)
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment (Note 19)
Directors’ emoluments (Note 18)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of
trade receivables (Note 28)
Payments under operating leases in
respect of land and buildings
Research and development costs
Reversal of allowance for inventories
(included in cost of sales)
Reversal of impairment loss in respect of
other receivables (Note 28)

Staff costs (excluding directors’ emoluments)

(Note 17)
Write-off of inventories (included in
cost of sales)

e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

14. FAEGR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THBIT
FANEE TSR (GTA)
PAT&IE -
Z SR B & 1,290 1,270
GEREGIAHEERR)
252 =
FETH & R 4,892 2,912
BEFEXA (K1) 277,784 288,659
M - BB MEEBITE (F7E19)
23,695 17,745
BEEMe (M9 8,275 6,031
FLEUE 5 BR KR A R E B 18
(5 28) 251 1,402
L RIEFHLEREET
OB 9,197 7,953
2SRk AR 5,265 4110
BEFERE GTAHESRA)
= (4,376)
[0l A B E e OB R E S 18
(K15t 28) - (2,049)
BIRA(TREESHE) (HaE17)
137,502 170,010
FEME G AHEERR)
- 744

Note:

Cost of inventories sold includes approximately HK$96,442,000 (2017:
HK$98,336,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation expenses and operating
lease charges which amounts are also included in the respective total

amounts disclosed separately above.

Hifet -

DEGERABEEE THA MEMIREE
HEERAANSEL 964420008 (ZF—+
F 1 98336,00087T) * BEESRBAMEFT AR EX

BYRBENEBRER -
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

15. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 July
2018 and 2017, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end
of the reporting period.

16. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during both years.

15.

16.

B2

RBEE_FT—NEFER_ZT—tFtH
=+ AL FETES S ERREEM
BB BHRE AR A RN R B[

s
BERER

SREABEDEREFEARAEEA
FEAS SRR LA B BT 3 AR 10 IR P45 K

e
ATE -

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
Loss for the year attributable to owners of RRAEIHA ANELFEEE
the Company (HK$'000) (F#7T) (3,756) (72,943)
Weighted average number of ordinary BTSRRI NETHE
shares in issue ('000) (Fh) 871,178 865,257

During the years ended 31 July 2018 and 2017, the basic loss per
share and the diluted loss per share are the same because there are
no potential dilutive shares outstanding.

RBE_T-N\FE_F—tFthA
=t HLEEE SREABRESKRE
BEEAR REZLEBITEINERE
g -

17. STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 17. RIBF (FEEEFE#H<)

EMOLUMENTS)

2018 2017

—E-N\E T+

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHT FHR

Salaries, allowances and other benefits Fe R R AEMET] 125,153 152,605

Severance payment ERE 435 6,025

Retirement benefit schemes contributions RIREFIET BN 11,914 11,380

137,502 170,010

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

17. STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’

EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate defined contribution
schemes under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance which are available to qualified employees. The assets of
the schemes are held separately from those of the subsidiaries in
independently administered funds. Monthly contributions made by
the subsidiaries are calculated based on certain percentages of the
applicable payroll costs or fixed sums as stipulated under the
relevant requirements, with maximum relevant income level for
contributions of HK$30,000 monthly.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the PRC, the
subsidiaries of the Group participate in respective government
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) whereby the
subsidiaries are required to contribute to the Schemes to fund the
retirement benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions made to
the Schemes are calculated based on certain percentages of the
applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements in the
PRC. The relevant authorities of the PRC are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to the retired employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the Schemes is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the Schemes.

Employees employed by the Group’s operations in Macau Special
Administrative Region (“MSAR”") are members of government-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the MSAR
government. The MSAR operations are required to pay a monthly
fixed contribution to the retirement benefits schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits schemes operated by the MSAR government is
to make the required contributions under the scheme.

The retirement benefit schemes contributions represent
contributions by the Group to the Schemes operated by the relevant
authorities of the PRC, the retirement scheme operated by the MSAR
government and the defined contribution schemes operated in
Hong Kong.

17.

BINF(FEEESEH:) @

ERNNBRARBEE SRV EAEST
Eligpl e EREE R EEHERETE -
ZEFENEERBLEEESKFEF @
WBRARWEESH - B RS AKRE
FF A A E T8 9 sz B R E &
A A B E SRR /E R - R A B U A
IKF EBRB® A 30,0008 7T °

RETFEERERORG - AEENHE
RE2EBEBFORAENGS (TZF
&) B ARA L MZEEEL
"R RAEERERNRABMNEHRES
Al 3% % &1 &I 1F H A RT3z o Bl AR B 7T 83
MERFMAXANETAEDLEFE - PH
FHRERBAERERKESEXNEBERKE
AEBERZEFENE-EERFEN
A BT IR ERI R o

AEBERRPIFRITTEER (DRFIRE 1) &9
EG iR M AR B 2R PR & IR T2 i
BT EBERABAEBIKE - IR
RSN EBRMZRKENGEIE AE
HEBMHRN  REBEMNEHES - 3t
TE R PR [ BT P 1 69 R K48 A 5T 81
5 AREOM B EREL & EIMR

TR o

RARBANF RS EARERTEERE
BRI MZETE  RPIRRBUTRLA
RIRET &I RN BB RSBV E RE G 8l
HEOHK -

REREZEARLT
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S

18. EERITHAERHE

EMOLUMENTS
(@) Directors’ and chief executive officer's emoluments (@) ESRTHEAHMNE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the fourteen ENENTHE(ZE -4
(2017: eleven) directors including the chief executive officer T —R)EF(BRETHAE ([1TH
(the “CEQ") are as follows: @wE ) s anmesFHIanT
For the year ended 31 July 2018 BE-Z-\FtA=+—HLEFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
andother  Discretionary schemes
Fees benefits bonus  contributions Total
¢ 2K BARER
e AR BERa A by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TAx A TR
Executive directors BTES
ShiQi i - 4,692 2,054 24 6,770
Xu Chendi (Note) R () - 833 69 8 910
Qiu Yonghao il ¢ - - - = =
Huang Te-Wei (Note ) BER (M) - 280 23 6 309
Zhao Ang (Note vi) (Wit vir) - 6 1 1 8
Non-executive directors FHTES
Han Lei B2 - - - - -
Gao Feng g - - - - -
Wang Yayuan (Note v TR (e vi) - - - - -
Sze Wai Lun (Note vi) iR (Wi i) = = = = =
Independent non-executive directors BUFGTES
Zhang Lijuan SN = = = = =
Pak Wai Keung (Note ix) BER (Hit) 180 = = = 180
Yeung ChiTat (Note i) i (ML) 13 = = = 13
Lian Yi (Note B (ML) = - - - -
Wu Tak Kong (Note i) HE S (Hiatii) 85 - - - 85
278 5,811 2,147 39 8,275
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e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 HE=Z

—NFLA=+—HILFE

18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S EFRITHARME 2
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive officer's emoluments (@) ESRTHEHME (&)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 July 2017 BE-Z—tHtA=+—HLEFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
andother  Discretionary schemes
Fees benefits bonus  contributions Total
5 20K BRG]
i HAg BB HE5 it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
THT THL TEL THL AL
Executive directors HTES
ShiQi i - 2400 200 18 2618
Xu Chendi IR - 2,000 167 18 2,185
Qiu Yonghao i) 9:3 - - - = =
Huang Te-Wei BER - 840 70 18 928
Non-executive directors FHTES
Han Lei BE = - - - _
Gao Feng 1 - - - - =
Wang Yayuan (Note i) IR (W vii) - - = = =
Independent non-executive directors BUFGHTES
Zhang Lijuan KB - - - - _
Pak Wai Keung BIEE: 180 - - - 180
Yeung ChiTat (Note i) BE (Hati) 120 = - - 120
Lian Yi (Note ) E% (i) = - - - -
300 5240 437 54 6,031
Notes: HtaE -
0) Appointed on 19 December 2016 and resigned on 10 (i) R-ZE—R"E+-_A+LBEZT
November 2017. ERZZE—tF+— A+ HEHE -
(ii) Resigned on 10 September 2017. (ii) R-ZE—+FNA+BHEET-
(i) Appointed on 15 November 2017. (i) R =E—tFt+-—A+AHEEE-
(iv)  Resigned on 30 November 2017. (e, ¥ = s 5 e H = SR
(v)  Resigned on 19 December 2017 (v) R=ZE—t+Ft+_A+BEE-
(vi)  Appointed on 19 December 2017. V) T ERE=EE—FE A T RS T
(vii)  Appointed on 30 July 2018. Vi) RZE-—NFLA=+BEEZEE-
(vii)  Appointed on 19 December 2016 and resigned on 19 i) RZE—ARFE+_At+tILBEZRE
December 2017. ERZE—+F+=A+NBEFHE -
(ix)  Resigned on 29 October 2018. ixy WR=ZE—NFE+A=-+IhBEE-
REREZEFERAT

—T\EER
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

18.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

148

Directors’ and chief executive officer's emoluments
(Continued)

Shi Qi is appointed as the CEO of the Company. Their
emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by them as the chief executive officer.

No directors and the chief executive officer waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments during both years.

The bonus for both years represents one month salary at
discretionary of the remuneration committees, taking into
account of the directors’ performance and market trend.

Senior management’s emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2017: two) were directors including chief
executive officer of the Company whose emoluments are set
out above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2017:
three) individuals are as follows:

18. EERITHERME »0)

(a)

(b)

EERTHRARME (@)

MR ER ERARRBITHAER - EX
IR BENN S B SIERITIREE
RERBOME

RREFE  SEEERITHRAEN
ZHRIBREEAME

MEFENEAEFHEE ST RE
ERBARTEBBE  BBERTH—
EAFZ -

SREEEME

AEBABRSHEALH  BME(Z
T—tF  MB)B/ARAEF(EHE
THAR)  WENMESERN EX -
BT=R(ZF—+F : =2)#<
LI

2018 2017
—E-N\F e
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET T
Salaries, allowances and other benefits Ha RN R HMET] 5,483 6,980
Retirement benefit schemes contributions 3R k1@ F 5T 2] 4t 2 45 33
5,528 7,013
The emolument is within the following bands: SN T A TEE :
No. of individuals
N

2018 2017
—Z2-N\E —E—+tF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 2 1,000,000/ 7T = =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T 2 2,000,000 78 7T 2 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 3T 2,500,000 7T 1 1

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

3,000,001 37T 2 3,500,000 78 JT
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ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 HE-—ZT—NFLA=+—HILtFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. ¥R - BE R

Properties Furniture,
held for Motor Plantand fixtures and Leasehold Construction
own use vehicles machinery equipment  improvements in progress Total
13 Bl %8 g
BANE e RERAS kit HE ERIE EH
HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
Thn Thr Thn T TAT Thn Thn
CosT FikfE
At August 2016 RZZ-~E/\A-H 51470 5300 25917 50303 85410 - 408400
Exchange realignment BN A% 1418 2 (2047) (299) (1354) - (2303)
Additions RE 12310 1717 12336 15,286 7291 - 48940
Additions through acquisition of assets FRNEEERE 163,749 - - - - - 163,749
Redlassified to assets held for sale BHNEERELENEE (4612) - - - - - (4612)
Revaluation for tems transferred to EfFERERENE
investment properties g8 1885 - - - - - 1885
Transfer to investment properties ERERENE (3940) - - - - - (3940)
Disposals/write-off HE s 4218) (1619) (37001) (4745) (67,065) - (114648)
At31 July 2017 RZF-t5tA=1-A 218062 5377 189,205 60,545 2428 - 497471
Exchange realignment BN A% 3515 5 (340) (400 (334) (14) 2450
Additions AE - 300 9805 10062 8364 3N 28903
Redlassified o assets held for sale ENABEHELENEE (9585) - - - - - (9589)
Transfer to investment properties ERTRENE (13,108) - - - = = (13,106)
Revaluation for tems transferred to EfFERERENE
investment properties #)ER 5711 = = = = = 5711
Disposals/write-off HE /i (75063) (869) (1.285) (339) (747) - (78299
At31 July 2018 RZF-\EtA=1-H 129532 4833 197385 69870 31,565 358 433583
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND ZHTERAE
IMPARMENT
At1 August 2016 RZE-"EN\A-A 39445 3852 180469 43636 72071 - 339473
Exchange realignment ERRZ (319 (19 (1801) (364) (1,200) - (3,703)
Provided for the year (Note 14) EREEMEN) 2999 588 6,232 2640 5286 = 17745
Redlassified to assets held forsale (Note29) B AEZH{EHE
BE(Win) (1) - - - - - (31)
Transfer to investment properties (Note 22) ERTHENE (W7 0) (1.892) - - - - - (1.892)
Eiiminated on disposals HERHH (2913 (751) (3459) (4292) (61542) = (104092)
At31 July 2017 R=F-t5tA=1-H 37289 3670 150,306 41620 14615 - 247500
Exchange realignment A% 28 2 (19) 425) (276) - 648)
Provided for the year (Note 14) EREEWE 1) 4402 500 609 5862 6902 - 269
Impairment loss recognised in profitorloss — IMERRERAMHESE - - - 5010 - - 5010
Reclassified to assets held for sale (Note 29) ENHEEHELER
BEWHN) (304 = = = = - (304
Transfer toinvestment properties (Vote ) BRERENE (Wi 22) (65%) - - - - - (65%0)
Fliminated on disposals/write-off L& /MR (43%) (794 (1059) (294) (531) = {7074
At31 July 2018 R=F-\tA=1-H 30629 339 155,079 51173 20,710 - 261,589
CARRYING VALUES HEf
At31 July 2018 RZE-\EtA=1-A 93903 1435 4306 18097 10855 3% 171954
At31 July 2017 R=F-tF+tA=1+-H 180773 1707 38899 18925 9,667 - 24997
KESEZBEARATE 149
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in process, are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives less residual values as follows:

Properties held for own use situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of
initial recognition.

Estimated useful life

fEEt A e A F A
Motor vehicles 5 years
P 5%
Plant and machinery 10 years
i K28 104
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3to 10 years
&L HENRE EEE:S

Leasehold improvements

HEMEREE

In view of the operating losses of subsidiaries included in healthcare
and hotel service segment during the year ended 31 July 2018, the
directors of the Company have performed impairment assessment
on the property, plant and equipment of those subsidiaries as at 31
July 2018. The recoverable amounts of these property, plant and
equipment have been determined based on value-in-use using
cashflow projection provided by the management of the Company.
The pre-tax discount rates applied in measuring the amounts of
value-in-use is 8%. There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in prior year. Accordingly, impairment loss of
approximately HK$5,015,000 had been recognised in respect of
these properties, plant and equipment during the year ended 31 July
2018 (2017: nil).

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BRERZTRN ALEWE - BEREHEE
B LAE SRR IR LA T (A 5T BT {58 AR 48 HA R R 64
BEEINE

et FRFIEE AMERAE RN
HA R E AT AT AEH (RS HER A BE
SOFM) MEEEITE -

Residual value
FIsrEE

10%
10%

10%

Shorter of the lease term and 5 to 10 years =

HERSZE 106 » AR ERE

ENEE_T— ) \FLtA=1t—"BLEE
a1 A BB AR E FE I ARIS ZBPIRIFT B 2 A
KEEE  ARAEEER T —N\Ft
A=+ BRRZEMBARNYME - |
BREEBETHAESS 2SWE  BE
KREN KBS EERAR B EIERE
REMNFSRERABREFERAEBEE -
AEFHEESEAMRANMATERA
8% FTEAMMEETALEEFMHR - B
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ERSEWE  BEMRERRBEEE
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e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The carrying value of properties held for own use shown above
comprises of:

9. ¥ - BE R ()

L EE MMENREERLR

2018 2017
—B-NF Tt
HK$’000 HKS'000
TET FAT

Medium-term leases FHEE
— in Hong Kong —IREH 6,411 7,640
— outside Hong Kong — HBEIN 92,492 173,133
98,903 180,773

As at 31 July 2018, properties located in Hong Kong under medium-
term leases with carrying value of approximately HK$6,411,000 (2017:
HKS$7,640,000) have been pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group.

As at 31 July 2018, properties located in the PRC under medium-term
leases with carrying value of approximately HK$86,310,000 (2017:
HK$163,340,000) have been pledged to secure bank borrowings.

Certain properties located in the PRC are disposed of during the year
ended 31 July 2018 but the Group is in the process of releasing the
pledge of those properties up to the date of the approval of the
consolidated financial statement. Details are set out in Note 36 of
this consolidated financial statement.

RZEBE-N\E+A=+—08 BEEMEY
6,411,000 7T (= F —4 4 : 7,640,00078 7T)
MR ELSBRETHEESANYED TK
o EAAEERERBITEENER -

R-ZE—NFE+LtA=+—8 G REEY
86,310,000 7 7T (ZZF —+4F : 163,340,000/5
TR BIREREEAERBENMEE T
IR (ERIRITERAER -

URFENETOEERBE_Z—/\F
TtA=+T-RLFELE  HEHERER
BUBHRERY  AEEEERRZEY
ENER - FHBRAGE P BEIRERM T
36 °
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20.

152

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. |{iLEE
Golf club
Patent membership Total
B KR
=X Bfas et
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THBT FHBT T
COST B
At 1 August 2016 R-ZZT—XENA—A 6,960 — 6,960
Exchange realignment [ 5 (60) 4 (56)
Additions INE = 379 379
At31July 2017 and 2018 RZE—+ERZT-)\F
tA=+—H 6,900 383 7,283
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rt EERRE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 August 2016 R=ZZT—<"ENA—H 6,960 — 6,960
Exchange realignment PE 5 332 (60) = (60)
At 31 July 2017 and 2018 RZE—+ER T )\F
+A=+—H 6,900 - 6,900
CARRYING AMOUNTS BREE
At31 July 2018 W_ZE—NEtA=1+—8 - 383 383
At 31 July 2017 R-_Z—+tE+A=+—H = 383 383

The Group's golf club membership at 31 July 2018 and 2017 is
assessed as having indefinite useful life because there is no time limit

that the Group can enjoy the services provided by that golf club.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 21. AAEERE

Analysed for reporting purposes as: PMEIEL AT
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
HK$’000 HKS'000
TET FAT
Current asset MENVE E 4,824 4,820
Non-current asset ERBEE 120,406 229,061
125,230 233,881
The prepaid lease payments consist of cost of land use rights in BNHEERBEREE BN RiEF EHE
respect of land located in the PRC held under medium-term leases, ERAr i REBEZE T EEAK
on which the Group's factory plants, staff quarters, hotel and BEME BIFS BAEREERESD
healthcare center are built or acquired. During the year ended 31 D)) T E AR AE - HEZT—\F
July 2018 and 2017, certain lands were transferred to investment kRZZT—tFtA=1+—BLEFE &F
properties. The remaining period of the land use rights of the Group THEEBEREYE -  NEBE L FEA
ranges from 33 to 45 years (2017: 34 to 46 years). ERRIGERN T 33245 F (=2 —+HF -

34E46F) T -

As at 31 July 2018, prepaid lease payments with carrying amount of RZE-—NFLtA=+—H KEEY
approximately HK$119,191,000 (2017: HK$226,945,000) has been 119,191,000 7T ( =& — £ 4 : 226,945,000
pledged to secure bank borrowings amounting RMB238,000,000 BIT) MIEMAHEEREE THER - (ERLRE
(equivalent to approximately HK$273,700,000) granted to the Group. B P SR 1T 8 3k A R & 238,000,000 7T (4

B 47 273,700,000 78 7T ) KUFELR ©
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+tA=+—HILFE

22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 22. BBEYME
HK$'000
FHET

FAIR VALUE A¥E

At 1 August 2016 RZZE—RFENA—H 89,935

Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 19) B - BB MEREEE (KT 19) 2,048

Transfer from prepaid lease payments (Note 21) BIafHEERIBE R (7 21) 1,081

Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) PIBE RN N FEE B (FaF9) 250

Exchange realignment bE 5, E (739)

At 31 July 2017 and 1 August 2017 RZE—+tF+tA=+—8H

M—_Z—tFN\H—H 92,575

Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 19) B - BE R EEE (AT 19) 6,518

Transfer from prepaid lease payments (Note 21) BIa N ERIBE R (7 21) 3,510

Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) RIEBRERHN AL ELE (HiF9) 252

Exchange realignment b 5, A& (413)

At31July 2018 RZE-—N\FtA=+—H 102,442

Notes: Hiat -

@@ Al of the Group's property interests held under operating leases to @ AEERRLCEHEREANKRESIE
earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using TIBER A Y ERER AR TFERA G
the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as 2 WHERARIEREDE -
investment properties.

(b)  The investment properties shown above are situated in the PRC and () MAEFRAIRERARERBLNFTEN
held under medium-term leases. wEME -

() The properties with their respective prepaid lease payments held for © FRMNRAFBEEMNFEERNDERE
own use locating at Huzhou in the PRC were reclassified as investment SENBNEEREETEREAKREY
properties during the year. At the date of transfer, these properties ¥ RNEEAN ZEWERBBAREER
and prepaid lease payments were revalued by BMI, an independent BB (AEMP LB BRGEE - W
valuer, resulting in revaluation gains of approximately HK$5,711,000 REMEERBESRELEEHRRELN
(2017: approximately HK$1,885,000) from properties (Note 19) and 5,711,000 ;L ( — T —+ £ : 491,885,000
approximately HK$2,813,000 (2017: approximately HK$972,000) from BIT) (KMtEE19) & 4928130008 (=2
prepaid lease payments (Note 21). The revaluation gains have been —+t4F : 499720008 7T) (KizE21) - BE
recognised in properties revaluation reserve for the year ended 31 July BRHEERBEE_T—N\FLtA=1T—
2018. HIEFERMEE L FETER

(d)  Asat 31 July 2018, the fair value of the investment properties d R=ZZT-—N\FLA=+—8 BREVEHN
amounted to RMB89,080,000 (equivalent to approximately AFEAB AR EES9,0800007 (HHE K4
HK$102,442,000) (2017: RMB80,500,000 (equivalent to approximately 102442000 ) (Z T —+tF: AR¥
HK$92,575,000)) was valued by BMI. The valuation approach takes into 80,500,000 7T (FH & 7R 49 92,575,000 7T) )
account of the aggregate amount of the value of the land for the TR M FRBRRT AL o ZIRMREIAS Rt it
existing use or a notional replacement site in the same locality and the ERERENERSERMENEREER
new replacement cost of the buildings from which appropriate AR R EE M E B A R TR AR 2
deductions may then be made to allow for the age, condition, M- BRAgsEE - MR - KA
economic or functional obsolescence and environment factors. e RIRIRARSELEE A ©

154 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in prior (e)
year. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and

best use of the properties is its current use.

Details of the Group's investment properties and information about ()
the fair value hierarchy as at 31 July 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Investment properties

wEME

22, BREME 2
st -

(%)

S 4 T PR ) S (A AR o A
HEENEOATES  ZENENRE
R ERR IR AR -

RBE—NER_ZT—+tFLtA=1+—
B ANEENREMEFEREBEATE
BRHERMT :

Fair value
AF¥E

2018 2017
—B-N\& —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#x Fib
(Level 3) (Level 3)
(B=f8) (F=E)
102,442 92,575

There was no transfer into or out of Level 3 for both years.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements of investment
properties as at 31 July 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Asset
BE

Investment
properties

Valuation
technique

BT %

Depreciated
Replacement Cost
Approach

FESERARE

Significant
unobservable input

EXTABRBABE

Market unit rates of land
(per square meter (“sq.m.")) are
in a range from RMB322 to
RMB405 (2017: a range from
RMB269 to RMB420)

T3 TS B AL ERR (BFHK)
NFEARE 32 TE AR 40570
(Z2—tF : NFARK269T
EARE4207T)

Current construction costs for
building (per sq.m.) are
in a range from RMB1,220 to
RMB1,670 (2017: a range from
RMB1,150 to RMB1,582)

TR B ATRER AN (FFTK)
NFARE1220TEARE16707T
(Z2—+F : NFARK1,1507T
EARE1,58270)

Accumulated depreciation rates are
in a range from 5% to 29%
(2017: a range from 3% to 26%)
FRETHTE R F 5% = 29%
(ZZ—tF : NF3%ZE 26%)

RREFEALREREREBREEZE -

R_BE—N\ER_ZT—+tFEtA=1+—
H EBREDMEE=-"EQAFEFENE
BT

Relationship of unobservable
input to fair value

TrAEERABBEAFENREER

A slight increase in market unit rate of
land will significantly increase the fair
value.

£ TIIS BT AR L Ft
BESATEAELA -

A slight increase in construction cost
will significantly increase the fair value.

BERARM LT BESATE
ANIEETT

A slight increase in depreciation rate
will significantly decrease the fair value.

B REN EF - SRS ATE
KIETH -

REREZEARLT
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23.

156

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

23. AHHEEMEE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
izt THET FHET
Listed equity securities: FTRARE S
— Listed outside Hong Kong, — RBEBEINET
at fair value BRFE (@) 9,219 8,981
Unlisted equity securities: JEEMBAFES :
— At cost — IR AE (b) 11,610 11,610
— Less: provision for impairment loss — — i : W EEEREE (11,610) (11,610)
(© 9,219 8,081
Notes: Biat
@  The fair value of the above listed equity securities is determined based @ Lt ETRARESFHRFETRIEER
on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant stock SRR TSEAREETE - REEZ
exchange. During the year ended 31 July 2017, significant decline in T—+tFLA=T—HILFE BFHFHQ
the fair value of the securities below its cost is noted and an FEAETHRERNEKAE - B R4R
impairment loss of approximately HK$160,000 (2018: nil) was S RERERMEEEL 1600004 7T (=
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. T-NF:FT)e
(b)  The unlisted equity securities are issued by a private entity () FELEMARAFESBEQETMAZAFLA
incorporated in Taiwan. They are measured at cost less impairment at BREET - 2S5 BHFRNEEHRE HRIRK
the end of each reporting period because the range of reasonable fair TORERER 2 - WWIBERZERFEIE
value estimate is so significant that the directors of the Company are AFEMGABERKN KRAFEZRAH
of the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably. The ATEEEASEFE - AAREZES
directors of the Company had reviewed the carrying amounts of the BIIE EMRAZEFHREE - WENIRE
unlisted equity securities, accumulated impairment losses of HRELLEBBETERL  RBESF
approximately HK$11,610,000 (2017: approximately HK$11,610,000) EERRREREEA 116100008 7T (=
had been recognised in prior years in light of the operating loss of T—+F : 411610000 7T) °
investee and the market conditions.
(@) Included in AFS financial assets are the following amounts © At EESREEDIE NN ERERE

denominated in a currency other than functional currency of the
relevant group entity to which they relate.

NTD

BT LIS LN SR S -

2018 2017
—2-N\fF —E—t5
‘000 ‘000

Fi F7
35,456 34,149
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE-—ZT—N\FLtA=+—HIEFE

24. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 24. FREEIHHRE

Held-to-maturity investments comprise: RAEZIHIEERE

Unlisted debt securities LT ERE S
— Fixed-rate — EFE R = - 34,739

Notes: Bisr

(@  The fixed-rate unlisted debt securities carried interest rates ranged @) EEMEFELMEBEFENTI12ERE
from 1.2% to 3.47% per annum and were matured during the year SA7TEMERNEGTRE BEZFFEREBE
ended 31 July 2018. —E-N\EFELA=T—HILFEIH-

(b)  Included in held-to-maturity investments were the following amounts by HEZRIHREBFETIIABEEEER
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the I BE B AN BT BRI 8 ©

relevant group entity to which they related.

S E - 3,001
RMB AR - 10,012
25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 25. REEATIHER

Unlisted shares, at cost JEEWRRD - A AE 1,225 6,310

Share of post-acquisition results and SEWFE R AR B 5
exchange reserves (645) (2914)
Impairment loss recognised ERRREEE (580) (580)
= B 29810

s LEL L PN .
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25. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of the associates at 31 July 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Place of
Form of incorporation/ Registered/

Name of company business structure  operation paid up capital

ML/ i/
DAEH ERERTR Tehs RRAE
BiOcean Holdings Limited Incorporated Hong Kong HK$2,500,000
BiOcean Holdings Limited Ralian i 2500000787
Biomar Industries Sdn Bhd Incorporated Malaysia MYR400,000
Biomar Industries Scn Bhd Bl SRER 40000055
Ta Yang UDE Limited (‘UDE') (Note)  Incorporated Samoa US$1,460,000
RABEERAR(TEE(HZ) EMKL EED 14600005 7T
REEFREBEERAA Fstablished The PRC US51,000000

(REEE" (Note) (H5F)
K3z HE 100000037

Note: During the year ended 31 July 2018, the Group has disposed of the
Group's entire equity interest in UDE and its subsidiary, BRZ={&¥, to
an independent third party, at a cash consideration of US$290,155
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,246,000). Loss on disposal of
approximately HK$630,000 was recognised in consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

158 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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5. RBELTIMER (@)

R-B-NER_ZF—tFLA=1t—H
HE S ABIFISIAT -

Proportion of ownership interest

and voting rights held
by the Group Principal activities
AEESENEREES
REZELA TERH
2018 2017
“E-\F ZEZ-tF

49% 49%  Investment holding
REER

49% 49% Trading of chemistry ol
tEhES

= 45%  Investment holding

RARR
- 45% Manufacture of silicone rubber

LEVE

Mt BE=ZFT—N\FLtA=1+—HLEFE " K
EEE B S HRE29,155F T (FERL
2246000;%ﬁ)ﬁj'¥$%Eéi%%&ﬁﬁﬁ

ARREEFNEHRET —ZBILE
*E & 2 A M) 518 £9630,000 78 T E
AIEEKRER -
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26.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 HE=Z

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The financial information and carrying amount, in aggregate, of the
Group's interests in associates, that are not individually material and
are accounted for using the equity method are set out below:

e MEBRRME

—NFLA=+—HILFE

RRELTNER (@)

REBERER M ELTEANBRKAERE
ABRROBS & N R MR B AR BT IS B R
FREEHZI0T

2018 2017
=Z2-—N\F —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THET
The Group's share of loss REBEDIGEE 77 1,625
The Group's share of other comprehensive AEBDMEEMEE (Wa) B
(income) expenses (19) 42
The Group's share of total comprehensive AEBOEEEMAZ R
expenses 58 1,667
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBPNIEEREEE QT
interests in immaterial associates M RRRE(E = 2,816
The directors of the Company reviewed the carrying amount in the AARIEER _T—+FE+A=+—H=E
equity interest of the associates as at 31 July 2017. In view of the RO B NI AN HE S BRI (E - R
recurring operating losses of associates, the directors of the ggéﬁ@ TR ERERLER . AATIES
Company are of the opinion that the recoverable amount is less than ZATESEERNELSONERME - B
its respective carrying amount, accordingly accumulated impairment B 8 14 F S REsR 2515 8 /5 18 580,000
losses of HK$580,000 (2017: HK$580,000) was recognised in prior BT (ZZE— 4 : 580,00087T) ©
years.
DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITION OF LAND USE 26. iR Li{EMENERS

RIGHTS

The deposits of approximately IDR25,572,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,065,000) (2017: IDR23,703,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$13,037,000)) were paid by the Group to an
independent third party for acquisition of pieces of land located in
Indonesia. The acquisition was originally expected to be completed
in July 2016. In 2016, a supplementary agreement has been entered
into between the vendor and the Group. Pursuant to the
supplementary agreement, the acquisition is expected to be
completed by October 2020. Up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements, the Group is in the process to
obtain the land use rights. The deposits are interest-free, unsecured
and guaranteed by an individual third party.

#925,572,000,000 ENJE J& (F8 & 72 47 14,065,000
BIT) (ZZF —+4F : 23,703,000000 ENfE &
(FHE R #13,037,000/870)) Mz & AR %
Br—RBLE=FZNRAEREZRA
RENBR i - RATEAHKESR ZF
—RNFLtATEK -R_ZE—ARF  BAHE
BAREEF iR o RBEFBR B -
TBHKESN S F+ AR K - &
imA%%ﬁ%#m&E%'$%@E$
S LHERAE ZEERSARE &
ﬁﬁ&ﬁ—%%ﬁ%zﬁ%ﬁo

REREZEARLT
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27. INVENTORIES 27. #R®
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET

Raw materials [R#4 ¥ 21,203 14,138

Work-in-progress ER 5118 10,789

Finished goods RUAK oh 20,083 10,613

46,404 35,540
28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 28. BB SERREMERE
2018 2017
—E-)N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FHT
Trade and bills receivables FEUR B 5 8RR K R UL 2R 0
— from third parties —RERE= 98,556 114,768
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B BB E = RERE S
recognised in respect of trade and AR e W R R R Y
bills receivables from third parties REREAE (976) (1,430)
97,580 113,338
Deposits and prepayments R& RIENHRIE 14,772 13,518
Consideration receivable from disposal of LEYFERKNAE (fza)
properties (Note a) 103,571 -
Value-added tax receivables FE Y E T 4,527 27,455
Other receivables (Note b) HibEUGRIA (KfiEb) 9,409 10,505
229,859 164,816

Notes: Bfet -

(@  During the year ended 31 July 2018, certain buildings and prepaid @ HBET-NFtA=T—HIEEE
lease payments located in Hainan, the PRC, have been disposed at RABERmME TEFRBANHEERIERD
cash consideration of HK$257,837,000 (excluding outgoing expenses) %38 & B 257,837,00078 JT (R B IESN
(Note 29). As at 31 July 2018, the consideration receivables of F) FAHE (BI5E29) c R=ZZE—\&F
approximately HK$103,571,000 was non-interest bearing and tA=+—8 " EKRAEL103571,000%
repayable within one year. T BN AR —FREE -

(b)  Asat 31 July 2017, the carrying amount of other receivables has been b)) RZE—tFEtA=1+—8 EMEKXK
netted off with accumulated impairment losses of approximately BRI AREE B %R 2EHREETE A 175,000
HK$175,000 (2018: nil). During the year ended 31 July 2017, the Group BLT(ZE-—N\F:T) - REE-_ZT—+
recognised a reversal of impairment loss of approximately FLA=T—HIFE  AEEERED
HK$2,049,000 (2018: nil) relates to the recovery of other receivables. 5 78 Uk 2] H b 8 UK SR I8 &9 R 1B &S 18 4

2049000 BT (ZE—N\F : F) ©
160 | TAYANGGROUPHOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 28. YR BERER HMEKHRIE (7)
The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances. REEW AR ZF T A TSRS -
The Group normally grants to its customers credit periods ranging AEBE—RGETEEPNTF30BZE135H
from 30 to 135 days which are subject to periodic review by the WEEH mMEEEeCHRIEHEER
management. By o
The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables, net of RIREMR - MBRERBEENERES
allowance for doubtful debts presented based on the invoice date at R RENERZEZAREISENK
the end of the reporting period, which approximated the respective miER A ) MRS TSI T -
revenue recognition date.

2018 2017
—E-)N\fF —E=—+tF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FAxT
0-90 days 029 H 91,207 101,362
91 days to 1 year 9IHE—F 6,373 11,938
Over 1 year —F Pk - 38
97,580 113,338

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts of trade FEUE SRR RERBEZFH T

receivables is as follows:

2018 2017
A ZTE—tF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT
At 1 August RNAA—H 1,430 1,748
Exchange realignment PE 3 Fa = (198) (16)
Impairment loss recognised (Note 14) BHERREEE (ME14) 251 1,402
Release upon deregistration of subsidiaries Pl /& A R #UEH &% il i £ 2] (507) =
Amounts written off as uncollectible BRI~ ] g 1 i i 8 O 2 BB = (1,704)
At 31 July REtA=+—H 976 1,430

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts recognised are
individually impaired trade receivables with an aggregate balance of
approximately HK$976,000 (2017: HK$1,430,000). The individually
impaired receivables mainly relate to customers that are in financial
difficulty or of poor credit history. During the year ended 31 July
2018, no direct write-off of trade receivables was recognised (2017:
nil).

EERRRE G B IR &R 5849 976,000 75
TL(ZZT—E4F : 143000078 70) AR E
BERWE 5 ER o @52 R ERKKE
FEZHAHVBRRA#EXEECLHETRNT
FEl@ -#z=2—/\F+tA=+—A81L
FE - BEEREKESEREEME (=
T—LF |

REREZEARLT
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28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

At 31 July 2018 and 2017, the analysis of trade and bills receivables
that are past due but not impaired are as follows:

Total

st
HK$'000
TR

31 July 2018 —ZT-\FtA=+—H 97,580
31 July 2017 —E—+tFt+tHA=1+—H 113338

8. MR BIERE R B HRIEA (7

RIB-N\FR_ZT—tFLtA=t—H8"
EE B ERENEKE SRR EWR
S Goatip (N

Past due but not impaired

EABEYERE
Neither past Over 90 days
due nor Less than but less than
impaired 90 days 1year
B3 90 H M L
TRERE K90 H BLR—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
82,467 13,622 1,491
105,534 7127 677

Trade and bills receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
relate to a wide range of customers for whom there is no recent
history of default.

Trade and bills receivables that are past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good track
payment record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no allowance for doubtful debts is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable.

Included in trade and other receivables are the following amounts in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant group
entity to which they relate:

uss e
EUR BT
NTD e
RMB ARE

3 8 360 HR 7 458 OB B ) B WK B 3 PR R I B LR
SERET I BEERCENZEREF AR

B 8 H1E 3 SR8 B IR U E 5 R R I R
RREXAKEZZE RIFNREENE L
EFAR - REBEEELR HANEEEER
W EEAEE RS DBAR AR BB
BEEEREBANZTEHRIELRER
e

FE U B 5 B 30 e H At JE MR TR B4 T 51 A
HEEEERNDEEREUINNEEIE
MEER

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
‘000 ‘000

T Tt

7,708 9424

- 380

915 33,811

- 290
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE

During the year ended 31 July 2017, the Group has entered into sale
and purchase agreements (the “Agreements”) with independent
third parties (collectively “Purchasers of the Properties”). Pursuant to
the Agreements, the Group will sell certain units of a building in
Hainan (the “Properties”) to the Purchasers of the Properties at a total
consideration of approximately RMB20,499,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,574,000) upon the terms and conditions
contained therein. As at 31 July 2017, total deposits of approximately
RMB10,446,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$12,013,000) have
been received and recognised under trade and other payables. The
Properties with carrying amount of approximately HK$11,022,000
has been presented as non-current assets classified as held for sale
as at 31 July 2017. The sales of the Properties are completed during
the year ended 31 July 2018.

Further in 2018, the Group has entered into an agency agreement
with an independent third party, /82 R FFEELLBR A A
("/8mZ/8"), to which J8F3)Z/8 has agreed to underwrite the
purchase of the properties from the Group at a total cash
consideration of approximately HK$292,600,000. During the year
ended 31 July 2018, certain properties are disposed (note 28(a)). As
at 31 July 2018, certain units are remain unsold and expected to be
sold within one year. The carrying amount of such unsold units of
approximately HK$21,214,000 has been presented as non-current
assets classified as held for sale as at 31 July 2018.

At the end of the reporting period, the major classes of non-current
assets classified as held for sale are as follows:

29. FWMBFEHERNFRDEE

HE-Z—+F+tA=1t—HILEE K
SEEBYE = (FRIZEWENER D)
FIVEEmE ([ ZERED - BEZEH
& ANEEBIRE AR R IE R Z
EMENBE S L ETENE TEFEM([%
EWE]) - BRED A AR 204990007
(FEBE R4 23,574,000 7TC) - RZT—+4F
tA=1+—8 BURBEERAEEMNES
BRI B E (T RUIATE TR S BRI A
R # 10,446,000 7T ( 48 & 7 #712,013,000 7%
L) e RZZE—tFtA=+—8  KEE
49511,022000 8 TR EMER DB AR
EHERERBEET 2 - HEZEY
¥EREBE_T—N\FLA=1+—HL*F
[E5ERK ©

AN RZZ—N\F AEECRBIE
=hEEZEBENEELLERAR(E
meE D) TR E R Bt SEE
ERERHEEAEEEENYE  BH e
KAB 5 #9292,600000/8TC - HE-ZT—\
FtA=T—HLFE HTYWEETE
& (ff3E28a) c RZE—NFELA=+—
B BEFEMDALEREHER—FA
tE - R=_T—N\FtA=+—H ' 5FH
REBEMNMERMELN 212140008 TEIER
PEARIERFENERDEERT -

RIEEFK - HEARELEHIERDE
EMEEEAWT

2018 2017

—E2-N\F —E=—+tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAxT

At 1 August WAA—H 11,022 —

Disposal HE (11,022) -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment B E Y% - MR & &4 (K 19)

(Note 19) 9,281 4,581
Transfer from prepaid lease payments (Note 21) 58 (5 F8 - FL & RIB (K2 21) 12,862 6,326
Exchange realignment B 38 B (929) G5
At 31 July BntBR=+—H 21,214 11,022

e L BTV
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30.

31.

32.

164

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) AN ASSOCIATE/A 30. FEMG(FEfH) —RBMELAR, —RE
DIRECTOR ERR
The amounts due from (to) an associate and a director were FEUR (FER) — M E AR R — L ESHIE
unsecured, interest-free and fully settled during the year ended 31 REER 2ERREBE_ZT—-N\FtAH
July 2018. =T—HIEFEB2EEE -
HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 31. BEREKRSE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E=—+F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FAT
Equity securities at quoted market prices MRAEH (R TI5RE)
— listed in Hong Kong —RBEALT 104 123
— listed outside Hong Kong — REBEIN LT 478 557
582 680

Included in held-for-trading investments are the following amounts
in a currency other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entity to which they relate:

FIFEEREBE NN EREEERDN
WEEEB AN ERIIENEER

2018 2017

—E-N\F =T 4

‘000 ‘000

Fr Fr

NTD A K 1,840 2,118
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 32. RITEBRAS

At 31 July 2018 and 2017, bank balances and cash held by the Group
at prevailing market rates. The maturities of bank balances and bank
deposits are within three months.

Bank balances and bank deposits carry interest at average market
rates of 0.53% (2017: 0.86%) per annum.

At 31 July 2018, conversion of the Group's bank balances and cash
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately RMB102,651,000
(equivalent to approximately HKS$118,049,000) (2017: RMB61,095,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$70,260,000)) into foreign currencies
is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

REB_NEFR_Z—+F+LHA=+—8H"
RITHEBRRARERBIRE AT S X5
ENBRE - RITERERITEARR=MEA
M2 -

RITHE RIRTTERIZ0S3EB(ZE—+F ¢
086 [F) K TiIHFEFIET B o

R-ZZBE—NELA=1+—8 BEREEMN
ARBHENBETEHRERASHARE
102,651,0007C (FEE 1 %7118,049,0007% 7T) (=
T—+F: AR#61,0950007T (H8E R4
70,260,000 7T ) ) 73 B INE B X Hh B N E
BN R AETE - EME R IEEER T
fR -



32. BANKBALANCES AND CASH (Continued)

33.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant group

entity to which they relate:

us$
EUR
JPY

NTD
RMB

Bt
AE

348
AR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 BE—ZE—N\F+LA=+—HLFE

32. BTRBRERRASR W)

RITERLASBRETIIAEREEER
IR UM ERIIEN SRR

2018
—B-N\F
’000
Fr

5,013
5

228
227
13,241

2017
—E—tF
'000
T

2,780
122
529

4,264

2,970

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

33. EIRBERRHMEMKREA

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT FAT

Trade and bills payables e 8 5B R B IR 33,308 31,799
Accrued expenses FEETRX 28,314 55,696
Other payables H{th fE A~ RTE 9,689 12,289
Other tax payables H b e~ Fi T8 10,059 7,503
Deposits received BUIES 8,527 28,776
56,589 104,264

89,897 136,063

As at 31 July 2018, included in other payables, there is directors’
payables of approximately HK$254,000 (2017: HK$175,000).

R-ZE—NFE+A=+—H  HMERNZK
TH B FEE B R ZRIA LY 2540008 L (= F

—+% : 175000367T) °

REREZEARLT
“E-)\FER
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33.

34.

35.

166

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

An aged analysis of trade and bills payables based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

33.

FE 1+ 58 55 A ok B L fth P £+ B 0 ()

RBERR - BNBESERARENZER
HZHHRREST2700

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

F&ET FHT

Within 1 month or on demand — (A ARSIRERER 15,951 16,820
More than 1 month but less than 3 months —{E A LA FBLR=1E A 15,325 12,635
More than 3 months but less than 12 months  =1{& A LA B LR +—(8 B 403 1,482
More than 12 months +=@AAE 1,629 862
33,308 31,799

The average credit period on purchases of goods is ranging from 30 to
90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

Included in trade and other payables are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entity to which they relate:

BEERNTHEEHNF0HEWH -
AREERE MR ELRR - ARERA
BRNFRBEHREEDRAM

B 2R R B A B AN IR B T 5
HEAEEERNINGESEUINNERTIE
H B -

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E 4

‘000 ‘000

F5x FiT

Us$ Ey 335 735

JPY H - 320

NTD A 133 150

RMB AR - 50
LOANS FROM A RELATED COMPANY 34. —HRELAFIHER

As at 31 July 2017, the Group borrowed unsecured loans from a
related party in total principal amount of HK$5,000,000. The loans
carried fixed interest rate at 7% per annum and were repayable on
demand. The amount was fully settled in August 2017.

LOANS FROM THIRD PARTIES

As at 31 July 2017, the Group borrowed unsecured loans from third
parties in the principal amount of RMB22,780,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$26,197,000). The loans carried fixed interest rate at
8% per annum and were repayable on demand. The amounts were
fully settled in August 2017.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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35.

R-ZB—+E+A=+—H A&£HRFE—
B RAE TS 8 A& 4858 55,000,000 7% 7T B
ERHER - ZSERREEFFR7 BT
BAEBERERE - ZHER-ZT—LFN
AZ8EHE -

BEHER

R-ZE—+EF+A=+—8 ~EEAS
= EALREE LA AR 227800007 (18
B R #926,197,0008 70 ) K EIEIRE K © %
EEFIREEFF RE B LR EKE
BoZRBR-_E—tFNAZELEE -
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 JULY 2018 HE=Z

—NFLA=+—HILFE

SECURED BANK BORROWINGS . FEMPRITER
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E=—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Carrying amount of bank borrowings that are  H3781% B Sk sl 2 5 & B K 42
not repayable on demand or within one year —4F R{&EHRITEAEEE
from the end of the reporting period but: ME
— repayable on demand due to breach of ~ — FE R EREL) M BIRE K
loan covenants (note) B (KIEF) 273,700 -
— contain a repayment on demand clause  — SHIRERKEZIZR 48,905 32,542
Amounts classified as current liabilities DB ARSEBHIKIE 322,605 32,542
Amount as non-current liabilities ;lE,mEiJE EFE - 273,700
322,605 306,242
Carrying amounts repayable FEEERNREE
(based on scheduled repayment dates (AR B WA 2
set out in the loan agreements): EFEH) :
Within one year —FR 83,405 32,542
More than one year but not exceeding —F LA BT EBIBRE
two years 34,500 34,500
More than two years but not exceeding A EETNBBRE
five years 155,250 132,250
More than five years AFELE 49,450 106,950
322,605 306,242
Note: Asat 31 July 2018, a bank borrowing of approximately HK$273,700,000 Hiat : R=ZF—N\FLtA=+—8 ' RITHRL

were secured with certain properties (note 19 and 21), which were
disposed during the year. The Group has breached the bank covenant.
Reference to the respective bank borrowing and pledge asset
agreements entered into between the Group and the bank, the bank
has the right to demand for immediate payment. The bank borrowing
has been therefore classified as a current liability as at 31 July 2018
Subsequent to the end of reporting period and up to the date of the
approval of the consolidated financial statement, the Group is
negotiating with the relevant bank (i) on restructuring the respective
borrowing based on the secured sold and unsold properties; and (i)
no action will be taken by the relevant bank to demand immediate
repayment of the portion of bank borrowing relating to the secured
unsold properties.

Up to the date of the issuance of the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group considered that the
aforementioned bank borrowing will not be demanded for immediate
payment based on the negotiation with the bank.

2Bmmm@nﬁua¥%¥¢ﬁ%W1
F19K21)  MABYEEREALE -
AEBEERBITRY o ZZIRMAEE R
i&ﬁﬂzE@*ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ?ﬂ%?x&’ﬁéﬁﬁ%

;%Eﬁﬁﬁéﬁijﬂﬂﬁa Eit EA

—N\EtA=1+—8 ' RITERE

*E\Z\%/}\LEJEL\ 3 Eéiﬁﬁt,ﬁﬂikéﬁﬁi?tt&
e MBWmE B - ANEB FEARRTT
HOEREEFEERREMESHE R
B3 R (i) B SRT T S IREUEMITE
ERVAVEBE A REMENRITER
BB HEITRER o

HETBREEVERREE  AEEERE
BRE  ERREETHERS  ElRTE
FE W ERZANZ AT o

REREZEARLT
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36.

168

—NFLA=+—HILFE

SECURED BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

During the year, the Group obtained new loans in amount of
approximately HK$16,000,000 and will be repayable within one year.
(2017: approximately to HK$281,440,000 and will be repayable range
from 2019 to 2023).

The effective interest rates on the Group’s bank borrowings ranged
from 3.03% to 7.80% (2017: 2.21% to 7.80%) per annum.

As at 31 July 2018, land and buildings located in Hong Kong under
medium-term leases with carrying value of approximately
HK$6,411,000 (2017: HK$7,640,000) have been pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group.

As at 31 July 2018, land and buildings and prepaid lease payments
located in Hainan, the PRC under medium-term leases with carrying
value of approximately HK$86,310,000 (2017: HK$164,340,000) and
HK$119,191,000 (2017: HK$226,945,000) respectively, have been
pledged to secure bank borrowings granted to the Group.

Included in secured bank borrowings are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entity to which they relate:

uss E

BEMBITER ()

FR - NEEESBFTE KA 16,000,000 7T
AR —FREER(ZE—EF: 4
281440000 B T RBFER T —NFEZ
T_ZFEE) -

AEBERTEFRNERFEMNENF303E
E780B(ZE—+F :221EE780E) o

R-ZE—N\F+LtA=1+—H EEEHD
6,411,000 7T (ZZF —+ 4 : 7,640,000 7T)
N ELSBEBETHEESAN T RET
BRI EARNEBRERRITEED
AR

W_E—NE+LA=+—8 EEEDH
#786,310,00078 7T ( —ZZF —+4F : 164,340,000
T ) 1191910008 T (=T — £ F -
226,945,000 7 7T ) BRIz FA FR B R AR 75 R A
HEFAN T REFURBHNEERE
B TR EARSKEMERRITERD
iR o

BEMRITERBETINEEEEER
IR EE UM ERIIEN SRR

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
"000 000

Fr T

3,300 3,300
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SHARE CAPITAL ;%3
Authorised and issued share capital EEREBITRA
Number of shares Share capital
REE (&
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—EF —E-N\E —T—+F
000 '000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TER TAT
Ordinary shares of HKS0.1 each BREBEI BT ERR
Authorised: EE
At beginning and end of the year REJREFER 20,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREHR
At 1 August WNR—H 871,178 784,728 87,118 78473
Issue of shares upon placing e E BTG - 86,450 - 8,645
At 31 July REtA=+—AH 871,178 871,178 87,118 87,118
Note: On 25 August 2016, 86,450,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each were Mt - RZZ—AENAZ+HA - KAFIRES
placed at a price of HK$1.31 per share, raising a total of net proceeds % 1.317% 7T 89 {8 4% AL % 86,450,000 AR & AR
of approximately HK$111,901,000, after deducting direct expenses of HMEBITHERK  BEAMEHE
approximately HK$1,348,000. JFREXY 111,901,000 T (FNBREH F 2 49
1,348,000/ 7T) °
DEFERRED INCOME i SE T A
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
At 1 August RAA—H 3,614 3,668
Exchange realignment bE 5, A B 7 31
Credited to profit or loss (Note 9) AR (AaE9) (168) (23)
At 31 July RtA=+—8 3,453 3614

In 2009, the Group received a government grant (“Grant A”) of
approximately HK$1,049,000 from #T A ER 2 @ EIRE B
& for the acquisition of prepaid lease payments. The amount is
recognised as other operating income over the unexpired lease term
of prepaid lease payments. During the year ended 31 July 2018
deferred income of approximately HK$24,000 (2017: HK$23,000) has
been recognised for Grant A in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

In 2013, the Group received a government grant (“Grant B") of
approximately HK$2,962,000 from BRZEMEIEFITF for the
development of high resolution flexible circuit board technology.
During the year, the patents registration of such technology was
completed. During the year ended 31 July 2018, deferred income of
approximately HK$144,000 (2017: N/A) has been recognised for
Grant B in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

RZZBTNF  AEBREABNEER
IEHAZ BTN EREREEZE SR
FRBRFHEBE (B2 ) £1,049,000
B e R BN EMBEFENRERE
HREREEMEERA - HE=ZF— N

=

BLEFE ERNGEABRAER

E’jﬂ%ﬁﬂj]iqaﬁgwu L”&A%’] 24,000/%7E

(e

23,000/87C) ©

R-B—Z=F A5EREESH iﬁii
MEERFITRE REmRERITHS
,%ﬁz,%z,ooo,%mEﬁﬂzﬁﬁﬁﬁi(fﬁﬁbi

g =

ZABMMEMNERLE mﬁx

HE_Z-—N\FLtA=1T-—"HBLEE
U A 471440008 L (ZZF — £ F - Tm
BEREBE LR GRIBERER -

e L BTV
-z nzrm | 169
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39. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 39. BIERRAR
The followings are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities RERRBEFEEHERANEERLERE
recognised and movements thereof during the current and prior (BE)BBEREZFHNT :
years:

At 1 August 2016 R=F-~5N\A—-A 261 266 (260) 9472 (917) 8316
Exchange realignment [EH A% 2 - - (72) 7 (63)
(Credited) charged to MBS (GEA) 1k

profit or oss (Note 13) (Biat13) (102 - = 62 6 (34)
Charged to other REMEEREP R

comprehensive income - - - 714 - 714
At31July 2017 W=E—+FtA=1-H 161 266 (2606) 10,176 (904) 9433
Exchange realignment {5 A% 2 - - ©@n (1) (90)
(Credited) charged to ME& GIA) 1k

profit or loss (138) - - 800 4 704
Charged to other REMZ B

comprehensive income B[S - - - 13% - 139%
At31July 2018 R=F-\FtA=1-H 25 266 (2606) 12,281 (863) 11443

170 | TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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39. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared
in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January
2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to the profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
approximately HK$2,824,000 (2017: HKS$4,333,000) as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$392,147,000 (2017: HK$454,379,000) available
for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of approximately HK$1,615,000 (2017:
HKS$1,615,000) of such loss. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the remaining losses of approximately
HK$390,532,000 (2017: HK$452,764,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. At 31 July 2018, approximately
HK$76,078,000, HK$69,778,000, HK$18,355,000, HK$20,675,000 and
HKS$54,561,000 (2017: HKS$41,101,000, HK$76,378,000, HK$70,956,000,
HKS$19,454,000 and HKS$14,140,000) included in the above unused
tax losses will expire after the year of assessment of 2018, 2019, 2020,
2021 and 2022 respectively. Other estimated tax losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 July 2017 and 2018, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to deductible temporary differences of
HK$687,000 (2017: HK$877,000) derived from property, plant and
equipment and trade and other receivables as it is not probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

39.

e MEBRRME

—NFLA=+—HILFE

RIERBARR (40

BRBECEMSHE  FEWNBARAZE
TN\F— A —HRERFHGFE IR
BAMTEINT - XEB W ERELETH
WMEPLPBMNE QR EMTEE£®
S BE 42,824,000 T (B — 45 ¢
4,333,0007870) HIRIEE T B EE - RAA
7 £ B B #0178 o) 455 [0 B AR 14 RE A R
BZESERMEZB I AR T B8Rk B8
@o

RFEBRR AEBEHARDHHRE
&5 18 #9392,147000% t( = T — £ §F
45437900078 7T) + AIEEEEARICHEF - BBt
BHEEEN1615008T( =T — &
1,615,000 7T ) FERIEEFIBEE - AR R
BETERT R R TR E - MERSB TEBLY
390,532,000 7 70 (= F — 44 © 452,764,000 7
T ERBLEHIBEE - RZT—N\F+tA
=+—HB EdEARBAREEEEFY
76,078,000 JT * 69,778,000/ JT * 18,355,000
PIT ~ 20,675,000 78 7T K& 54,561,000 78 70 (=&
— -+ 4 1 41,101,000/% JT * 76,378,000 JT *
70,956,000 JT * 19,454,000 5 ﬁ & 14,140,000

BT D BIER —T—N\F —NEF
igg_igﬁg :g:—i&_?::iﬂ:m

FRERTIH - Hth At TR IR BRI
4 o

R_E—tFER T \FtA=1+—8"
EEECTKT zﬁﬁ’gu%mmﬂ‘@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂm
B B M Z BB 687,0008 T (—F — 14 ¢
877,000 7T) i - EML WY - BRE
K2 5% 8 LA B FE IR B 55 BR R I EL i JiE U SR IE
EENANREREEERRELHIBE
é °
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40.

41.

172

ASSETS ACQUISITION

During the year ended 31 July 2017, the Company acquired four
hotel buildings at Sanya Yalong Bay, the PRC. The total cash
consideration for the acquisition was RMB342,600,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$389,879,000), of which RMB35,749,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$42,935,000) was paid in July 2016. The title of
the four hotel buildings has been obtained and the transaction was
completed during the year ended 31 July 2017. The assets acquired
are as follows:

0. BEUM

HE-Z—+F+tA=1t—RHILEE K
AT B = SR an e A PO BT JEAE T o
Wi/ 4230 € KRB B A R M 342,600,000 7T
(F8E M 49389,879,000/8 7T ) * Hh AR
35,749,000 7T ( #8 & 7 %742,935,0007%8 7T ) E
RZZ—ARFLtAXHN -REBE=ZF—+
FLtA=+—HILFE CESHEERE
EFNEERZHETK - FIREEEN
T

HK$'000

FHET

Property, plant and equipment (Note 19) YIEE - RE MR (MtaE19) 163,749
Prepaid lease payments (Note 21) B ERIE (i 21) 226,130
Total consideration BRE 389,879

DISPOSAL OF INTEREST IN A SUBSIDIARY
WITHOUT CHANGE OF CONTROL

On 8 August 2016, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group entered
into a share transfer agreement with a non-controlling interest to
dispose 5% equity interest in InnoLIMS Global Limited (“InnoLIMS
Global”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, at a cash
consideration of HK$200,000. The disposal of equity interest in
InnoLIMS Global has been completed on 8 August 2016. The
ownership interest in InnoLIMS Global of the Group decreased from
60% to 55%.

The difference between the fair value of consideration received by
the Group and share of net assets of InnoLIMS Global by the non-
controlling interest in the transaction amounting to approximately
HK$118,000 was recognised by the Group as other reserve.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 42, MEFHESLMNARYIR
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from T?%Eiiﬁﬂ HAREEREETHEEERN
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. CERERERIRCEE BEEE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash F EREBEAREMNECLIRKRRER
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the consolidated = eRGEERERERSPBAMEETH
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. EXReRENEE -
Non-cash
changes
1 August Financing Exchange Finance costs 31 July
2017 cashflow  adjustment incurred 2018
FREEH
—2-t% BEEN ZB-N\E
NE—H RMERLRE ERAE MmERA tA=1+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT AT THT THT THT
Amount due to a director (Note 30) ERN—ZEEFR
(HfaE30) 2,143 2,143) - = -
Amount due to an associate (Note 30)  JEf—FEE %A Rl FIE
(Hist30) 1324 (1324) - - -
Loans from a related party (Note 34) RE—ZBEHER
(Hist34) 5,000 (5,000) - - =
Loans from third parties (Note 35) REE=HER(Hrit35) 26,197 (26,197) - = -
Bank borrowings (Note 36) RITIER Mzt 36) 306,242 16,000 363 = 322,605
Interest payables (included intrade ~ FERFIS GIAB SR
and other payables) Hit N 5R) 4,024 (25313) = 23,746 2457
344,930 (43,977) 363 23,746 325,062
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION FERERERH
During the year ended 31 July 2018, one of AFS financial assets HE-Z-\FLtA=+—RBILFE "

declared and distributed a final dividend in form of the scrip
dividend to the Group. The Group obtained 16,447 shares (2017
70,620 shares) with a fair value of approximately HK$77,000 (2017

HK$459,000).

IE"H#\ﬁE BEERIBRREFEAAR
SETREDIRKRHAKE - XEBESAQ
FAEA) 77,0008 TE (ZF — 4 : 459,000 %
JC) B9 16,447 IR IR (ZZE — -+ : 70,620%
B&15) -
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44,

174

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

—NFLA=+—HILFE

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions

with related parties during the year:

Name of company

DE BB

SE1EVE (Note )
ResfEF (FaEi)

fR AL S T & LA BR A F (Note i)
PR Rl AR AR (i)

Ms. Shi Qi
MER A+

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(ii

Nature of transaction

REME

Sales of rubber keypads
HER BiRg

Purchase of rubber keypads
BEYRBERR

Sales of property,
plant and equipment

HEWME - BERZE

Interest expense

MERX

Rental expense

HEF

B ZEfE)¥ is an associate of the Group which is disposed in

August 2017.

AR B 4E S T &l AR A BR A &) is wholly owned by Ms. Shi Qj,
the CEO of the Company.

i) These transactions were carried out at terms determined and
agreed by the Group and the respective related party.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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(@) BREEIMBHRES
FR - AEEEERE
5
2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
THET
180
1,139
329

THREEIN - R
FRIMATR

2017
—tF
HK$'000
TET

2,515

7,773

334

174
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_I
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44, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other

44, RERFX S (&)
by EEEIEAEREN
REARN ARAEEREMTEER

members of key management during the year is as follows: BRERFHMIT
2018 2017
—B-N\fF —F—t#F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FBT FAT
Short-term benefits %5 HA4E F) 10,790 7426
Post-employment benefits BER 218 A 60 69
10,850 7,495

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
executives is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

ARBEEREBITRABRFHMTS
HMEFNEESLERERNALHRR
KmiGBEmEE -

45. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 45. BFERiE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Capital expenditure contracted for but TAFIEAE ETAE B R
not provided for in the consolidated R E B ISR BB
financial statements in respect of: BEARFEY
— Acquisition of property, plant and — B  BEEEE
equipment 2,782 7,180
— Acquisition of land use rights — U (s A 2,856 3,820
5,638 11,000
KESEZBEARATE 175
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46.

176

COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year is approximately
HK$8,041,000 (2017: HK$8,057,000). The investment properties are
expected to generate rental yield of 7.8% (2017: 8.7%) on an ongoing
basis. The investment properties held have committed tenants for
the next year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

6. EEHRXIE

AEEESBRAA

FRBREA P 2 S WA K A 8,041,000
TT(ZZF—t4F 80570007 7T )  TAHR#%
BYEGIHEERKT8W( T —+5F : 87%)
WIHEEIWE - FIBREMERKRFEES
P -

RBERR - AREEHR TIIREKIERE
EFCREEFETA

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Within one year —F R 1,183 2,019
In the second to fifth year inclusive FE_EZEFAF(EREMFRELEAN) 438 93
After five years AFLAE 236 259
1,857 2,371

The Group as lessee REBEREABEA

The Group leases a number of properties under operating leases for
its factories, offices and staff quarters. The leases were negotiated for
terms ranging from one to five years, with the options to renew the
leases when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

AEERBEERERES TYERER
B WMAERBIES ZEFHENKH
BEANF—=1F  TAAEEEEM
[ER P BEEREI R EHNEE - 25 HEM
BEEXNEE -

RBERAR - ARERBE AT HELEH
EANTIHHEIATNRRFERE
FIRAGET

2018 2017
—E-N\F T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FABT
Land and buildings: T REFE
Within one year =[] 6,243 2319
In the second to fifth year inclusive FE_EZERF(EEMEBREENAN) 2,543 150
8,786 2,469
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. FLFHMBER T
COMPANY
2018 2017
—E-N\E —FtF
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
Hiat FET T
Non-current assets EmEEE
Plant and equipment R N R 139 188
Investment in a subsidiary R—EH B AT MWIEE 124,149 124,149
124,288 124,337
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables H fth FEU SR IR 967 531
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS BB A 7 FOR (@) 79,878 81,218
Bank balances and cash BITEBREIRE 1,701 195
82,546 81,944
Current liabilities mEAaE
Other payables H eI 2,573 5,341
Amounts due to subsidiaries R NGIE R (@) 36,744 7,857
39,317 13,198
Net current assets MEEEFE 43,229 68,746
Total assets less current liabilities BERERRDEE 167,517 193,083
Capital and reserves B Kk
Share capital file 87,118 87,118
Reserves (it (b) 80,399 105,965
Total equity BT 167,517 193,083

e L BTV
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47.

178

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

(a)

Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and

47. ELAFMRBERAER 2

FEUR (FEAS) B BB 2 R RRIR
BRFBRAEER R RRERE

(a)

repayable on demand. iR °©
Reserves (b) f#EE
Capital
Share Accumulated redemption
premium losses reserve Total
BRADIR{E RiEE EXEERFE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 August 2016 R-Z—XENA—H 641,454 (600,498) 2420 43376
Total comprehensive expenses 4F X % [ B 5% 458
for the year - (40,667) - (40,667)
Issue of shares upon placing,  REERZEITRD
net of expenses Mk 103,256 - - 103,256
At 31 July 2017 and RZZE—+F+tA=+—H
1 August 2017 kZZE—+F\A—H 744,710 (641,165) 2420 105,965
Total comprehensive expenses 4 A4 [ % 4258
for the year - (25,566) - (25,566)
At31July 2018 RZZ-N\FtA=+—H 744,710 (666,731) 2,420 80,399

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company at the end
of the reporting periods are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

HEATEE

Ta Yang Silicone Rubber Industrial
Company Limited

AEVEBIFERAT
Chief Ocean Limited
HARAR

InnoLIMS Global
TR

Ta Yang Medical Investment Limited
(Ta Yang Medical’

AHBRREARAR
(TRERE)

Ta Yang Group Limited

REEEERAR

Top View Investment Holdings Limited
RERRERERAR

Ta Yang Group (Macao Commercial
Offshore) Limited

RESE(RPERAZRY)
BRAA

Dongguan Ta Yang Sficone Rubber
Industrial Company Limited
RENFVBHSERAR

Huzhou Ta Yang Electronic Technology
Company Limited

ANAEETHERRAR

Dongguan Tay Yang Rubber Plastic
Industrial Company Limited

REFHEEURARAT

Dongguan Tai Yang Rubber Plastic
Industrial Company Limited
(Dongguan Tai Yang')

REAFRERRERAT
(t:d)

Place of incorporation/
establishment

HRAL/ R

Hong Kong
B
HongKong
3

Hong Kong
B3

Hong Kong

Bt

Bl
ABRIES
Bt
ABRIES
NSAR

HFNE

The PRC
(notei) (Hati)
Gl

The PRC

(noteli) (H#Zi)
HE
The PRC

(noteii) (Hifetii)
HE

The PRC
(notei) (Hatii)

Gk

(Class of shares held

FrisR s

Ordinary shares
120
Ordinary shares
128

Ordinary shares

£k
Ordinary shares

Eak

Ordinary shares
120
Ordinary shares
EaR
Ordinary shares

£

Contributed capital
HARR
Contributed capital
HBARR
Contributed capital
EUN-u

Contributed capital

EUN-UN

48. EEMB LT
RWERR  XAARENEERB AR
FEEAT ¢
Attributable equity
Issued share capital/registered capital interestof the Group  Principal activities
BRTRA/ERER FEEELRAEE  TEER
2018 2017 2018 2017
“2-)\§ IEtE 8-\ -E-ifF
HK$1,000,000 HK$1,000000 100% 100%  Trading of siicone
rubber
1,000,007 1000000737 100% 0% EEVE
HK$1 HK1 100% 100%  Provision of
management services
187 18T 100% 100% REEERE
HK$4,000,000 HK$4,000,000 55% 55%  Investments holding
4,000,007 400000078 TC 5% 5% RERR
HK$20,000,000 HKS20,000,000 100% 100%  Investments holding
20,000,007 200000007 100% 100% REZR
11,930,811 shares of 11,930,811 shares of 100% 100%  Investrents holding
US$1 each USS1 each
M08 BEREE 19081 RERAE 100% 100% REZR
120K B3l
1share of US$1 each 1 share of US$1 each 100% 100% ~ Investments holding
REE1ZANRE  IREEIETORG 100% 100% REER
1 share of MOP 1 share of MOP 100% 100%  Trading of siicone
100,000 each 100,000 each rubber
11 100,000 1 IR 100000 100% 0% EEPE
AMEHRG RFTBERA
HK$86,000,000 HKS86,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of
slicone rubber
86,000,000 8600000047 100% 0% REPE
US5$38,000,000 15438000000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of
silicone rubber
38,000,000% 7 380000007 100% 100% BEVR
N/A (noteii) HKS8,000,000 100% 100%  De-egistered
TER (W) 80000007 100% 0% EEEX
HK$70,000,000 HKS70,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of
slicone rubber
70,000,000387C 7000000077 100% 0% SEWE
RESEZRBRBRAT

—T\EER
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48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

180

Name of subsidiary

HEARRE

Bei Liu Jin Gu Electronic Technology
Company Limited

e AETREERAR

Harbin Ta Yang Development Trading

Company Limited
RAEAFERESARAT

R (B8 REEXERARAT
R (68 REEZERARLT
A5 (58 ERARAT
#3580 EXARAR

Notes:

Place of incorporation/
establishment

AL/ RS
The PRC

(noteii) (A7éEi)
EF
The PRC

(noteli) (FzZi)
i
The PRC

(noteii) (A&t
EF
The PRC

(noteii) (A7éti)
i
The PRC

(noteli) (HzZi)
EF

(Class of shares held

FisRHEH

Contributed capital
HARR
Contributed capital
HARR
Contributed capital
EUN-u
Contributed capital
Contributed capital

N0

48. EEMBLT (&)

Issued share capital /registered capital

BRTRA/HRER

2018 017

“8-)\§ IT-tE

HK$23,000,000 HK$23,000000

23,000,000 7 BU000007ET

NIA (noteii RVB30,000,000

TER (Wtii) ARH3000000070

RMB5,600,000 RVBS 600000

AR 5,600,000 7 AR S56000007C

RMB150,000,000 RVB150000000

ARE150000,000% AR 1500000007

RMB50,000,000 RVBS0,000,000

ARH¥500000007C  ARB30000007
Bzt -

(i) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of

excessive length.
(i) The subsidiaries have been deregistered during the year.

(iii) The subsidiaries are wholly-owned foreign enterprise.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Attributable equity

interest of the Group

ARBEERARSR
2018 2017
e L
100% 100%
100% 100%
- 100%
- 100%
55% 55%
55% 55%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

IEEH

Manufacturing of
slicone rubber
YR

De-registered
Iex
Manufacturing of
silicone rubber
Healthcare senvice
BERERK

Hotel service

TR

() ERIFARAEZTBRIZFEAEE
HEENAEEMBAR - ARAE
ERRFINEMMBAR BN S SRR
BRILE °

(i)  FA- ZEMERRCBUHEM -

(i) ZEMBRARIIEBEEDLE -
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of these
subsidiaries are inactive or engage in investments holding. A
summary of these subsidiaries are set out as follows:

Principal activities

EREK ETEEEME

Inactive BVI

TEax EERZHS
Indonesia
ENfe
The PRC
H
Hong Kong
e

Investments holding BVI

BREER REBRUAS
Hong Kong
BB

Research and development BVI

e RBEZES

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of both reporting periods or at any time during both years.

No subsidiary has non-controlling interest material to the Group.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group has
entered into a cooperation agreement with two independent
parties, Yunnan Investment Construction Co., Ltd and China
Technology Emerging City Construction Development Co., Ltd to
establish a jointly owned entity, a limited liability company. The
Group is committed to contribute approximately RMB52.5 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$60.4 million) which representing
35% of the registered capital of this entity.

48.

Principal place of business

49.

EEMBLT ()

RMEBRR - RATEMME QR EARE

HEBUWTEKN - ZEWBRABIRIHE
EEERNBREER - ZFWB R BB
ZHHWT -

Number of subsidiaries
MEAREE
2018
—E-N\F

2017
—E—tF

11 1

7A P M8 ¥R 15 5 K X R 1 4F AR AT B
BUEM B R R A A C BITHERE?

BENEAREAHAAEETSBEA
B SR RRAERS -

BEM®ER

RepEEIRE  AEBEEREBLAE
A ERER AR A 7] K& BT E g R
BRAR ARG Z&ERHZE - A —H
HAZEERE(—HEEREFAA) - K"&E
B2 E & 4 AR #52,500,0007T (FHE R
#96040000087C) * (hZz BB EMELRK
35% °

REREZEARLT

-z nzr5 | 181



Five Years Financial Summary

AFMBEE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS REERE
Year ended 31 July
BEtA=t—HLEE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—T—OF —T—HF ET—FRF T—+tF ZBE-NE
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$’000
AT AT FHET BT FTERT
Revenue rzs 467,264 426,242 386,516 400,500 377,160
Loss for the year FAEE (220,358) (159,382) (72,250) (74,060) (4,310)
Loss for the year IARATEEER
attributable to: E51E -
Owners of the Company VIN/NETEZ 2SN (216,563) (156,335) (71,304) (72,943) (3,756)
Non-controlling interests EEalivg T (3,795) (3,047) (946) (1,117) (554)
(220,358) (159,382) (72,250) (74,060) (4,310)
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FEEERAR
As at 31 July
REtBA=+—H
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
ZE-mE —F-HF ZFRF —T—tF ZF-N\F
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$’000
FHET AT AT AT FET
Total assets BERE 815,823 654,170 567,746 954,503 914,240
Total liabilities BfEMRE (185,397) (178,509) (156,584) (510,617) (467,856)
Total equity fER e 630,426 475,661 411,162 443,886 446,384
Equity attributable to: AT AT R (G #ERs -
Owners of the Company KATHEE A 628,907 475,661 410,509 444282 442,173
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A 1,519 - 653 (396) 4,211
Total equity AR 630,426 475,661 411,162 443,886 446,384
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“Board”
=
“Company”

ZAYNCTH

“connected person(s)”;

“percentage ratio(s)” and

“subsidiary(ies)”

[BEALIIBEALER] R

M=l

“Directors”

[E=%]

"Group”
[R&EHE]

"HKS”
7]

“Hong Kong”
(&

"

“Latest Practicable Date
[ ERRAITTE 8
“Listing Rules”

[ EmAA

"PRC”

[ e

“RMB’, “Renminbi”
(AR ]

“SFO”

“Shareholder(s)”
[B&R ]

“Shares”

[R%A7 |

Definitions

the board of Directors of the Company
RAFEFS

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability, whose Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

RASEZERBERAR  —HXRHSHEESEMRINBERAT - ERONVER
FrEMR

each has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
FBEEALTRAET 2 RE

the directors of the Company

ARREF

the Company and its subsidiaries

ARABREKEAR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BREAEER

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBFRITTER R

7 November 2018, being the latest practicable date prior to the dispatch of this
report for the purpose of ascertaining certain information contained herein
“E-N\F+—ALH  RBEGTEASBEEPAHE TERNKRE
ERRAI1T AR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B X PrRE 5 LT AR A

the People’s Republic of China (for the purpose of this report, excluding Hong
Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan)
REARKME - RAREMS - NEIEES ORFIFRITERERAE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

FEIAEEE AR

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time

BREDIF 571 EEF LB IGH (B IEEF] T

holder(s) of the Shares
R FEAE A

ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company
AR BN FARE(E 0.10 78 T AY i AR

e L BT VN
-z nsr | 183



Definitions

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[ B 52 P | B BEMERIMERAR

“the year” the year ended 31 July 2018

[FA] B BE_T-N\FtA=1+—HILEFE

“%" per cent.

(%] & BOk

[ Chief Executive Officer, CEO | chief executive officer of the Company

[T = B AREATHRARE

[ Chairman, Chairlady chairman, chairlady of the Board

ES=A B BEEEER

[ Committee Chairman/Chairlady | chairman chairlady of the relevant Board committees

[REEX/F] ¥ WHAEEEESXF

[ Model Code | the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers stated in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

[1R4<FA ] B LEWRRIMSETAECETREITAESETERRXHNRLETA)
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RFEEEERARRQA
Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited

Flat 28, 23/F, Metro Centre Il, 21 Lam Hing Street,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
EENEENEEBREE21REET L _HE23FE8=E

Tel &5 : (852) 3678 5088
Fax 52 - (852) 3678 5099
Website #83F  © www.tayang.com
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